JA Solar Holdings Co., Ltd. Form 20-F June 25, 2009

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20549

	wasnington, D.C. 20549
	FORM 20-F
(Ma	rk One)
o	REGISTRATION STATEMENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 12(b) OR (g) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
	OR
X	ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
	FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2008
	OR
o	TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
	FOR THE TRANSITION PERIOD FROM TO
	OR
o	SHELL COMPANY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
	DATE OF EVENT REQUIRING THIS SHELL COMPANY REPORT
	FOR THE TRANSACTION PERIOD FORM TO
	COMMISSION FILE NUMBER 001-33290
	JA Solar Holdings Co., Ltd.
	(Exact name of Registrant as specified in its charter)

The Cayman Islands (Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Organization)

No. 36, Jiang Chang San Road Zhabei, Shanghai The People's Republic of China (Address of Principal Executive Offices)

M. Anthea Chung
JA Solar Holdings Co., Ltd.
No. 36, Jiang Chang San Road
Zhabei, Shanghai
The People's Republic of China
Tel: +86-21-60955999
Fax: +86-21-60955727

(Name, Telephone, E-mail and/or Facsimile and Address of Company Contact Person)

Securities registered or to be registered pursuant to Section 12 (b) of the Act.

Title of Each Class American depositary shares, each representing one ordinary share, par value US\$0.0001 per share Name of Each Exchange On Which Registered The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC

Ordinary shares, par value US\$0.0001 per share

The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC*

* Not for trading but only in connection with the registration of American depositary shares

Securities registered or to be registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act.

None (Title of Class)

Securities for which there is a reporting obligation pursuant to Section 15(d) of the Act.

None (Title of Class)

Indicate the number of outstanding shares of each of the issuer's classes of capital or common stock as of the close of the period covered by the annual report.

Ordinary shares, par value US\$0.0001 per share

167,982,020

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act.

Yes x No o

If this report is an annual or transition report, indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

Yes o No x

Note—Checking the box above will not relieve any registrant required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 from their obligations under those Sections.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the Registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.

Yes x No o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files).

Yes o No o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, or a non-accelerated filer. See definition of "accelerated filer and large accelerated filer" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated Accelerated Non-accelerated filer x filer o filer o

Indicate by check mark which basis of accounting the registrant has used to prepare the financial statements included in this filing (Check one):

U.S. GAAP x

International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board "

Other o

Indicate by check mark which financial statement item the Registrant has elected to follow.

Item 17 o

Item 18 x

If this is an annual report, indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).

Yes o

No x

Table of Contents

Page			
PART 1			2
ITEM 1.	IDENTITY OF DIRECTORS, S.	ENIOR MANAGEMENT AND ADVISERS	2
ITEM 2.	OFFER STATISTICS AND EXI	PECTED TIMETABLE	2
ITEM 3.	KEY INFORMATION		3
	A.	SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA	3
	В.	CAPITALIZATION AND INDEBTEDNESS	6
	C.	REASONS FOR THE OFFER AND USE OF PROCEEDS	6
	D.	RISK FACTORS	6
ITEM 4.	INFORMATION ON THE COM	MPANY	32
	A.	HISTORY AND DEVELOPMENT OF THE COMPANY	32
	B.	BUSINESS OVERVIEW	34
	C.	ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE	39
	D.	PROPERTY, PLANTS AND EQUIPMENT	39
ITEM 4A.	UNRESOLVED STAFF COMM	IENTS	39
ITEM 5.	OPERATING AND FINANCIA	L REVIEW AND PROSPECTS	39
	A.	OPERATING RESULTS	40
	В.	LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES	57
	C.	RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT, PATENTS AND LICENSES, ETC.	59
	D.	TREND INFORMATION	60
	E.	OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS	60
	F.	TABULAR DISCLOSURE OF CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS	61
	G.	SAFE HARBOR	64
ITEM 6.	DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANA	GEMENT AND EMPLOYEES	65
	A.	DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT	65
	В.	COMPENSATION	68
	C.	BOARD PRACTICES	70
	D.	EMPLOYEES	73
	E.	SHARE OWNERSHIP	74
ITEM 7.	MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS AN	ID RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS	74
	A.	MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS	74

	B.	RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS	75
	C.	INTERESTS OF EXPERTS AND COUNSEL	76
ITEM 8.	FINANCIAL INFORMATION		76
	Α.	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION	76
	B.	SIGNIFICANT CHANGES	77
ITEM 9.	THE OFFER AND LISTING		77
	A.	OFFER AND LISTING DETAILS	77
	B.	PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION	78
	C.	MARKETS	78
	D.	SELLING SHAREHOLDERS	78
	E.	DILUTION	78
	F.	EXPENSES OF THE ISSUE	79
ITEM 10.	ADDITIONAL INFORMATION	7	79
	A.	SHARE CAPITAL	79
	B.	MEMORANDUM AND ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION	79
	C.	MATERIAL CONTRACTS	90
	D.	EXCHANGE CONTROLS	90
	E.	TAXATION	90
	F.	DIVIDENDS AND PAYING AGENTS	95
	G.	STATEMENT BY EXPERTS	95
	H.	DOCUMENTS ON DISPLAY	95

i

	I.	SUBSIDIARY INFORMATION	95
ITEM 11.	QUANTITATIVE AND QUALIT	CATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK	96
ITEM 12.	DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES	S OTHER THAN EQUITY SECURITIES	97
PART II			97
ITEM 13.	DEFAULTS, DIVIDEND ARREA	ARAGES AND DELINQUENCIES	97
ITEM 14.	MATERIAL MODIFICATIONS PROCEEDS	TO THE RIGHTS OF SECURITY HOLDERS AND USE OF	97
		MATERIAL MODIFICATIONS TO THE RIGHTS OF SECURITIES HOLDERS	97
	В.	USE OF PROCEEDS	98
ITEM 15.	CONTROLS AND PROCEDURE	ES	99
ITEM 16.	RESERVED		101
ITEM 16A.	AUDIT COMMITTEE FINANCI	AL EXPERT	101
ITEM 16B.	CODE OF ETHICS		101
ITEM 16C	PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FE	ES AND SERVICES	101
ITEM 16D.	EXEMPTIONS FROM THE LIST	TING STANDARDS FOR AUDIT COMMITTEES	102
ITEM 16E.	PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECU	URITIES BY THE ISSUER AND AFFILIATED PURCHASERS	102
TIEM 16F.	CHANGE IN REGISTRANT'S C	ERTIFYING ACCOUNTANT	103
ITEM 16G.	CORPORATE GOVERNANCE		103
PART III			104
ITEM 17.	FINANCIAL STATEMENTS		104
ITEM 18.	FINANCIAL STATEMENTS		104
ITEM 19.	EXHIBITS		104

CERTAIN TERMS AND CONVENTIONS

Unless otherwise indicated, references in this annual report to:

- "ADS" are to American depositary shares, each representing one ordinary share of JA Solar, par value US\$0.0001 per share;
- "China" and the "PRC" are to the People's Republic of China, excluding, for the purposes of this annual report only, Taiwan and the special administrative regions of Hong Kong and Macau;
- "conversion efficiency" are to the ability of solar power products to convert sunlight into electricity; "conversion efficiency rate" is commonly used in the solar power industry to measure the percentage of light energy from the sun that is actually converted into electricity;
- "cost per watt" and "price per watt" are to the cost and price of solar power products, respectively, relative to the number of watts of electricity a solar power product generates;
- •"JA BVI" are to JA Development Co., Ltd., our directly wholly-owned subsidiary, a British Virgin Islands company;
- "JA Fengxian" are to Shanghai JA Solar Technology Co., Ltd., our indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary in Shanghai, China;
- "JA Hebei" are to JingAo Solar Co., Ltd., our predecessor and indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary in China;
- "JA Hong Kong" are to JA Solar Hong Kong Limited, our directly wholly-owned subsidiary in Hong Kong;
- "JA Solar," "we," "us," "the company," "our company" and "our" are to JA Solar Holdings Co., Ltd. and, unless otherwise indicated or as the context may otherwise require, its predecessor entities and its consolidated subsidiaries;
- "JA Solar Yangzhou R&D" are to Yangzhou JA Solar R&D Corporation Limited;
- "JA USA" are to JA Solar USA Inc., our indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary in California, U.S.A.;
- "JA Yangzhou" are to JA Solar Technology YangZhou Co., Ltd., our indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary in Jiangsu, China;
- "JA Zhabei" are to Shanghai JA Solar PV Technology Co., Ltd., our indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary in Shanghai, China;
- "JHY Semiconductor" are to Jing Hai Yang Semiconductor Materials (Donghai) Co., Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of JA Hong Kong, incorporated in Donghai, Jiangsu;
- "Jinglong BVI" are to Jinglong Group Co., Ltd., a British Virgin Islands company and our largest shareholder;
- "Jinglong Group" are to Jinglong Industry and Commerce Group Co., Ltd. and its consolidated subsidiaries. Jinglong Group is controlled by the shareholders of Jinglong BVI;

•

"Lehman Entities" are to include Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc. and its subsidiaries, including Lehman Brothers Inc., Lehman Brothers International (Europe), Lehman Brothers Treasury Co. BV and Lehman Brothers OTC Derivatives Inc.

- "rated manufacturing capacity" are to the total amount of solar power products that can be made by a manufacturing line per annum operating at its maximum possible rate and is measured in megawatts, or MW;
- "RMB" and "Renminbi" are to the legal currency of the PRC;
- "US\$" and "U.S. dollars" are to the legal currency of the United States;
- "voltage" or "volts" are to the rating of the amount of electrical pressure that causes electricity to flow in the power line; and
- "watts" are to the measurement of total electrical power, where "kilowatts" or "KW" means one thousand watts and "megawatts" or "MW" means one million watts.

CURRENCIES AND EXCHANGE RATES

Our functional currency is Renminbi. Solely for your convenience, this annual report contains translations of Renminbi amounts into U.S. dollar amounts at US\$1.00 = RMB 6.8225, the noon buying rate for U.S. dollars in effect on December 31, 2008 in New York City for cable transfers of Renminbi as certified for customs purposes by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York. We make no representation that any amounts of Renminbi or U.S. dollar could be or could have been converted into each other at any particular rate or at all. See "Item 3. Key Information — D. Risk Factors — Risks Related to Doing Business in China — Fluctuation in the value of the Renminbi versus that of other foreign currencies may have a material adverse effect on our business and on your investment." On June 19, 2009, the noon buying rate was RMB 6.8360 to US\$1.00.

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the noon buying rates for U.S. dollars in New York City for cable transfers in Renminbi as certified for customs purposes by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York:

		Noon buyin		
Period	Period End	Average(1)	High	Low
	(RMB per US	\$\$1.00)	
2004	8.2765	8.2768	8.2774	8.2764
2005	8.0702	8.1826	8.2765	8.0702
2006	7.8041	7.9579	8.0702	7.8041
2007	7.2946	7.5806	7.8127	7.2946
2008	6.8225	6.9193	7.2946	6.7800
December	6.8225	6.8539	6.8842	6.8225
2009				
January	6.8392	6.8360	6.8403	6.8225
February	6.8395	6.8363	6.8470	6.8241
March	6.8329	6.8360	6.8438	6.8240
April	6.8180	6.8306	6.8361	6.8180
May	6.8278	6.8235	6.8326	6.8176
June (through June 19)	6.8360	6.8337	6.8371	6.8264

PART I

ITEM 1. IDENTITY OF DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND ADVISERS

Source for 2004-2008: Federal Reserve Bank of New York.

Source for 2009: Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System.

⁽¹⁾ Annual averages are calculated by averaging the noon buying rates on the last business day of each month. Monthly averages are calculated using the average of the daily rates during the relevant period.

Not applicable.	
ITEM 2.	OFFER STATISTICS AND EXPECTED TIMETABLE
Not applicable.	
2	

ITEM 3. KEY INFORMATION

A. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

You should read the following selected consolidated financial and operating data in conjunction with our audited consolidated financial statements and related notes and "Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects" included elsewhere in this annual report.

The selected consolidated financial data presented below as of December 31, 2007 and 2008 and for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008 have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles ("U.S. GAAP") and are derived from our audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this annual report, which have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian CPAs Limited Company, an independent registered public accounting firm. Our selected consolidated statement of operations data for the period from inception (May 18, 2005) to December 31, 2005 and selected consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2005 and 2006 have been derived from our audited consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2005 and 2006, which are not included in this annual report on Form 20-F. Historical results are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected in any future period.

	From inception					
	(May 18,					
	2005) to December					
			Vacan and ad Day	aamban 21		
	31, 2005	2006	Year ended Dec 2007	2008		
	2003					
	RMB	(in millions, except for share and per share data) RMB RMB RMB US\$ (1)				
Consolidated Statements of	KWID	KWID	KWID	KWID	US\$ (1)	
Operations Data:						
Net revenues						
Solar products		565.3	2,532.4	4,794.0	702.7	
Solar products to related parties		131.2	62.2	508.0	74.4	
Solar cells processing	<u></u>		99.1	156.3	22.9	
Total revenues		696.5	2,693.7	5,458.3	800.0	
Cost of revenues		070.5	2,073.7	3,130.3	000.0	
Solar products	<u></u>	(524.2)	(2,066.6)	(4,414.2)	(647.0)	
Solar cells processing	<u> </u>	(322)	(26.2)	(52.1)	(7.6)	
Total cost of revenues	_	(524.2)	(2,092.8)	(4,466.3)	(654.6)	
Gross profit	_	172.3	600.9	992.0	145.4	
Selling, general and administrative						
expenses	(2.6)	(39.7)	(150.3)	(271.5)	(39.8)	
Research and development expenses	(0.4)	(1.3)	(4.2)	(28.5)	(4.2)	
Total operating expenses	(3.0)	(41.0)	(154.5)	(300.0)	(44.0)	
Income/ (loss) from operations	(3.0)	131.3	446.4	692.0	101.4	
Impairment on available-for-sale						
securities	_	_	_	(686.3)	(100.6)	
Change in fair value of derivatives	<u> </u>	_		564.0	82.7	
Convertible notes buy back gain	_	_	_	203.5	29.8	
Interest expense		(5.1)	(6.6)	(160.5)	(23.5)	
Interest income	0.04	0.8	62.6	42.6	6.3	
Foreign exchange gain/(loss)	(0.1)	1.3	(112.8)	(127.3)	(18.7)	
Investment loss	_	_	_	(28.6)	(4.2)	
Other income	_	0.1	5.2	3.6	0.5	
Income/ (loss) before income taxes	(3.1)	128.4	394.8	503.0	73.7	
Income tax benefit/ (expense)	<u> </u>	_	5.6	(23.9)	(3.5)	
Net income/ (loss)	(3.1)	128.4	400.4	479.1	70.2	
Preferred shares accretion		(1.6)	(0.5)	_		
Preferred shares beneficial conversion						
charge	_	(34.7)	_	_	_	
Allocation of net income to						
participating preferred shareholders		(5.7)	(1.7)			
Net income/ (loss) available to	(2.1)	06.4	200.2	450.1	50.3	
ordinary shareholders.	(3.1)	86.4	398.2	479.1	70.2	
Net income/ (loss) per share:						
Basic	(0.04)	1.08	2.96	3.06	0.4	

Diluted	(0.04)	1.08	2.93	(2.31)	(0.3)
Weighted average number of shares outstanding:					
Basic Diluted	80,000,000 80,000,000	80,000,000 80,166,178	134,525,226 136,721,772	156,380,060 168,785,243	156,380,060 168,785,243
Diluted	80,000,000	80,100,178	130,721,772	108,783,243	106,763,243
4					

	From				
	inception				
	(May 18,				
	2005) to				
	December				
	31,	•	Year ended De	ecember 31,	
	2005	2006	2007	200	8
		(in millions	s, except for sh	are and per sh	are data)
	RMB	RMB	RMB	RMB	US\$ (1)
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows Data:					
Cash flows(used in)or provided by					
Operating activities	(1.6)	(61.8)	(1,146.5)	(1,289.2)	(189.0)
Investing activities	(38.0)	(107.6)	(1,641.6)	(419.4)	(61.5)
Financing activities	50.7	254.8	3,519.6	2,610.3	382.6
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and					
cash equivalents	(0.1)	(0.6)	(91.3)	(94.9)	(13.9)

As of December 31,

(in millions, except for share and per share data)

			_		
		RMB	RMB	RMB	US\$ (1)
Consolidated Balance Sheet					
Data:					
Cash and cash equivalents	11.0	95.8	736.0	1,542.8	226.1
Restricted Cash	_		409.0	33.0	4.8
Short term investments		_	803.1	421.9	61.9
Account receivable from third					
party customers, net	_	47.7	28.9	332.0	48.7
Account receivable from related					
party customers, net			24.7	23.0	3.4
Inventories, net		154.7	157.3	592.0	86.7
Advance to related party					
supplier, net		39.8	389.9	416.0	61.0
Advance to third party supplier,					
net		1.6	898.7	264.5	38.8
Other current assets	0.4	6.7	42.3	191.1	28.0
Deferred tax assets			1.2	14.1	2.1
Total current assets	11.4	346.3	3,491.1	3,830.4	561.4
Property and equipment, net	39.4	139.4	532.0	1,369.8	200.8
Intangible asset, net	8.3	7.2	6.7	11.8	1.7
Deferred tax assets			4.4	14.4	2.1
Advances to suppliers, net			536.3	1,944.9	285.1
Prepayment for land use right				44.4	6.5
		_	_	4.5	0.7

Edgar Filing: JA Solar Holdings Co., Ltd. - Form 20-F

Derivative asset-capped call options					
Deferred issuance cost	_			59.0	8.6
Total assets	59.1	492.9	4,570.5	7,279.2	1066.9
Short-term bank borrowings	_	150.0	200.0	490.0	71.8
Convertible notes	_	_		1,532.6	224.6
Total liabilities	2.5	187.1	434.0	2,524.3	370.0

As of December 31,

2005 2006 2007 2008 (in millions, except for share and per share data)

	RMB	F	RMB	RMB	US\$ (1)
Preferred shares		110.0		_	
Total shareholders' equity	56.6	195.8	4,136.5	4,754.9	696.9

⁽¹⁾ Translation of RMB amounts in U.S. dollars were made at a rate of RMB 6.8225 to US\$1.00, the noon buying rate for U.S. dollars in effect on December 31, 2008 in New York City for cable transfers of Renminbi as certified for customs purposes by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York. We make no representation that any amounts of Renminbi or U.S. dollars could be or could have been converted into each other at any particular rate or at all.

B. CAPITALIZATION AND INDEBTEDNESS

Not applicable.

C. REASONS FOR THE OFFER AND USE OF PROCEEDS

Not applicable.

D. RISK FACTORS

Our operations and financial results are subject to various risks and uncertainties, including risks related to our supply chain, sales channels, and business including availability of project financing, liquidity, operations, technology and intellectual property, our debt and equity securities and doing business in China. Although we believe that we have identified and discussed below the key risk factors affecting our business, there may be additional risks and uncertainties that are not presently known or that are not currently believed to be significant that may also adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, and trading price of our ADSs as well as our convertible notes.

Risks Related to Our Supply Chain

Limited competition among suppliers has required us in some instances to enter into long-term, firm commitment supply agreements, including prepayment provisions, that could result in excess or insufficient inventory and financial loss placing us at a competitive disadvantage.

Due to the industry-wide shortage of polysilicon experienced during the past few years, we have purchased polysilicon that we resell to third-party ingot and wafer manufacturers who deliver wafers to us that we then use in the manufacturing of our solar cells. Without sufficient polysilicon, some of those ingot and wafer manufacturers would not be able to produce the wafers on which we rely. To match our estimated customer demand forecasts and growth strategy for the next several years, we have entered into multiple long-term supply agreements. We currently purchase polysilicon, ingots and wafers from a limited number of suppliers, including for example Jinglong Group, M. SETEK Co. Ltd. ("M. SETEK") and Jiangsu Zhongneng Silicon Technology Development Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of GCL

Silicon Technology Holdings Ltd. (or "GCL"). See "Item 4. Information on the Company — B. Business Overview — Raw Material and Utilities — Silicon Wafers." Some agreements provide for fixed pricing, substantial prepayment obligations, and/or firm purchase commitments that require us to pay for the supply whether or not we accept delivery.

If such agreements require us to purchase more polysilicon, ingots or wafers than required to meet our actual customer demand, over time, the resulting excess inventory could materially and negatively impact our results of operations and financial condition.

If our agreements provide insufficient inventory to meet customer demand, or if our suppliers are unable or unwilling to provide us with the quantities within the contracted timetable, we may purchase additional supply at available market prices which could be greater than expected and could materially and negatively impact our results of operations. Such market prices could also be greater than prices paid by our competitors, placing us at a competitive disadvantage, which could materially and adversely affect our results of operations and financial position. Further, any failure by us to meet obligations to our customers could have a material adverse effect on our reputation, retention of customers, market share, business and results of operations and may subject us to claims from our customers and other disputes. Any such failure may also cause our customers to switch to our competitors as alternative suppliers. Failure to obtain sufficient wafers may also result in underutilization of our existing and planned production facilities and increase our marginal production costs. Any of the above events could have a material adverse effect on our growth, results of operations and financial condition.

If the prices under our long-term supply agreements result in our paying more for such supplies than the current market prices available to our competitors, we may also be placed at a competitive disadvantage, and could materially and adversely affect our results of operations and financial position. Furthermore, we may choose not to procure polysilicon, ingots or wafers under certain contracts if we deem the prices under such contracts are unfavorable to us under prevailing market conditions and/or we are unable to renegotiate the price of the polysilicon, ingots or wafers under the supply arrangements to better reflect the relevant market conditions. In the event we choose not to procure polysilicon, ingots or wafers under certain contracts, we have been and may be forced to forfeit certain prepayment amounts which could materially and adversely affect our results of operations, and financial position.

Prepayment arrangements for procurement of silicon wafers and/or polysilicon from Jinglong Group, M.SETEK, GCL and other suppliers expose us to the credit risks of such suppliers and may also significantly increase our costs and expenses, either of which could in turn have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and liquidity.

We face significant specific counterparty risk under long-term supply agreements when dealing with suppliers without a long, stable production and financial history. We make prepayments to these suppliers for procurement of polysilicon, ingots or wafers without receiving collateral to secure such payments. In the event any such supplier experiences financial difficulties, it may be difficult or impossible, or may require substantial time and expense, for us to recover any or all of our prepayments. Our claims for such payments would rank as unsecured claims, which expose us to the credit risks of our suppliers in the case of an insolvency or bankruptcy of such suppliers. Under such circumstances, our claims against the suppliers would rank below those of secured creditors, which would undermine our chances of obtaining the return of the prepayments. Accordingly, a default by our suppliers may have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and liquidity. In addition, should a supplier to whom we make prepayment default on its obligations under the supply contract, we may not be able to recover all or a portion of our outstanding prepayment. Further, even if a supplier refunds our prepayment when it defaults on its obligations under the contract, we may still suffer losses if we do not receive any interest payment on such refunded prepayment and, in the situation where we made prepayment in foreign currencies, we may suffer foreign exchange losses if we would need to exchange the U.S. dollar-denominated refund payment into Renminbi, which may have appreciated against the U.S. dollar. We also face certain operational risks associated with our suppliers. For example, if our suppliers become subject to intellectual property infringement claims by third parties our ability to recover our outstanding prepayments may be materially and adversely affected. Any of the foregoing could materially and adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.

Fluctuation in the price of polysilicon, increased competition, the global economic crisis and other changing market conditions may cause further decline in the demand and average selling prices of solar cells and may continue to increase the level of our earnings volatility and reduce our profitability.

Fluctuation in the price of polysilicon may affect the average selling prices of solar cells since any significant increase in the polysilicon supply may decrease raw material costs, allow higher utilization of existing and planned solar cell production capacity, and allow greater price competition. In addition, increased competition from existing solar cell producers and new market participants as well as changes in other market conditions, such as the reduced demand for solar power products in the end user markets caused by the global economic crisis, may cause a decline in the demand and average selling prices of solar cells from time to time. The average selling price of our solar cells decreased approximately 20% in the fourth quarter of 2008 and 29% in the first quarter of 2009, as compared with the fourth quarter of 2008; and we expect further declines to continue for the remainder of 2009. If we are unable to lower our production cost per watt, to the same extent as the average selling price per watt declines, the level of our earnings volatility would increase and our profitability would decline, which would materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We obtain certain manufacturing equipment from sole or a limited number of suppliers and if such equipment is damaged or otherwise unavailable, our ability to deliver products on time will suffer, which in turn could result in order cancellations and loss of revenue.

Some of our equipment used in the manufacture of our solar cell products has been developed and made specifically for us, is not readily available from alternative vendors and would be difficult to repair or replace if it were to become damaged or stop working. In addition, we obtain some equipment from sole or a limited number of suppliers. If any of these suppliers were to experience financial difficulties or go out of business, or if there were any damage to or a breakdown of our manufacturing equipment at a time when we are manufacturing commercial quantities of our products, our business would suffer. In addition, a supplier's failure to supply our ordered equipment in a timely manner, with adequate quality and on terms acceptable to us, could delay and otherwise disrupt our production schedule or increase our costs of production.

Risks Related to Our Sales Channels

The execution of our growth strategy is dependent upon the continued availability of financing to our customers as well as third-party financing arrangements for the end-user of our products, and is affected by general economic conditions.

Given the general economy, particularly the tightening of the credit markets, we have extended credit to many new and existing customers or provided them with improved credit terms, including increasing credit limits and extending the time period before payments are due, ultimately increasing our exposure to credit risk on our account receivable. In addition, the extended credit terms to our customers have created additional demands on our working capital, as well as increased defaults in accounts receivable due to the deteriorating world economy in 2008. Accordingly, we have increased our provision for doubtful accounts from nil in 2007 to RMB 24.7 million (US\$3.6 million) in 2008. The failure of any of our new or existing customers to meet their payment obligations under the credit terms granted would materially and adversely affect our financial position, liquidity and results of operations.

Further, our products are a component of solar systems which are used in both on-grid applications and off-grid applications. Government agencies and the private sector have, from time to time, provided financing on preferential terms to promote the use of solar energy in both on-grid and off-grid applications. We believe that the availability and cost of such financing programs could have a significant effect on the level of sales of solar power products. Given the

current global financial crisis, however, the availability of financing on favorable terms, or at all, may be limited. If existing financing programs for on-grid and off-grid applications are eliminated or if financing in general become inaccessible or inadequate, the growth of the market for on-grid and off-grid applications may be materially and adversely affected, which could cause our sales of solar cells to decline.

Due to the general reduction in available credit to would-be borrowers and the poor state of economies worldwide, customers may be unable or unwilling to finance the cost of our products, or the parties that have historically provided this financing may cease to do so, or only do so on terms that are substantially less favorable for us or our customers, any of which could materially and adversely affect our revenue and growth in all segments of our business. If economic recovery is slow in the United States or elsewhere, we may experience decreases in the demand for our solar power products, which may harm our operating results. In addition, a rise in interest rates would likely increase the end users of our products cost of financing and could reduce their profits and expected returns on investment in our products. Similarly, the general reduction in available credit to would-be borrowers, the poor state of economies worldwide, and the condition of housing markets worldwide, could delay or reduce our sales of products to our customers. Collecting payment from customers facing liquidity challenges may also be difficult.

We cannot assure you when an economic recovery may occur, or even when an economic recovery does occur, that demand for our products and related services will increase. A protracted disruption in the ability of our significant customers or downstream players to access sources of liquidity could cause serious disruptions to or an overall deterioration in their businesses, which could lead to a significant reduction in their future orders for our products and the inability or failure on their part to meet their payment obligations to us (as evidenced by the significant increase in our allowance for doubtful receivables in 2008), any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

We currently sell a significant portion of our solar cell products to a limited number of customers. Our dependence on these customers may cause significant fluctuations or declines in our revenues.

Even though we expect our customer base to increase and our revenue streams to further diversify among geographies including Europe and the United States, a substantial portion of our net revenues could continue to depend on sales to a limited number of China customers and the loss of sales to or inability to collect from these customers would have a significant negative impact on our business. We currently sell a substantial portion of our products to module manufacturers based in China. For the twelve months ended December 31, 2008, approximately 74.1% of our total revenues were derived from sales of our solar cell products to our top ten customers, one of which is our related party. We anticipate that our dependence on a limited number of customers will continue for the foreseeable future. Consequently, any one of the following events may cause material fluctuations or declines in our revenues and have a material adverse effect on our results of operations:

- Ÿ reduction, delay or cancellation of orders from one or more of our significant customers;
- Ÿ selection of our competitor's products by one or more of our significant customers;
- Ÿ loss of one or more of our significant customers and our failure to identify additional or replacement customers; and
- Ÿ Failure of any of our significant customers to make timely payment for our products.

We are in the process of further penetrating the market in China and exploring opportunities in other markets. In light of our efforts to grow, we may face risks associated with the marketing, distribution and sale of our products domestically and internationally, and if we are unable to effectively manage these risks, they could impair our ability to expand our business overall.

Our revenue from customers in China was approximately 76.3% of our overall revenues in 2008. In line with our overall growth, in the fourth quarter of 2008, we grew our sales to customers outside of China to approximately 40% of our fourth quarter total sales. The stability and viability of any existing, new or potential markets are subject to many uncertainties and may expose us to a number of risks, including:

fluctuations in currency exchange rates;

• difficulty in engaging and retaining distributors who are knowledgeable about, and can function effectively in, overseas markets;

- increased costs associated with maintaining marketing efforts in various countries;
- difficulty and cost relating to compliance with the different commercial and legal requirements of the overseas markets in which we offer our products;
 - inability to obtain, maintain or enforce intellectual property rights; and
- trade barriers such as export requirements, tariffs, taxes and other restrictions and expenses, which could increase the prices of our products and make us less competitive in some countries.

If we are unable to effectively manage these risks, we may not be able to successfully expand our business and grow our businesses as we have planned.

We generally do not have long-term agreements with our customers and accordingly could lose customers without warning, which could cause our operating results to fluctuate.

Our solar cell products are generally not sold pursuant to long-term agreements with customers, but instead are sold on a purchase order basis. Although we believe that cancellations on our purchase orders to date have been insignificant, our customers may cancel or reschedule purchase orders with us on relatively short notice. Cancellations or rescheduling of customer orders could result in the delay or loss of anticipated sales without allowing us sufficient time to reduce, or delay the incurrence of, our corresponding inventory and operating expenses. In addition, changes in forecasts or the timing of orders from these or other customers expose us to the risks of inventory shortages or excess inventory. These circumstances, in addition to variations in average selling prices, and the fact that our supply agreements are generally long-term in nature and many of our other operating costs are fixed, in turn could cause our operating results to fluctuate and may result in a material adverse effect in our business.

The reduction or elimination of government subsidies and economic incentives could cause our revenue to decline.

We believe that the near-term growth of the market for on-grid applications, where solar power is used to supplement a customer's electricity purchased from the utility network, depends in a large part on the availability and size of government subsidies and economic incentives. The solar power market is segmented into two main application types: on-grid applications and off-grid applications. The reduction or elimination of government and economic incentives may adversely affect the growth of this market or result in increased price competition, both of which could cause our revenue to decline and materially and adversely affect our business, financial conditions and results of operations.

Today, the cost of solar power exceeds the cost of power furnished by the electric utility grid in many locations. As a result, government bodies in many countries, most notably Germany, Spain, Japan and the U.S., have provided incentives in the form of rebates, tax credits and other incentives to end users, distributors, system integrators and manufacturers of solar power products to promote the use of solar energy in on-grid applications and to reduce dependency on other forms of energy.

These government economic incentives could be reduced or eliminated altogether, especially given the current global financial crisis. For example, in September of 2008, global demand for solar products decreased as a result of Spain setting a 500MW cap on its solar power subsidy for 2009, down from 1,200 MW for 2008. Reductions in, or eliminations or expirations of, these governmental subsidies and economic incentives could result in decreased demand for our products and cause our revenue to decline. In addition, despite governmental subsidies and economic incentives, these countries may from time to time experience a slowdown in demand for photovoltaic products. This may also have an adverse effect on our revenues.

We compete in a highly competitive market and many of our competitors have resources greater than ours.

The solar power market is intensely competitive and rapidly evolving. We expect to face increased competition, which may result in price reductions, reduced margins or loss of market share. Some of our competitors have become vertically integrated, from upstream silicon wafer manufacturing to solar power system integration. We expect to compete with future entrants to the photovoltaic market that offer new technological solutions. Furthermore, many of our competitors are developing or currently producing products based on new photovoltaic technologies, including thin film, ribbon, sheet and nano technologies, which they believe will ultimately cost the same as or less than crystalline silicon technologies used by us. In addition, the entire photovoltaic industry also faces competition from conventional and non-solar renewable energy technologies. Due to the relatively high manufacturing costs compared to most other energy sources, solar energy is generally not competitive without government incentive programs.

Many of our existing and potential competitors have substantially greater financial, technical, manufacturing and other resources than we do. Our competitors' greater size and longer operating history in some cases provide them with a competitive advantage with respect to manufacturing costs because of their economies of scale and their ability to purchase raw materials at lower prices. Many of our competitors also have greater brand name recognition, more established distribution networks and larger customer bases. In addition, many of our competitors have well-established relationships with our existing and potential customers and have extensive knowledge of our target markets. As a result, they may be able to devote greater resources to the research, development, promotion and sale of their products and respond more quickly to evolving industry standards and changes in market conditions than we can. Our failure to adapt to changing market conditions and to compete successfully with existing or new competitors may materially and adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

Problems with product quality or product performance may cause us to incur warranty expenses, damage our market reputation and prevent us from achieving increased sales and market share, or result in a decrease in our revenues and market share.

While we employ quality assurance procedures at key manufacturing stages to identify and resolve quality issues, our solar cells may contain defects that are not detected until after they are shipped or installed. These defects could cause us to incur significant re-engineering costs, divert the attention of our engineering personnel from product development efforts, lead to returns of, or requests to return our products and significantly affect our customer relations and business reputation. If we deliver solar cells with errors or defects, or if there is a perception that our solar cells contain errors or defects, our credibility and the market acceptance and sales of our solar power products could be harmed.

In addition to our core business of producing solar cells, we also provide solar module assembly services to our customers, whereby third party original equipment manufacturer (or "OEM") companies are engaged by us to assemble the solar cells we produce into solar modules as required by our customers. With respect to these solar modules, we provide either (i) a 2 or 5 year warranty that the modules will be free from defects in materials and workmanship from the production date, or (ii) a 10 and 25 year performance warranty against declines of more than 10.0% and 20.0% of initial power generation capacity from the time of delivery.

As a result of these warranties, we bear the risk of extensive warranty claims long after we have sold our products and recognized revenue. We therefore, in accordance with industry practices, accrue 1% of our sales of solar modules as a warranty cost. Because we only recently started to provide our solar module assembly services, the solar modules have been in use for only a relatively short period, we cannot assure you that our assumptions regarding the durability and reliability of our products are reasonable. Our warranty provisions may be inadequate, and we may have to incur substantial expense to repair or replace defective products in the future. Furthermore, widespread product failures may damage our market reputation and cause our sales to decline.

Risks Related to Technology and Intellectual Property

Our failure to further refine our technology and manufacturing processes and develop and introduce new solar power products could render our products uncompetitive or obsolete, and reduce our sales and market share.

The solar power industry is rapidly evolving and becoming more competitive. We will need to invest significant financial resources in research and development to keep pace with technological advances in the solar power industry and to effectively compete in the future. However, research and development activities are inherently uncertain, and we might encounter practical difficulties in commercializing our research results. A variety of competing photovoltaic technologies that other companies may develop could prove to be more cost-effective and have better performance than solar power products that we develop. Therefore, our development efforts may be rendered obsolete by the technological advances of others. Breakthroughs in photovoltaic technologies that do not use crystalline silicon could mean that companies such as us that rely entirely on crystalline silicon would encounter a sudden, sharp drop in sales. Our failure to further refine our technology and develop and introduce new solar power products could render our products uncompetitive or obsolete, and result in a decline in our market share as well as our revenues and profits.

One of the alternative technologies in the production of solar cells is thin film technology, which involves depositing several thin layers of silicon or more complex materials on a substrate such as glass to make a solar cell. The use of thin film technology in the production of solar cells would significantly reduce the consumption of silicon materials and manufacturing costs. Some universities, research institutions and companies in the solar power industry have devoted resources to the research and development on commercialization of thin film technology in the production of solar cells. New developments in commercialization of thin film technology may render our existing technologies obsolete and our products uncompetitive, which would result in loss in our profitability and market share and could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

In addition, any new development or adjustment in the manufacturing processes may affect our ability to maintain our competitive position. Any failure to refine our manufacturing processes to competitively produce new solar cell products may result in a loss of our market share and revenue, which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

If we fail to successfully develop and introduce new and enhanced products and services, we may not be able to compete effectively, and our ability to generate revenues will suffer.

The solar power market is characterized by continually changing technology requiring improved features, such as increased efficiency and higher power output and improved aesthetics. Technologies developed by our direct competitors, including thin film solar panels, concentrating solar cells, solar thermal electric and other solar technologies, may provide power at lower costs than our products. We also face competition in some markets from other power generation sources, including conventional fossil fuels, wind, biomass, and hydro. Our failure to further

refine our technology and develop and introduce new solar power products could cause our products to become uncompetitive or obsolete, which could reduce our market share and cause our sales to decline. This will require us to continuously develop new solar power products and enhancements for existing solar power products to keep pace with evolving industry standards, competitive pricing and changing customer requirements.

As we introduce new or enhanced products or integrate new technology into our products, we will face risks relating to such transitions including, among other things, technical challenges, disruption in customers' ordering patterns, insufficient supplies of new products to meet customers' demand, possible product and technology defects arising from the integration of new technology and a potentially different sales and support environment relating to any new technology. Our failure to manage the transition to newer products or the integration of newer technology into our products could adversely affect our business' operating results and financial condition.

Our efforts to further develop our technology and know-how through increased research and development of crystalline silicon technology at our new facilities in Donghai and Yangzhou may not yield satisfactory results, if any.

We may expend significant financial resources in research and development of crystalline silicon technology to effectively compete with other market players in the future. Our research and development efforts are focused on improving conversion efficiencies and enhancing production processes to reduce silicon usage per watt. Research and development activities are inherently uncertain and we might encounter practical difficulties in commercializing our research results, if any. In addition, other companies may develop more cost-effective and better performing products than what our research and development may yield. Therefore, our development efforts may be rendered obsolete by the technological advances of others. For example, breakthroughs in photovoltaic technologies that do not use crystalline silicon could mean that companies such as us that currently rely on crystalline silicon would encounter a sudden, sharp drop in sales. Our failure to further improve our technology, develop and introduce new products or respond to rapid market changes and technology evolutions in the solar energy industry could render our products uncompetitive or obsolete, and reduce our sales and market share.

If photovoltaic technology is not suitable for widespread adoption, or sufficient demand for solar power products does not develop or takes longer to develop than we anticipated, our sales may not continue to increase or may even decline, and we may be unable to sustain profitability.

The solar power market is at a relatively early stage of development and the extent to which solar power products will be widely adopted is uncertain. Market data in the solar power industry are not as readily available as those in other more established industries where trends can be assessed more reliably from data gathered over a longer period of time. Many factors may affect the viability of widespread adoption of photovoltaic technology and demand for solar power products, including:

- cost-effectiveness of solar power products compared to conventional and other non-solar energy sources and products;
- performance and reliability of solar power products compared to conventional and other non-solar energy sources and products;
 - availability of government subsidies and incentives to support the development of the solar power industry;
 - success of other alternative energy generation technologies, such as fuel cells, wind power and biomass;
- fluctuations in economic and market conditions that affect the viability of conventional and non-solar alternative energy sources, such as increases or decreases in the prices of oil and other fossil fuels; and
- capital expenditures by end users of solar power products, which tend to decrease when the economy slows down.

The solar power market also competes with other sources of renewable energy and conventional power generation. If prices for conventional and other renewable energy resources decline, or if these resources enjoy greater policy support than solar power, the solar power market could suffer. If photovoltaic technology proves unsuitable for widespread adoption or if demand for solar power products fails to develop sufficiently, we may not be able to grow our business or generate sufficient revenues to sustain our profitability.

In addition, demand for solar power products in our target markets may not develop or may develop to a lesser extent than we anticipated.

Our failure to protect our intellectual property rights may undermine our competitive position, and litigation to protect our intellectual property rights may be costly and may not be resolved in our favor.

We seek to protect our proprietary manufacturing processes, documentation and other written materials primarily through intellectual property laws, contractual restrictions, trade secrets and other similar restrictions. However, we have sought patent protection from patent authorities in China and the United States for a limited number of technologies related to our business and may seek further protection in other jurisdictions if deemed necessary. We also require employees and consultants with access to our proprietary information to execute confidentiality agreements with us. The steps taken by us to protect our proprietary information may not be adequate to prevent misappropriation of our technology. In addition, our proprietary rights may not be adequately protected because:

- people may not be deterred from misappropriating our technologies despite the existence of laws or contracts prohibiting it;
- •policing unauthorized use of our intellectual property may be difficult, expensive and time-consuming, and we may be unable to determine the extent of any unauthorized use; and
- •enforcement under intellectual property laws in China may be slow and difficult in light of the application of such laws and the uncertainties associated with the PRC legal system. See "Item 3. Key Information D. Risk Factors Risks related to Doing Business in China Uncertainties with respect to the PRC legal system could have a material adverse effect on us."

Reverse engineering, unauthorized copying or other misappropriation of our proprietary technologies could enable third parties to benefit from our technologies without paying us for doing so. Any inability to adequately protect our proprietary rights could harm our ability to compete, to generate revenue and to grow our business.

We cannot assure you that infringement of our intellectual property rights by other parties does not exist now or that it will not occur in the future. To protect our intellectual property rights and to maintain our competitive advantage, we may file suits against parties who we believe infringe our intellectual property. Such litigation may be costly and may divert management attention as well as expend our other resources away from our business. In certain situations, we may have to bring suit in foreign jurisdictions, in which case we are subject to additional risks as to the result of the proceedings and the amount of damage that we can recover. An adverse determination in any such litigation will impair our intellectual property rights and may harm our business, prospects and reputation. In addition, we have no insurance coverage against litigation costs and would have to bear all costs arising from such litigation to the extent we are unable to recover them from other parties. The occurrence of any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

We may be exposed to infringement or misappropriation claims by third parties, which, if determined adversely to us, could cause us to lose significant rights and pay significant damage awards.

Our success also depends largely on our ability to use and develop our technology and know-how without infringing the intellectual property rights of third parties. The validity and scope of claims relating to photovoltaic technology patents involve complex scientific, legal and factual questions and analysis and, therefore, may be highly uncertain. Although we are not currently aware of any parties pursuing or intending to pursue infringement claims against us, we cannot assure you that we will not be subject to such claims in the future. Also, because patent applications in many jurisdictions are kept confidential for 18 months before they are published, we may be unaware of other persons' pending patent applications that relate to our products or processes.

Our suppliers may also become subject to infringement claims, which in turn could negatively impact our business as they may no longer be able to fulfill their delivery obligations under their contracts with us or refund our outstanding prepayments in a timely manner or at all. The defense and prosecution of intellectual property suits, patent opposition proceedings and related legal and administrative proceedings can be both costly and time consuming and may significantly divert the efforts and resources of our technical and management personnel. An adverse determination in any such litigation or proceedings to which we may become a party could subject us to significant liability to third parties, require us to seek licenses from third parties, to pay ongoing royalties, or to redesign our products or subject us to injunctions prohibiting the manufacture and sale of our products or the use of our technologies. Protracted litigation could also result in our customers deferring or limiting their purchase or use of our products until resolution of such litigation. The occurrence of any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Although a substantial portion of our solar cells are used in products sold outside China, we currently have very limited protection for our intellectual property outside China. Our business, results of operations and financial condition would be materially and adversely affected if our sales outside China were to be restricted by intellectual property claims by third parties.

We are in the process of obtaining patent protection in the United States and China and may also seek protection in various other jurisdictions, if deemed necessary. In the meantime, others may independently develop substantially equivalent technologies, or otherwise gain access to our proprietary technologies, and obtain patents for such intellectual properties in other jurisdictions, including the countries to which our solar cell products are sold ultimately. If any third parties are successful in obtaining patents for technologies that are substantially equivalent or the same as the technologies we use in our solar cell products in any of our markets before we do and enforce their intellectual property rights against us, our ability to sell products containing the allegedly infringing intellectual property in those markets will be materially and adversely affected. If we are required to stop selling such allegedly infringing products, seek license and pay royalties for the relevant intellectual properties, or redesign such products with non-infringing technologies, our business, results of operations and financial condition may be materially and adversely affected.

Risks Related to Our Operations

We may not be able to increase or sustain our recent growth rate, and we may not be able to manage our future growth effectively.

We may not be able to continue to expand our business or manage future growth. Depending on market conditions, our plans to grow our business will require the successful execution of:

- Ÿ expanding our existing manufacturing facilities, which would increase our fixed costs and, if such facilities are underutilized, would negatively impact our results of operations;
- Ÿ ensuring delivery of adequate polysilicon and ingots;
- Ÿ developing more efficient solar cells;
- Ÿ enhancing our customer resource management and manufacturing management systems;

- Ÿ implementing and improving additional and existing administrative, financial and operations systems, procedures and controls, including the implementation of our new ERP system;
- Ÿ hiring additional employees;
- Ÿ expanding and upgrading our technological capabilities;

- Ÿ managing multiple relationships with our customers, suppliers and other third-parties;
- Ÿ maintaining adequate liquidity and financial resources; and
- Ÿ continuing to increase our revenues from operations.

We have not had significant international activities and customers; however we plan to expand our international efforts, which subject us to additional business risks, including logistical complexity and political instability.

In fiscal years 2008, 2007 and 2006, a substantial portion of our sales was made to customers inside China, and a substantial portion of our supply agreements is with supply and equipment vendors located inside China. Currently our solar cell production lines are located in China. Our continued focus on expanding our business internationally presents us with additional risks we face in conducting business internationally including:

- Y multiple, conflicting and changing laws and regulations, export and import restrictions, employment laws, regulatory requirements and other government approvals, permits and licenses;
- Ÿ difficulties and costs in staffing and managing foreign operations as well as cultural differences:
- Ÿ potentially adverse tax consequences associated with our permanent establishment of operations in more countries;
- Y relatively uncertain legal systems, including potentially limited protection for intellectual property rights, and laws, regulations and policies which impose additional restrictions on the ability of foreign companies to conduct business in certain countries or otherwise place them at a competitive disadvantage in relation to domestic companies;
- Ÿ inadequate local infrastructure and developing telecommunications infrastructures;
- Ÿ financial risks, such as longer sales and payment cycles and greater difficulty collecting accounts receivable;
- Ÿ currency fluctuations and government-fixed foreign exchange rates and the effects of currency hedging activity or inability to hedge currency fluctuations; and
- Ÿ political and economic instability, including wars, acts of terrorism, political unrest, boycotts, curtailments of trade and other business restrictions.

If we are unable to successfully manage any such risks, any one or more could materially and negatively affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our quarterly revenues and operating results may be difficult to predict and could fall below investor expectations, which could cause the market price of our ADSs to decline.

Our quarterly revenues and operation results have fluctuated in the past and may continue to fluctuate significantly depending upon numerous factors, including seasonality of demand for solar power products, changes in market conditions and industry environment, and changes in government policies or regulations. For example, purchases of solar power products tend to decrease due to severe weather conditions in winter months, which complicates the installation of solar power systems. Many of these factors are beyond our control, making our quarterly results difficult to predict, which could cause the trading price of our ADSs to decline if our operating results for any particular quarter fall below investor expectations.

If we do not achieve satisfactory yields or quality in our production of solar cells, our sales could decrease and our relationships with our customers and our reputation may be harmed.

The manufacture of solar cells is a highly complex process. Minor deviations in the manufacturing process can cause substantial decreases in yields, affect the quality of the product and in some cases, cause production to be suspended or yield products unfit for commercial sale. This often occurs during the production of new products or the installation and start-up of new process technologies or equipment.

In addition, as is typical with any new equipment or process, we may experience lower yields and conversion efficiencies in our newly built manufacturing lines. We also expect to experience lower yields initially if we modify our manufacturing processes by utilizing thinner wafers. If we do not achieve satisfactory yields or quality, our product costs could increase, our sales could decrease and our relationships with our customers and our reputation could be harmed, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

We are a young company and our limited operating history makes it difficult to evaluate our future prospects and results of operations.

We have only been in existence since May 2005. We completed our first solar cell manufacturing line in March 2006 and made our first commercial shipment of solar cells in April 2006. We have since then increased our total rated manufacturing capacity from 25 MW per annum to 600 MW per annum as of December 31, 2008. Our business model and ability to achieve satisfactory financial results at higher manufacturing volumes are unproven. We must, among other things, continue to respond to competitive developments, attract, retain and motivate qualified personnel, implement and successfully execute our business plan and improve our technologies. We cannot assure you that we will be successful in achieving these goals. Our limited operating history makes the prediction of future results of operations difficult, and therefore, past revenue growth experienced by us should not be taken as indicative of the rate of revenue growth, if any, that can be expected in the future. We believe that period to period comparisons of our operating results are not meaningful and that the results for any period should not be relied upon as an indication of future performance. You should consider our business and prospects, in light of the risks, uncertainties, expenses and challenges that we will face as an early-stage company seeking to develop and manufacture new products in a rapidly growing market.

Our future success is dependent on our initiation, maintenance and expansion of relationships with new and existing customers, suppliers and other third parties, some of which may terminate for reasons beyond our control.

Due to market conditions and other factors beyond our control, certain customer and/or supplier relationships that we entered into for expanding our customer/supplier base may be terminated or suspended. If we are unable to initiate relationships with new customers, suppliers or other third parties, maintain or expand relationships with existing customers, suppliers or other third parties, or resume or replace such relationships, our business, results of operations or financial condition may be materially and adversely affected.

Our senior management has worked together for a relatively short period of time, which may make it difficult for you to evaluate their effectiveness and ability to address challenges.

Due to our limited operating history and recent changes to our management team, certain of our senior management and employees have worked together at our company for a relatively short period of time. For example, since February of 2008, we have experienced turnover in our senior management ranks and hired or appointed a number of executive officers and senior management, including our chief technology officer, chief operating officer, chief financial officer, and vice president of business development and corporate communications. In light of the foregoing circumstances, it may be difficult for you to evaluate the effectiveness of our senior management and their ability to address future challenges to our business. Members of our senior management may not work together effectively as a team to manage our growth successfully, which could result in us losing market share, business opportunity and revenues.

The success of our business depends on the continuing efforts of our key personnel and our business may be severely disrupted if we lose their services.

Our future success depends, to a significant extent, on our ability to attract, train and retain qualified technical personnel, particularly those with expertise in the solar power industry. There is substantial competition for qualified technical personnel, and there can be no assurance that we will be able to attract or retain our qualified technical personnel. If we are unable to attract and retain qualified technical personnel, our business may be materially and adversely affected.

We rely heavily on the continued services of our executive officers. If one or more of our executive officers are unable or unwilling to continue in their present positions, we may not be able to replace them easily or at all. As a result, our business may be severely disrupted and we may incur additional expenses to recruit and retain new officers. In addition, if any of our executives joins a competitor or forms a competing company, we may lose some or all of our customers. We believe our future success will depend upon our ability to retain these key employees and our ability to attract and retain other skilled managerial, engineering and sales and marketing personnel. Each of our executive officers and other key personnel has entered into an employment agreement with us, which contains confidentiality and non-competition provisions. However, if any disputes arise between our employees and us, we cannot assure you, in light of uncertainties associated with the PRC legal system, the extent to which any of these agreements could be enforced in China, where some of our executive officers reside and hold some of their assets. See "Item 3. Key Information — D. Risk Factors — Risks Related to Doing Business in China — Uncertainties with respect to the PRC legal system could have a material adverse effect on us."

As we have granted and will continue to grant employee share options to certain of our directors, officers, employees and consultants, our net income will be adversely affected.

Under our 2006 stock incentive plan, we may grant options to purchase up to 10% of our issued share capital to certain of our directors, employees and consultants. As of June 15, 2009, we have granted options to purchase 15,782,000 ordinary shares to a number of our directors, employees and consultants. See "Item 6. Directors, Senior Management and Employees — B. Compensation — Stock Option Plans."

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 123 (Revised 2004), "Share-Based Payment," or SFAS No. 123(R), of the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB"), which requires all companies to recognize, as an expense, the fair value of share options and other share-based compensation to employees, we are required to account for compensation costs for all share options granted to our directors, employees and consultants using a fair-value based method and recognize expenses in our consolidated statement of operations in accordance with the relevant rules under U.S. GAAP. Our share-based compensation expenses have a material and adverse effect on our reported earnings for the year during which the option are granted and over their vesting periods.

Moreover, the additional expenses associated with share-based compensation may reduce the attractiveness of such incentive plan to us. However, if we stop granting options, or reduce the number of options granted, under our stock incentive plan, we may not be able to attract and retain key personnel, as share options are an important employee recruitment and retention tool. In addition, the decline in the price of our ordinary shares below the exercise price of many of the previously granted options has lessened the effectiveness of the options as a means to retain the services of the option holders. As a result, we have granted more stock options to certain individuals and will continue to grant employee share options or other share-based compensation in the future that may adversely affect our net income.

There are potential conflicts of interest between us and our largest shareholder, Jinglong BVI.

Jinglong BVI, which is controlled by the shareholders of Jinglong Group, is our largest shareholder. In addition, Mr. Baofang Jin, the chairman of our Board of Directors, is a shareholder of Jinglong BVI and is also the chairman of Jinglong Group. Jinglong Group currently provides a number of products and services to us, including silicon wafer supply (on prepayment terms) and real property leases. Our transactions with Jinglong Group are governed by a number of contracts between Jinglong Group and us, the terms of which were negotiated on an arm's length basis. See "Item 7. Major Shareholders and Related Party Transactions — B. Related Party Transactions." However, the interest of Jinglong BVI may conflict with our own interest with respect to our transactions with Jinglong Group. As a result, we may have limited ability to negotiate with Jinglong Group over the terms of the agreements because Jinglong BVI may exert significant influence on our affairs through our Board of Directors which could cause us to take actions that may not be in our best interests. In addition, Jinglong BVI may be able to prevent us from taking actions to enforce or exercise our rights under the agreements we entered into with Jinglong Group. Furthermore, we cannot assure you that our transactions with Jinglong Group will always be concluded on terms favorable to us or maintained at the current level or at all in the future.

Changes to existing regulations over the utility sector and the solar power industry may present technical, regulatory and economic barriers to the purchase and use of solar power products, which may significantly reduce demand for our products.

The market for power generation products is heavily influenced by government regulations and policies concerning the electric utility industry, as well as the internal policies of electric utilities companies. These regulations and policies often relate to electricity pricing and technical interconnection of end user-owned power generation. In a number of countries, these regulations and policies are being modified and may continue to be modified. End users' purchases of alternative energy sources, including solar power products, could be deterred by these regulations and policies, which could result in a significant reduction in the potential demand for our solar power products. For example, utility companies commonly charge fees to larger, industrial customers for disconnecting from the electricity transmission grid or for having the capacity to use power from the electricity transmission grid for back-up purposes. These fees could increase end users' costs of using our solar power products and make products that use our solar cells less desirable, thereby having an adverse effect on our business, prospects, results of operations and financial condition.

We anticipate that products that use our solar cells and their installation will be subject to oversight and regulation in accordance with national and local ordinances relating to building codes, safety, environmental protection, utility interconnection and metering and related matters in various countries. It is also burdensome to track the requirements of individual localities and design equipment to comply with the varying standards. Any new government regulations or utility policies pertaining to products that use our solar cells may result in significant additional expenses to us and end users and, as a result, could cause a significant reduction in demand for our solar cells and the products that use our solar cells.

Compliance with environmental regulations can be expensive, and noncompliance with these regulations may result in adverse publicity and potentially significant monetary damages and fines.

As we use, generate and discharge toxic, volatile and otherwise hazardous chemicals and wastes in our research and development and manufacturing activities, we are required by PRC law to obtain pollutant discharging permits and undergo government-administered safety examinations with respect to our production facilities. As of the date of this annual report, our pollutant discharging permits are pending renewal by PRC environmental regulatory agencies,

which we expect to be completed after these agencies complete their inspection of our new manufacturing lines. So far, we have not been assessed any penalty for any non-compliance with PRC environmental laws and regulations. However, we may be required to pay fines, suspend production or cease operation. Any failure by us to control the use of or to adequately restrict the discharge of hazardous substances could subject us to potentially significant monetary damages and fines or suspensions in our business operations.

We have limited insurance coverage and may incur significant losses resulting from operating hazards, product liability claims or business interruptions.

As with other solar power product manufacturers, our operations involve the use, handling, generation, processing, storage, transportation and disposal of hazardous materials, which may result in fires, explosions, spills and other unexpected or dangerous accidents causing personal injuries or death, property damages, environmental damages and business interruptions. We do not currently carry any third-party liability insurance against claims relating to personal injury, property or environmental damage arising from accidents on our properties or relating to our operations. Any occurrence of these or other accidents in our operation could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

We are also exposed to risks associated with product liability claims in the event that the use of the solar power products we sell results in injury. Although our solar cell products do not generate electricity without being incorporated into modules or other solar power devices, it is possible that users could be injured or killed by modules or other devices incorporating our solar cells, whether by product malfunctions, defects, improper installation or other causes. While we have not experienced any product liability claims brought against us, we are unable to predict whether such claims will be brought against us in the future or the effect of any resulting adverse publicity on our business. Moreover, we do not have any product liability insurance and may not have adequate resources to satisfy a judgment in the event of a successful claim against us. The successful assertion of product liability claims against us could result in potentially significant monetary damages and require us to make significant payments.

In addition, the normal operation of our manufacturing facilities may be interrupted by accidents caused by operating hazards, power supply disruptions, equipment failures, as well as natural disasters. As the insurance industry in China is still in an early stage of development, business interruption insurance available in China offers limited coverage compared to that offered in many other countries, and we do not carry any business interruption insurance. Any business disruption or natural disaster could result in substantial costs and diversion of resources, and our business and results of operations may be materially and adversely affected.

For strategic reasons and in an effort to maximize returns on our unused capital reserves, we may, from time to time, invest in securities purchased on the open market, which may, due to market forces beyond our control, result in the recognition of losses that will adversely affect our financial results.

For both strategic reasons and in an effort to maximize the return on our unused capital reserves, we have invested in certain securities purchased on the open market. The fair value of these securities are driven by market forces beyond our control and may decline over time. To protect the value of our investment and minimize the recognition of losses, if any, we may, from time to time, dispose of such securities at the discretion of our Board of Directors. To the extent that we, in compliance with U.S. GAAP and other applicable rules and regulations, determine that a decline in the fair value of any of our securities is other-than-temporary, we are obligated to recognize such decline as a loss, which will in turn adversely affect our financial results.

See also "Item 3. Key Information — D. Risk Factors — Risks Related to Liquidity, the 2008 Convertible Note Offering and Our Relationship with the Lehman Entities."

We may incur significant legal expenses in connection with, and allocate management time and attention to, the legal actions currently filed against us and it is possible that we will not be able to prevail against the plaintiffs.

In December 2008, we learned that we were named as defendant in two putative securities class actions filed in the Unite States District Court for the Southern District of New York: Ellenburg v. JA Solar Holdings Co., Ltd., et al., Civil Action No. 08 CV 10475 (filed on December 3, 2008) and Zhang v. JA Solar Holdings Co., Ltd., et al., Civil Action No. 08 CV 11366 (filed on December 31, 2008). The complaints in the two actions, which are substantially identical, also name as defendants Mr. Huaijin Yang, our chief executive officer, and Mr. Daniel Lui, our former chief financial officer and current chief strategy officer, and allege that the defendants committed securities fraud in violation of Section 10(b) of the United States Securities and Exchange Act. On April 17, 2009, the court consolidated the two cases, appointed a lead plaintiff, and ordered the lead plaintiff to file a consolidated complaint. The lead plaintiff filed the consolidated complaint on June 1, 2009. We intend to file a motion to dismiss the consolidated complaint. Although we cannot predict the outcome of the litigation, we will defend ourselves vigorously in this litigation.

During this processes, we may incur significant legal expenses and allocate management time and attention to the legal actions. Despite our expense and efforts, however, no assurance can be provided that we will be able to prevail against the plaintiffs in the class actions.

Risks Related to Doing Business in China

Adverse changes in political and economic policies of the PRC government could have a material adverse effect on the overall economic growth of China, which could reduce the demand for our products and materially and adversely affect our competitive position.

Substantially all of our business operations are conducted in China. Accordingly, our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects are affected significantly by economic, political and legal developments in China. The Chinese economy differs from the economies of most developed countries in many respects, including:

the amount of government involvement;

• the level of development;

• the growth rate;

• the control of foreign exchange; and

• the allocation of resources.

While the Chinese economy has grown significantly in the past 20 years, the growth has been uneven, both geographically and among various sectors of the economy. The PRC government has implemented various measures to encourage economic growth and guide the allocation of resources. Some of these measures benefit the overall Chinese economy, but may also have a negative effect on us. For example, our financial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected by government control over capital investments or changes in tax regulations that are applicable to us.

The Chinese economy has been transitioning from a planned economy to a more market-oriented economy. Although in recent years the PRC government has implemented measures emphasizing the utilization of market forces for economic reform, the reduction of state ownership of productive assets and the establishment of sound corporate governance in business enterprises, a substantial portion of the productive assets in China is still owned by the PRC government. The continued control of these assets and other aspects of the national economy by the PRC government could materially and adversely affect our business. The PRC government also exercises significant control over Chinese economic growth through the allocation of resources, controlling payment of foreign currency-denominated obligations, setting monetary policy and providing preferential treatment to particular industries or companies. Efforts by the PRC government to slow the pace of growth of the Chinese economy could result in decreased capital expenditure by solar energy users, which in turn could reduce demand for our products.

Any adverse change in the economic conditions or government policies in China could have a material adverse effect on the overall economic growth and the level of renewable energy investments and expenditures in China, which in turn could lead to a reduction in demand for our products and consequently have a material adverse effect on our businesses.

Uncertainties with respect to the PRC legal system could have a material adverse effect on us.

We conduct substantially all of our business inside China through our various wholly-owned subsidiaries and are therefore subject to laws and regulations applicable to foreign investment in China, including laws applicable to wholly foreign-owned enterprises. The PRC legal system is based on written statutes. Prior court decisions may be cited for reference but have limited precedential value. Since 1979, PRC legislation and regulations have significantly enhanced the protections afforded to various forms of foreign investments in China. However, since these laws and regulations are relatively new and the PRC legal system continues to rapidly evolve, the interpretations of many laws, regulations and rules are not always uniform and enforcement of these laws, regulations and rules involve uncertainties, which may limit legal protections available to us. In addition, any litigation in China may be protracted and result in substantial costs and diversion of resources and management attention.

Our operating subsidiaries in China are subject to legal limitations in paying dividends to us.

The payment of dividends by entities organized in China is subject to limitations. Regulations in the PRC currently permit payment of dividends by our PRC subsidiaries only out of accumulated profits as determined in accordance with accounting standards and regulations in China. Our subsidiaries are also required to set aside at least 10.0% of their after-tax profits based on PRC accounting standards each year to their general reserves until the accumulative amount of such reserves reach 50.0% of their respective registered capital. These reserves are not distributable as cash dividends. In addition, at the discretion of their respective Board of Directors, our PRC subsidiaries may allocate a portion of their after-tax profits to their respective staff welfare and bonus funds, which may not be distributed to equity owners except in the event of liquidation. Further, if our PRC subsidiaries incur debt on their own behalf in the future, the instruments governing the debt may restrict their ability to pay dividends or make other distributions to us. Limitations on the ability of our PRC subsidiaries to pay dividends to us could materially and adversely limit our ability to grow, make investments or acquisitions that could be beneficial to our businesses, pay dividends, or otherwise fund and conduct our businesss.

Fluctuation in the value of the Renminbi versus that of other foreign currencies may have a material adverse effect on our business and on your investment.

The change in value of the Renminbi against the U.S. dollar, Euro and other currencies is affected by, among other things, changes in China's political and economic conditions. On July 21, 2005, the PRC government changed its decade-old policy of pegging the value of the Renminbi to the U.S. dollar. Under the new policy, the Renminbi is permitted to fluctuate within a narrow and managed band against a basket of certain foreign currencies. This change in policy has resulted in an appreciation of the Renminbi from approximately RMB 8.2765 per US\$1.00 as of July 21, 2005 to RMB 6.8225 per US\$1.00 as of December 31, 2008. While the international reaction to the Renminbi revaluation has generally been positive, there remains significant international pressure on the PRC government to adopt an even more flexible currency policy, which could result in a further and more significant appreciation of the Renminbi against the U.S. dollar. As a significant portion of our costs and expenses is denominated in Renminbi, the

revaluation in July 2005 and potential future revaluation has and could further increase our costs.

In addition, any significant revaluation of the Renminbi may have a material adverse effect on our revenues and financial condition, and the value of, and any dividends payable on, our ADSs in foreign currency terms. For example, to the extent that we need to convert U.S. dollars into Renminbi for our operations, an appreciation of the Renminbi against the U.S. dollar would have an adverse effect on the Renminbi amount we receive from the conversion. In this particular regard, for the year ended December 31, 2008, we incurred foreign exchange loss totaling up to RMB 127.4 million (US\$18.7 million). Conversely, if we decide to convert our Renminbi into U.S. dollars for the purpose of making payments for dividends on our ordinary shares or ADSs or for other business purposes, appreciation of the U.S. dollar against the Renminbi may have a negative effect on the U.S. dollar amount available for these purposes.

In addition, an appreciation in the value of the Renminbi against foreign currencies could make our solar cells more expensive for our international customers as well as reduce the competitiveness of our PRC customers in the international market, thus potentially leading to a reduction in our sales and profitability. Furthermore, many of our competitors are foreign companies that could benefit from such a currency fluctuation, making it more difficult for us to compete with these companies. We cannot predict the impact of future exchange rate fluctuations on our results of operations and may continue to incur net foreign currency losses in the future. Although we intend to reduce the effect of exchange rate exposure through hedging arrangements, we cannot assure you that such hedging activities will be effective in managing our foreign exchange risk exposure. Continued fluctuations in exchange rates, particularly among the U.S. dollar, Euro and the Renminbi could result in foreign exchange losses and affect our gross and net profit margins.

PRC regulations on currency exchange and foreign investment may limit our ability to receive and use our revenues effectively and may delay or prevent us from using the proceeds from our fundraising activities to make loans or additional capital contributions to our PRC operating subsidiaries.

Substantially all of our revenues and a significant portion of our expenses are denominated in Renminbi. If our revenues denominated in Renminbi increase or expenses denominated in Renminbi decrease in the future, we may need to convert a portion of our revenues into other currencies to meet our foreign currency obligations, including, among others, payment of dividends declared, if any, in respect of our ordinary shares. Under China's existing foreign exchange regulations, our PRC subsidiaries are able to pay dividends in foreign currencies, without prior approval from the State Administration of Foreign Exchange ("SAFE"), by complying with certain procedural requirements. However, we cannot assure you that the PRC government will not take further measures in the future to restrict access to foreign currencies for current account transactions.

Foreign exchange transactions by our PRC subsidiaries under the capital account continue to be subject to significant foreign exchange controls and require the approval of PRC governmental authorities, including the SAFE. To utilize the proceeds of our initial public offering and our follow-on offering as an offshore holding company of our PRC operating subsidiaries, we may make loans to our PRC subsidiaries, or we may make additional capital contributions to our PRC subsidiaries. Any loans to our PRC subsidiaries are subject to PRC regulations. For example, loans by us to our subsidiaries in China, which are foreign-invested enterprises ("FIEs"), to finance their activities cannot exceed statutory limits and must be registered with the SAFE.

We may also finance our subsidiaries by means of capital contributions. These capital contributions must be approved by the PRC Ministry of Commerce or its local counterparts ("MOFCOM"). We cannot assure you that we will be able to obtain these government approvals on a timely basis, if at all, with respect to future capital contributions by us to our subsidiaries. If we fail to receive such approvals, our ability to use the proceeds we have received from our initial

public offering and our follow-on offering and to capitalize our PRC operations may be negatively affected, which could materially and adversely affect our liquidity and our ability to fund and expand our business.

Our business benefits from certain PRC government incentives. Expiration of, or changes to, these incentives could have a material adverse effect on our operating results.

In accordance with the PRC's Foreign Enterprise Income Tax ("FEIT") Law ("FEIT Law") and the related implementation rules, FIEs established in the PRC are generally subject to FEIT at a state tax rate of 30% plus a local tax rate of 3% on PRC taxable income. Our operating subsidiary, JA Hebei, was established as a FIE in the PRC and is thus subject to PRC enterprise income tax of 33%. The PRC government has provided certain incentives to FIEs in order to encourage foreign investments, including tax exemptions, tax reductions and other measures. Under the FEIT Law and the related implementation rules, FIEs are entitled to be exempted from FEIT for a 2-year period starting from their first profit-making year followed by a 50% reduction of FEIT payable for the subsequent three years, provided that they fall into the category of production-oriented enterprises with an operational period of more than 10 years in China, subject to approval from and modification by local taxation authorities. Specifically, with respect to income generated by assets acquired by JA Hebei during the fiscal years 2005 and 2006, JA Hebei will receive a two-year enterprise income tax exemption for 2006 and 2007, as well as a 50% enterprise income tax reduction for 2008, 2009 and 2010. With respect to income generated by assets newly acquired by JA Hebei during 2007, JA Hebei will receive a two-year enterprise income tax exemption for 2007 and 2008, as well as a 50% enterprise income tax reduction for 2009, 2010 and 2011, subject to the approval of the provincial tax authority. JA Hebei has obtained the approval of the relevant county-level and provincial-level tax authority in this regard, which, however, may be subject to PRC central government's further policies, decisions or rulings.

In March 2007, the National People's Congress of China enacted a new Corporate Income Tax ("CIT") Law (or "CIT Law"), which became effective on January 1, 2008 and replaced the FEIT Law. The CIT Law imposes a unified income tax rate of 25% on all domestic enterprises and FIEs unless they qualify under certain limited exceptions. The CIT Law provides a transition period to FIEs, during which they are permitted to grandfather their existing preferential income tax treatment until such treatment expires in accordance with its current terms. In December 2007, the State Council promulgated the Notice on Implementation of Corporate Income Tax regarding Transition Period Preferential Treatment (the "Transition Period Implementation Rules"). According to such regulations, the CIT Law and the Transition Period Implementation Rules do not affect the preferential income tax treatment enjoyed by JA Hebei during the transition period. When our currently available tax benefits expire or otherwise become unavailable, the effective income tax rate of JA Hebei will increase significantly, and any increase of JA Hebei's income tax rate in the future could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

Our operating subsidiary, JA Yangzhou, was established as a FIE in the PRC and was thus subject to a PRC enterprise income tax of 33% until 2007 and changed to the uniform rate of 25% in 2008. JA Yangzhou had cumulative losses as of December 31, 2008 and its tax holidays will be deemed to have commenced in 2008 and can be utilized until expiry pursuant to the new CIT Law.

Our operating subsidiary, JA Zhabei, which is not a production-oriented enterprise, is subject to the uniform rate of 25% from 2008 onwards and not entitled to the tax holiday.

Dividends we receive from our operating subsidiaries located in the PRC may be subject to PRC withholding tax.

The newly enacted CIT Law provides that a maximum income tax rate of 20% may be applicable to dividends payable to non-PRC investors that are "non-resident enterprises," to the extent such dividends are derived from sources within the PRC, and the State Council has reduced such rate to 10% through the implementation regulations. We are a Cayman Islands holding company and substantially all of our income may be derived from dividends we receive from our operating subsidiaries located in the PRC. Thus, dividends paid to us by our subsidiaries in China may be subject

to the 10% income tax if we are considered as a "non-resident enterprise" under the CIT Law. If we are required under the CIT Law to pay income tax for any dividends we receive from our subsidiaries, it will materially and adversely affect the amount of dividends, if any, we may pay to our shareholders and ADS holders.

We may be deemed a PRC resident enterprise under the CIT Law and be subject to the PRC taxation on our worldwide income.

The CIT Law also provides that enterprises established outside of China whose "de facto management bodies" are located in China are considered "resident enterprises" and are generally subject to the uniform 25% enterprise income tax rate as to their worldwide income. Under the implementation regulations for the CIT Law issued by the PRC State Council, "de facto management body" is defined as a body that has material and overall management and control over the manufacturing and business operations, personnel and human resources, finances and treasury, and acquisition and disposition of properties and other assets of an enterprise. If we are treated as a resident enterprise for PRC tax purposes, we will be subject to PRC tax on our worldwide income at the 25% uniform tax rate, which could have an impact on our effective tax rate and an adverse effect on our net income and results of operations, although dividends distributed from our PRC subsidiaries to us could be exempt from Chinese dividend withholding tax, since such income is exempted under the new CIT Law to a PRC resident recipient.

Dividends payable by us to our foreign investors and gain on the sale of our ADSs or ordinary shares may become subject to taxes under PRC tax laws.

Under the CIT Law and implementation regulations issued by the State Council, PRC income tax at the rate of 10% is applicable to dividends payable to investors that are "non-resident enterprises," which do not have an establishment or place of business in the PRC, or which have such establishment or place of business but the relevant income is not effectively connected with the establishment or place of business, to the extent such dividends have their sources within the PRC. Similarly, any gain realized on the transfer of ADSs or shares by such investors is also subject to 10% PRC income tax if such gain is regarded as income derived from sources within the PRC. If we are considered a PRC "resident enterprise," it is unclear whether dividends we pay with respect to our ordinary shares or ADSs, or the gain you may realize from the transfer of our ordinary shares or ADSs, would be treated as income derived from sources within the PRC and be subject to PRC tax. If we are required under the CIT Law to withhold PRC income tax on dividends payable to our non-PRC investors that are "non-resident enterprises," or if you are required to pay PRC income tax on the transfer of our ordinary shares or ADSs, the value of your investment in our ordinary shares or ADSs may be materially and adversely affected.

We face risks related to health epidemics and other outbreaks.

Our business could be adversely affected by the effects of swine flu, avian flu, SARS or another epidemic or outbreak. China reported a number of cases of SARS in April 2004. In 2005 and 2006, there have been reports on the occurrences of avian flu in various parts of China, including a few confirmed human cases. Most recently, there have been reports on the occurrences of swine flu in humans in various parts of China. Any prolonged recurrence of avian flu, SARS, negative developments with swine flu or other adverse public health developments in China may have a material adverse effect on our business operations. These could include our ability to travel or ship our products outside China, as well as temporary closure of our manufacturing facilities. Such closures or travel or shipment restrictions would severely disrupt our business operations and adversely affect our results of operations. We have not adopted any written preventive measures or contingency plans to combat swine flu or any future outbreak of avian flu, SARS or any other epidemic.

Recent PRC regulations relating to the establishment of offshore special purpose companies by PRC residents may subject our PRC resident shareholders to personal liability and limit our ability to inject capital into our PRC subsidiaries, limit our PRC subsidiaries' ability to distribute profits to us, or otherwise adversely affect us.

In October 2005, the PRC SAFE issued a circular concerning foreign exchange regulations on investments by PRC residents in China through special purpose companies incorporated overseas (or "SPV"), or Circular No. 75, and the implementation procedures of such regulations have been further clarified by circular No. 106 issued by the Department of General Affairs of SAFE on May 29, 2007. Circular No. 75 states that, if PRC residents use assets or equity interests in their domestic entities as capital contribution to establish offshore companies or inject assets or equity interests of their PRC entities into offshore companies to raise capital overseas, such PRC residents must register with local SAFE branches with respect to their overseas investments in offshore companies and must also file amendments to their registrations if their offshore companies experience material events, such as changes in share capital, share transfer, mergers and acquisitions, spin-off transactions or use of assets in China to guarantee offshore obligations. Our shareholders who are PRC residents as determined by the relevant branch of SAFE have registered with the relevant branch of SAFE with respect to their investments in us and our acquisition of their interests in JA Hebei as currently required. However, we cannot provide any assurances that their existing registrations have fully complied with, and they will make necessary amendments to their registration to fully comply with, all applicable registrations or approvals required by these SAFE circulars. The failure or inability of our PRC resident shareholders to comply with the registration procedures set forth therein may subject these PRC resident shareholders to fines and legal sanctions, restrict our cross-border investment activities, or limit our PRC subsidiary' ability to distribute dividends to our company.

As it is uncertain how SAFE will interpret or implement these circulars, we cannot predict how this circular and other SAFE circulars will affect our business operations or future strategies. For example, we may be subject to more stringent review and approval process with respect to our foreign exchange activities, such as remittance of dividends and foreign currency-denominated borrowings, which may adversely affect our business and prospects.

PRC rules on mergers and acquisitions may subject us to sanctions, fines and other penalties and affect our future business growth through acquisition of complementary business.

On August 8, 2006, six PRC government and regulatory authorities, including the MOFCOM and the China Securities Regulatory Commission (or the "CSRC"), promulgated a rule entitled Provisions regarding Mergers and Acquisitions of Domestic Enterprises by Foreign Investors (or the "New M&A Rule"), which became effective on September 8, 2006. The New M&A Rule, among other things, requires that an offshore SPV formed for the listing purpose through acquisition of PRC domestic entity and controlled by PRC residents should obtain approval from the CSRC prior to publicly listing its securities on an overseas stock market. Based on consultation with the International Department of the CSRC regarding its interpretation of the New M&A Rule, our PRC counsel, Tian Yuan Law Firm, advised us that the CSRC approval was not required for our initial public offering and the listing of our ADSs on The Nasdaq Global Market and this offering. However, we cannot assure you that the relevant PRC governmental agencies, including MOFCOM and other applicable departments of the CSRC, would reach the same conclusion as our PRC counsel. If the CSRC or other PRC regulatory body subsequently determines that the CSRC's approval was required for our initial and follow-on offerings and the listing of our ADSs on the Nasdaq Global Market, we may face sanctions by the CSRC or other PRC regulatory agencies. In such event, these regulatory agencies may impose fines and penalties on our operations in the PRC, limit our operating privileges in the PRC, delay or restrict the repatriation of the proceeds from our public offering into the PRC, or take other actions that could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, reputation and prospects, as well as the trading price of our ADSs.

The New M&A Rule also established additional procedures and requirements that could make merger and acquisition activities by foreign investors more time-consuming and complex, including requirements in some instances that MOFCOM be notified in advance of any change-of-control transaction in which a foreign investor takes control of a

PRC domestic enterprise. In the future, we may grow our business in part by acquiring complementary businesses, although we do not have any plans to do so at this time. Complying with the requirements of the New M&A Rule to complete such transactions could be time-consuming, and any required approval processes, including obtaining approval from MOFCOM, may delay or inhibit the completion of such transactions, which could affect our ability to expand our business or maintain our market share.

All employee participants in our existing stock option plans who are PRC citizens may be required to register with SAFE. We may also face regulatory uncertainties that could restrict our ability to adopt additional option plans for our directors and employees under PRC law.

To implement the Administrative Rule on Foreign Exchange Matters of Individuals and its related Implementing Rule, on April 6, 2007, the department of general administration affairs of SAFE issued the Operating Procedures for Administration of Domestic Individuals Participating in the Employee Stock Option Plan or Stock Option Plan of An Overseas Listed Company, or Circular No. 78. For any employee stock incentive plans which are so covered and are adopted by an overseas listed company, Circular No. 78 requires the employee participants who are PRC citizens to register their participation in the plan with SAFE or its local branch and report to such agency within ten days of the beginning of each quarter after their initial registration. Registration should be made by July 5, 2007 if the employee participated in such plan prior to April 6, 2007. In addition, Circular No. 78 also requires the employee participants who are PRC citizens to follow a series of requirements on making necessary applications for foreign exchange purchase quota, opening special bank account and filings with SAFE or its local branch before they exercise their stock option.

Circular No. 78 has not yet been made publicly available or formally promulgated by SAFE, but SAFE has begun enforcing its provisions. Nonetheless, it is not predictable whether it will continue to enforce this circular or adopt additional or different requirements with respect to equity compensation plans or incentive plans. If it is determined that our employee stock option plan is subject to Circular 78, failure to comply with such provisions may subject us and the participants of our employee stock option plan who are PRC citizens to obstacles in converting benefits received under such plan into Renminbi, as well as fines and legal sanctions, and prevent us from further granting options under our employee stock incentive plan to our employees, which could adversely affect our business operations. To help mitigate this risk, we have registered our 2006 stock incentive plan with Hebei Provincial Administration of Foreign Exchange in accordance with Circular No. 78 and obtained its approval in February 2008.

Risks Related to Liquidity, the 2008 Convertible Note Offering and Our Relationship with the Lehman Entities

We have financed our operations primarily through equity contributions by our shareholders, our initial and follow-on public offerings, a convertible note offering, short-term bank borrowings and cash flow from operations. However, we may require additional cash in the future and may not be able to secure such cash on favorable terms, if at all.

Working capital and access to financing for purchase of silicon raw materials are critical to growing and sustaining our business. We have significant working capital commitments because suppliers of silicon wafers and polysilicon require us to make prepayments in advance of shipments. Although we believe that current cash and cash equivalents and anticipated cash flow from operations will be sufficient to meet our anticipated cash needs, including our cash needs for working capital and capital expenditures, for at least the next twelve months, we may, however, require additional cash to repay existing debt obligations or to re-finance our existing debts or due to changing business conditions or other future developments.

If our existing cash is insufficient to meet our requirements, we may seek to sell additional equity securities, debt securities or borrow from lending institutions. The current global liquidity and credit crisis since the second half of 2008 has been having a significant negative impact on the financing abilities of businesses worldwide, including that of our company. If we are not able to generate sufficient cash flow to meet such obligations, we may need to refinance or restructure our debt, sell assets, reduce or delay capital investments, or seek additional equity or debt financing. We

cannot assure you that financing will be available in the amounts we need or on terms acceptable to us, if at all. The sale of additional equity securities, including convertible debt securities, would dilute our shareholders. The incurrence of debt would result in increased interest rate risk, divert cash for working capital and capital expenditures to service debt obligations and could result in operating and financial covenants that restrict our operations and our ability to pay dividends to our shareholders, if any.

A shortage of such funds could in turn impose limitations on our ability to plan for, or react effectively to, changing market conditions or to expand through organic and acquisitive growth, thereby reducing our competitiveness.

The significant amount and the structure of our recent offering of senior convertible notes could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We incurred a significant amount of debt and substantial debt service requirements as a result of the May 2008 offering ("2008 Offering") of the 4.5% senior convertible notes issue by us and maturing on May 15, 2013 (the "Senior Notes"). As of December 31, 2008, we had \$321.474 million of indebtedness outstanding. Our substantial indebtedness could have significant consequences on our future operations, including:

re	equiring us to use a substantial portion of our cash flow from
o	perations to service our indebtedness, which would reduce our
c	ash flow available for working capital, capital expenditures,
d	evelopment projects and other general corporate purposes;

limiting our flexibility in planning for or reacting to, and increasing our vulnerability to, changes in our business, the industry in which we operate and the general economy; and

placing us at a competitive disadvantage compared to our competitors who have less debt or are less leveraged.

Any of the above-listed factors could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our ability to meet our payment and other obligations depends on our ability to generate significant cash flow in the future. This, to some extent, is subject to general economic, financial, competitive, legislative and regulatory factors as well as other factors that are beyond our control. We cannot assure you that our business will generate sufficient cash flows from operations, or that future borrowings will be available to us in amounts sufficient and on terms reasonable to us to support our liquidity needs. If we are not able to generate sufficient cash flow to service our debt obligations, we may need to refinance or restructure our debt, including our Senior Notes, sell assets, reduce or delay capital investments, or seek to raise additional capital.

Our functional currency is different from the denomination of the Senior Notes and the company's early redemption option is contingent upon its ADS price. Therefore, in accordance with SFAS No. 133, "Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities", the company accounted for the conversion feature, early redemption option and conversion rate adjustment feature (together, "Embedded Derivatives") as a freestanding instrument separately in the balance sheet. The Senior Notes were recorded with a discount equal to the value of the Embedded Derivatives at the transaction date and will be accreted to the redemption value of the Senior Notes over the life of the Senior Notes. The change in fair value of the Embedded Derivatives and capped call options are recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Operations which may potentially increase the level of our earnings volatility.

We may incur additional indebtedness. If we do so, our increased debt service requirements may adversely affect our ability to meet our payment obligations on our currently outstanding Senior Notes and otherwise successfully grow and operate our business.

Legal action against the Lehman Entities in connection with the Lehman Entities' insolvency proceedings could be expensive, time-consuming and ultimately unsuccessful.

We currently have the following business relationships with the Lehman Entities around the world:

1.) an investment of US\$ 100 million in note issued by Lehman Brothers Treasury Co. BV ("Lehman BV") (the "Lehman Note"(1)); and

- 2.) an ADS lending agreement dated as of May 13, 2008 with Lehman Brothers International (Europe) ("LBIE").
- 3.)a capped call confirmation dated May 13, 2008 with Lehman Brothers OTC Derivatives Inc. ("Lehman OTC") (the "Capped Call");

All of the Lehman Entities are now undergoing insolvency proceedings in various countries. Therefore, even though the Lehman Note matured in October 2008, the insolvency proceedings prevented the payment of the Lehman Note and our attempts to collect the amounts due on the Lehman Note. In addition, we are in the process of seeking the return of the ADSs borrowed by LBIE under the ADS lending agreements. Furthermore, in light of the insolvency proceedings, the Lehman OTC's obligations under the Capped Call may not be enforced and, as a result, are currently under dispute. During this process, we may incur significant legal expenses and allocate management time and attention to the legal action. Despite our expense and efforts, however, no assurance can be provided that we will be able to recover any of the shares or monies-owed or be awarded any damages from the Lehman Entities.

(1) Lehman Note. We have an approximately US\$100 million USD 3-Month Lehman Brothers Commodity Alpha Trading Strategies I Excess Return ("LCMNER") Index-Linked note, issued by Lehman BV and guaranteed by Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc. (or "LBHI"). The Lehman Note is linked to an index of LCMNER. The maturity date of the Lehnman Note was October 9, 2008, with 100% principal protection guaranteed by LBHI. The Lehman Note and the guarantee rank equally with all unsecured obligations of the issuer and guarantor. On September 19, 2008, the Amsterdam District Court granted Lehman BV a provisional suspension of payments and subsequently declared Lehman BV bankrupt on October 8, 2008. The Lehman Note was not repaid by Lehman BV and we have made a full impairment amounting to RMB 686,320,000 against the Lehman Note. We have filed a claim with the administrators of Lehman BV for recovery of the US\$100 million and are working with lawyers to monitor the status of the bankruptcy. Any portion of its investment that we are able to recover in the future will be recorded as other income.

Risks Related to Our Ordinary Shares and ADSs

The market price for our ADSs has been volatile.

The market price for our ADSs has been and may continue to be highly volatile and subject to wide fluctuations. From the initial listing of our ADSs on the Nasdaq Global Market on February 7, 2007 to February 7, 2008, the closing prices of our ADSs have ranged from US\$16.30 to US\$75.43 per ADS. Then from the day after the date of our 3-for-1 ADS split (February 7, 2008) to the date of this annual report, the closing prices of our ADSs have ranged from US\$1.8 to US\$25.75 per ADS. The last reported trading price of our ADSs on June 24, 2009 was US\$4.60 per ADS. The price of our ADSs may continue to fluctuate in response to factors including the following:

- announcements of technological or competitive developments;
- •regulatory developments in our target markets affecting us, our customers, our potential customers or our competitors;
 - announcements regarding patent litigation or the issuance of patents to us or our competitors;
- announcements of studies and reports relating to the conversion efficiencies of our products or those of our competitors;

- actual or anticipated fluctuations in our quarterly operating results;
 - changes in financial estimates by securities research analysts;
- changes in the economic performance or market valuations of other photovoltaic technology companies;
 - addition or departure of our executive officers and key research personnel;

- fluctuations in the exchange rate between the U.S. dollar and RMB;
- release or expiry of lock-up or other transfer restrictions on our outstanding ordinary shares or ADSs;
 - sales or perceived sales of additional ordinary shares or ADSs; and
 - the outcome of the various legal actions we are taking against the Lehman Entities are uncertain.

In addition, the securities markets have from time to time experienced significant price and volume fluctuations that are not related to the operating performance of particular companies. These market fluctuations may also have a material adverse effect on the market price of our ADSs.

Our most current memorandum and articles of association contain anti-takeover provisions that could have a material adverse effect on the rights of holders of our ordinary shares and ADSs.

Our most current memorandum and articles of association limit the ability of others to acquire control of our company or cause us to engage in change-of-control transactions. These provisions could have the effect of depriving our shareholders of an opportunity to sell their shares at a premium over prevailing market prices by discouraging third parties from seeking to obtain control of our company in a tender offer or similar transaction. For example, our Board of Directors has the authority, without further action by our shareholders, to issue preferred shares in one or more series and to fix their designations, powers, preferences, privileges, and relative participating, optional or special rights and the qualifications, limitations or restrictions, including dividend rights, conversion rights, voting rights, terms of redemption and liquidation preferences, any or all of which may be greater than the rights associated with our ordinary shares, in the form of ADS or otherwise. Preferred shares could be issued quickly with terms calculated to delay or prevent a change in control of our company or make removal of management more difficult. If our Board of Directors decides to issue preferred shares, the price of our ADSs may fall and the voting and other rights of the holders of our ordinary shares and ADSs may be materially and adversely affected.

Holders of ADSs have fewer rights than shareholders and must act through the depositary to exercise those rights.

Holders of ADSs do not have the same rights of our shareholders and may only exercise the voting rights with respect to the underlying ordinary shares in accordance with the provisions of the deposit agreement. Under our most current memorandum and articles of association, the minimum notice period required to convene a general meeting will be ten days. When a general meeting is convened, you may not receive sufficient notice of a shareholders' meeting to permit you to withdraw your ordinary shares to allow you to cast your vote with respect to any specific matter. In addition, the depositary and its agents may not be able to send voting instructions to you or carry out your voting instructions in a timely manner. We will make all reasonable efforts to cause the depositary to extend voting rights to you in a timely manner, but we cannot assure you that you will receive the voting materials in time to ensure that you can instruct the depositary to vote your ADSs. Furthermore, the depositary and its agents will not be responsible for any failure to carry out any instructions to vote, for the manner in which any vote is cast or for the effect of any such vote. As a result, you may not be able to exercise your right to vote and you may lack recourse if your ADSs are not voted as you requested. In addition, in your capacity as an ADS holder, you will not be able to call a shareholder meeting.

You may be subject to limitations on transfers of your ADSs.

Your ADSs are transferable on the books of the depositary. However, the depositary may close its transfer books at any time or from time to time when it deems expedient in connection with the performance of its duties. In addition, the depositary may refuse to deliver, transfer or register transfers of ADSs generally when our books or the books of the depositary are closed, or at any time if we or the depositary deem it advisable to do so because of any requirement of law or of any government or governmental body, or under any provision of the deposit agreement, or for any other reason.

ADS holders' right to participate in any future rights offerings may be limited, which may cause dilution to your holdings and you may not receive cash dividends if it is impractical to make them available to you.

We may from time to time distribute rights to our shareholders, including rights to acquire our securities. However, we cannot make rights available to you in the United States unless we register the rights and the securities to which the rights relate under the Securities Act or an exemption from the registration requirements is available. Also, under the deposit agreement, the depositary bank will not make rights available to you unless the distribution to ADS holders of both the rights and any related securities are either registered under the Securities Act, or exempted from registration under the Securities Act. We are under no obligation to file a registration statement with respect to any such rights or securities or to endeavor to cause such a registration statement to be declared effective. Moreover, we may not be able to establish an exemption from registration under the Securities Act. Accordingly, you may be unable to participate in our rights offerings and may experience dilution in your holdings.

In addition, the depositary of our ADSs has agreed to pay to you the cash dividends or other distributions it or the custodian receives on our ordinary shares or other deposited securities after deducting its fees and expenses. You will receive these distributions in proportion to the number of ordinary shares your ADSs represent. However, the depositary may, at its discretion, decide that it is inequitable or impractical to make a distribution available to any holders of ADSs. For example, the depositary may determine that it is not practicable to distribute certain property through the mail, or that the value of certain distributions may be less than the cost of mailing them. In these cases, the depositary may decide not to distribute such property and you will not receive such distribution.

We are a Cayman Islands company and, because judicial precedent regarding the rights of shareholders is more limited under Cayman Islands law than that under U.S. law, you may have less protection for your shareholder rights than you would under U.S. law.

Our corporate affairs are governed by our most current memorandum and articles of association, the Cayman Islands Companies Law and the common law of the Cayman Islands. The rights of shareholders to take action against the directors, actions by minority shareholders and the fiduciary responsibilities of our directors to us under Cayman Islands law are to a large extent governed by the common law of the Cayman Islands. The common law of the Cayman Islands is derived in part from comparatively limited judicial precedent in the Cayman Islands as well as that from English common law, which has persuasive, but not binding, authority on a court in the Cayman Islands. The rights of our shareholders and the fiduciary responsibilities of our directors under Cayman Islands law are not as clearly established as they would be under statutes or judicial precedent in some jurisdictions in the United States. In particular, the Cayman Islands has a less developed body of securities laws than the United States. In addition, some U.S. states, such as Delaware, have more fully developed and judicially interpreted bodies of corporate law than the Cayman Islands.

As a result of all of the above, public shareholders may have more difficulty in protecting their interests in the face of actions taken by our management, our Board of Directors or our controlling shareholders than they would as shareholders of a U.S. public company.

You may have difficulty enforcing judgments obtained against us.

We are a Cayman Islands company and substantially all of our assets are located outside of the United States. Substantially all of our current operations are conducted in the PRC. In addition, most of our directors and officers are nationals and residents of countries other than the United States. A substantial portion of the assets of these persons are located outside the United States. As a result, it may be difficult for you to effect service of process within the United States upon these persons. It may also be difficult for you to enforce in U.S. courts judgments obtained in U.S. courts based on the civil liability provisions of the U.S. federal securities laws against us and our officers and directors, most of whom are not residents in the United States and the substantial majority of whose assets are located outside of the United States. In addition, there is uncertainty as to whether the courts of the Cayman Islands or the PRC would recognize or enforce judgments of U.S. courts against us or such persons predicated upon the civil liability provisions of the securities laws of the United States or any state. In addition, it is uncertain whether such Cayman Islands or PRC courts would be competent to hear original actions brought in the Cayman Islands or the PRC against us or such persons predicated upon the securities laws of the United States or any state.

ITEM 4. INFORMATION ON THE COMPANY

A. HISTORY AND DEVELOPMENT OF THE COMPANY

We commenced our business in May 2005 through JingAo Solar Co., Ltd., or JA Hebei, a limited liability company established in China. To enable us to raise equity capital from investors outside of China, we established a holding company structure by incorporating JA Development Co., Ltd., or JA BVI, in the British Virgin Islands in July 2006. JA BVI acquired all of the equity interests in JA Hebei through a series of transactions that have been accounted for as a recapitalization. In particular, JA BVI paid US\$15 million to JA Hebei's former shareholders in proportion to their percentage of ownership in JA Hebei before the recapitalization to acquire all of the equity interests of JA Hebei, and the former shareholders of JA Hebei. As a result, the percentage of common share ownership before and after the recapitalization remained the same. The net effect of the US\$15 million payment and the US\$6.75 million contribution is a return of capital of US\$8.25 million to the former shareholders of JA Hebei, which was accounted for as a net return of capital to shareholders with a charge to additional paid-in-capital in September 2006.

We undertook a restructuring by incorporating JA Solar Holdings Co., Ltd., or JA Solar, in the Cayman Islands as our listing vehicle, followed by JA Solar's issuance of shares to all existing shareholders of JA BVI in exchange for all of the shares that these shareholders held in JA BVI. Upon completion of the restructuring in August 2006, JA BVI became a wholly-owned subsidiary of JA Solar, and JA Solar became our ultimate holding company.

In November 2006, we established our subsidiary in Fengxian, Shanghai, Shanghai JA Solar Technology Co., Ltd., or JA Fengxian, in the form of a Sino-foreign joint venture limited liability company that is 43.75% owned by JA Hebei and 56.25% owned by JA BVI. In March 2007, JA BVI and JA Hebei entered into a share transfer agreement, under which JA BVI acquired JA Hebei's 43.75% equity interest in JA Fengxian and became the sole shareholder of JA Fengxian. In April 2007, we caused JA BVI to incorporate a wholly-owned subsidiary in California, U.S.A., JA Solar USA Inc., to engage in after-sales and other related services in the U.S. In June 2007, we caused JA BVI to establish a wholly-owned subsidiary in Zhabei, Shanghai, Shanghai JA Solar PV Technology Co., Ltd. In November 2007, for purposes of conducting our future operations in Yangzhou, Jiangsu Province, we acquired Yangzhou Jinhong Technology Development Co., Ltd., a shell company established in 2006 but did not yet actively engage in any operations. We renamed this entity JA Solar Technology Yangzhou Co., Ltd., which is now wholly owned by JA BVI. In December 2007, we established another wholly-owned subsidiary in Hong Kong, JA Solar Hong Kong Limited. In October 2008, we caused JA Hong Kong to incorporate a wholly owned subsidiary in Donghai, Jiangsu,

Jing Hai Yang Semiconductor Materials (Donghai) Co., Ltd. In March 2009, we caused JA Yangzhou to incorporate a wholly owned subsidiary in Jiangsu, China, Yangzhou JA Solar R&D Corporation Limited.

See also "Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects – B. Liquidity and Capital Resources – Capital Expenditures" and "Item 14. Material Modifications to the Rights of Security Holders and Use of Proceeds – B. Use of Proceeds."

The following diagram illustrates our corporate structure, the place of formation and the ownership interests of our subsidiaries as of the date of this annual report.

* Indicates the jurisdiction of incorporation.

Our principal executive offices are located at No. 36, Jiang Chang San Road, Zhabei, Shanghai, The People's Republic of China. Our telephone number at this address is (86) 21-60955999 and our fax number is (86) 21-60955727.

Investor inquiries should be directed to us at the address and telephone number of our principal executive offices set forth above. Our website is www.jasolar.com. The information contained on our website is not part of this annual report. Our agent for service of process in the United States is CT Corporation System, located at 111 Eighth Avenue, New York, New York 10011.

B. BUSINESS OVERVIEW

Overview

We believe that we are one of the leading China-based manufacturers of high-performance solar cells as measured by solar cell production in 2008. We were established in May 2005 and commenced commercial operations in April 2006 with one solar cell manufacturing line of 25 MW per annum. With our experienced technical and production teams, we reached full production capacity on our first manufacturing line in July 2006 and, by the end of 2008, have increased our production capacity to 600 MW per annum. We expect to have a total of 35 operating manufacturing lines by the end of 2009 with a total rated manufacturing capacity per annum of 875 MW.

We generally sell our products to solar module manufacturers who assemble and integrate our solar cells into modules and systems that convert sunlight into electricity. Solar modules and systems that incorporate our products are distributed globally, including to end-customers in Europe, Asia and the Americas.

Our Products

We are focused on solar cell design and manufacturing, a stage in the solar power industry value chain that we believe has a significant amount of technology value added which results in higher profit potential and higher barriers to entry. We design, manufacture and market high-performance solar cells, which are made from specially processed silicon wafers. Our solar cells are assembled and integrated into solar modules and systems that convert sunlight into electricity through a process known as the photovoltaic effect. Solar cells are the key components of solar modules.

We currently produce and sell both monocrystalline and multicrystalline solar cells. We also provide cell processing services to some of our customers who supply us with their own wafers and we process these wafers into solar cells that are sold back to them. As an additional service to our customers, we also engage third party OEM producers to assemble the solar cells we produce into solar modules that meet our customers' requirements.

For revenues derived from our different activities, please see "Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects — A. Operating Results — Revenues."

Product Features

Efficiency, format and cell thickness are the most important properties in determining production costs and sale price of solar cells.

• Cell Efficiency. Cell efficiency refers to the ratio of the maximum power output of electric energy released and the light received. A cell with a higher degree of efficiency (having the same format) generates more electricity. Efficiency is a key determinant for sale price and therefore affects the profitability margins of the manufacturer. In the fourth quarter of 2008, our monocrystalline solar cells achieved efficiency levels with an average range of 16.77% to 17.27% and our multicrystalline solar cells achieved efficiency levels with an average range of 15.12% to 15.62%. Cell efficiency is mainly affected by the following factors:

•

Wafer Quality. The quality of the wafer from which a cell is produced is of significant importance for the processing and the efficiency of the cells.

• Manufacturing Process. We believe that we have developed and implemented advanced manufacturing processes in our production facilities. For example, we use special techniques in the diffusion process in order to fabricate high-performance cells with improved cell efficiency. In addition, we have a well-trained maintenance team that continuously monitors each step of our manufacturing process. We believe that this monitoring system has helped us maintain consistency and uniformity in the solar cells we produce and overall improved our cell efficiency, as well as helped us minimize the down-time of our manufacturing lines.

- Format. The larger the format of a cell, the greater its power output (having the same efficiency). Accordingly, larger cells (having the same efficiency) can be sold for a higher price. On the other hand, a larger format generally results in increased breakage rates and higher material cost per watt. Given the different size of the wafers we currently obtain from our suppliers, we currently produce both monocrystalline and multicrystalline solar cells with formats of 125 mm × 125 mm and 156 mm × 156 mm.
- •Cell Thickness. The thinner a cell, the less polysilicon is generally needed for its production. This facilitates a cost reduction per cell and the production of more cells from a given amount of polysilicon. However, thinner cells also tend to be more fragile and have higher breakage rates. One of our research and development projects is focused on refining process technologies for ultra-thin wafers. The average thickness of the silicon wafers from our suppliers is in the range of 210-170 microns. We are capable of processing silicon wafers that are as thin as 170 microns.

Manufacturing

Manufacturing Capacity and Facilities

Our current manufacturing facilities are located in Ningjin, Hebei Province, Yangzhou, Jiangsu Province, and Donghai, Jiangsu.

Manufacturing Facility in Ningjin, Hebei

Our main manufacturing center is located in Ningjin, Hebei, where we have 17 operational solar cell manufacturing lines with a total rated manufacturing capacity per annum of 425 MW. We expect to have a total of 23 operation manufacturing lines at our Ningjin, Hebei facility by the end of 2009 with a total rated manufacturing capacity per annum of 575 MW.

For our manufacturing facilities in Ningjin, Hebei, we lease approximately 100,000 square meters and 7,000 square meters from Jinglong Group and a related company whose chairman is also the chairman of JA Solar, respectively, inside Jinglong industrial park, which houses our 17 manufacturing lines, as well as offices, warehouses and R&D laboratories. See also "Item 7. Major Shareholders and Related Party Transactions — B. Related Party Transactions."

R&D and Manufacturing Facilities in Yangzhou, Jiangsu

We have established a manufacturing and R&D center in Yangzhou, Jiangsu, where we have installed seven solar cell manufacturing lines with a production capacity of 175 MW per annum. We expect to have a total of 12 solar cell manufacturing lines on this site by the end of 2009 with a total rated manufacturing capacity per annum of 300 MW.

For this manufacturing and R&D center in Yangzhou, we obtained the land use right with respect to 163,642 square meters of land at a price of RMB 168 per square meter for a total of RMB 28,835,312 (including taxes and related transaction costs) in 2007. We obtained another 96,552 square meters of land at a price of RMB 168 per square meter for a total of RMB 17,017,940 (including taxes and related transaction costs).

In addition, in March 2009, we established a new R&D center in Yangzhou under our wholly-owned subsidiary JA Solar Yangzhou R&D. The new Yangzhou R&D center is located within our original manufacturing and R&D center in Yangzhou and currently only engages in research and development.

R&D and Manufacturing Facilities in Donghai, Jiangsu

In October 2008, we invested US\$20 million in Donghai, Jiangsu to establish an R&D center under our wholly-owned subsidiary JHY Semiconductor. The Donghai R&D center is approximately 10,400 square meters and currently only engages in research and development.

See also "Item 4. Information on the Company – D. Property, Plants and Equipment."

Manufacturing Process

We use a semi-automated manufacturing process to lower our operating costs and capital expenditures. We intend to optimize automation and manual operations in our manufacturing process to take advantage of our location in China, where the costs of skilled labor and engineering and technical resources tend to be lower than those in developed countries. The following provides a brief overview of the most important steps in our solar cell manufacturing process:

- Texturing and cleaning. The solar cell manufacturing process begins with texturing of the surface of wafers which reduces the solar cell's reflection of sunlight, followed by surface cleaning of the cells. The texturing process for multicrystalline wafers is slightly different from that for monocrystalline wafers. However, we believe we are capable of producing multicrystalline solar cells by making certain minor adjustments in our texturing process.
- Diffusion. Next, through a thermal process, a negatively charged coating is applied to the positively charged raw wafers in a diffusion furnace. At the high furnace temperature, the phosphorous atoms diffuse into the wafer surface. As a result, the wafer now has two separate layers a negatively charged layer on the surface and a positively charged layer below it.
- Isolation. To achieve a clean separation of the negative and positive layers, the edges of the wafers are isolated through etching, a process that removes a very thin layer of silicon around the edges of the solar cell resulting from the diffusion process.
- Anti-reflection coating. We then apply an anti-reflection coating to the front surface of the solar cell to enhance its absorption of sunlight.
- Printing. In a screen printing process, we print silver paste and aluminum paste to the front and back surfaces of the solar cell, respectively, to act as contacts, with the front contact in a grid pattern to allow sunlight to be absorbed.
- Co-firing. Subsequently, contacts are connected through an electrode firing process in a conveyor belt furnace at high temperature. The high temperature causes the silver paste to become embedded in the surface of the silicon layer forming a reliable electrical contact. The aluminum paste on the back of the cell serves as a mirror for particles, further enhancing the efficiency level.
- Testing and sorting. Finally, we complete the manufacturing of solar cells by testing and sorting. The finished cells are sorted according to efficiency levels and optical criteria. Each cell is tested and subsequently assigned to a performance and quality class depending on the testing results.

Production Equipment

The major manufacturing equipment for solar cell production includes texturing machines, diffusion furnaces, edge isolators, wafer cleaning machines, coating systems, contact printers, co-firing machines and sorting machines. We purchase our equipment from various recognized equipment manufacturers in China, the United States, Europe and Japan. We have close relationships with the world's leading equipment manufacturers in the solar power industry and work closely with selected equipment manufacturers to develop and build our solar cell manufacturing lines. In addition, we have developed technical specifications for the design of certain equipment and engaged manufacturers to construct the equipment in accordance with our specifications. This custom-made equipment is manufactured locally and used to substitute for certain equipment that we would otherwise be required to import from overseas at a higher cost. Our technical team is responsible for overseeing the installation of the manufacturing lines to ensure that the interaction between the various individual components and the entire production process is optimized.

Raw Materials and Utilities

Silicon wafers are the most important raw materials for producing solar cells. Securing an adequate supply of silicon wafers is of great significance for us. Other than silicon wafers, raw materials for manufacturing solar cells include auxiliary materials such as metal pastes, chemicals and gases. For these auxiliary materials, we choose our suppliers through a bidding process based on the quality of their materials and the competitiveness of their pricing terms. We seek to maintain active relationships with multiple suppliers for each of these auxiliary raw materials, and we believe we can readily find alterative sources of supply on terms acceptable to us if any of our current suppliers can not meet our requirements.

Silicon Wafers

Our basic raw material in producing solar cells is silicon wafers, which are sliced from crystalline ingots developed from melted polysilicon. As such, polysilicon is an essential raw material that is used to make silicon wafers. The success of our business and our growth strategy depend heavily on securing a sufficient supply of silicon wafers and polysilicon at commercially reasonable prices and terms to meet our existing and planned production capacity. In past years, in order to better manage our unit costs and to secure adequate supply of silicon wafers, we entered into a number of multi-year supply agreements for silicon wafers and polysilicon in amounts that were expected to meet our anticipated production needs. For example, we entered into a long-term supply agreement with Jinglong Group that is renewable at the end of 2010 for an additional three-year term, a three-year polysilicon supply agreement with M. SETEK and a 93-month supply agreement with GCL.

The unit prices of silicon wafers and polysilicon under those agreements were either fixed or fixed during an initial period of several months, after which, the prices would be determined by further negotiations. We have completed re-negotiating various terms of our supply agreements with certain of our suppliers and are continuing to engage in discussions with our other various suppliers to re-adjust the pricing, prepayment, quantity, delivery and other terms of our existing supply agreements to better reflect current market conditions.

See also "Item 3. Key Information — D. Risk Factors — Risks Related to Our Supply Chain" and "Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects – F. Tabular Disclosure of Contractual Obligations."

Utilities

We consume a significant amount of electrical power and water in our production of solar cells. We have obtained the necessary approvals and/or permits from the relevant PRC governmental authority for our water and electricity usage in our existing manufacturing and R&D centers.

Quality Assurance and Certifications

Our senior management team is actively involved in setting quality assurance policies and managing quality assurance performance to ensure the high quality of our solar cell products. During the manufacturing process, we continuously monitor the quality of our products in process by following procedures including: (i) automatic monitoring and sorting system based on measurement of the efficiency level, breakage rate, and purity level of our solar cell products and (ii) manual inspection of the surface outlook of solar cells. If any of our solar cell products is damaged, defective, or does not meet other quality standards, it will be sorted out during the monitoring process.

We believe that we have a strong equipment maintenance team with well-trained personnel to oversee the operation of our manufacturing lines to avoid any unintended interruption, and to minimize the regular down time, of such manufacturing lines. To ensure that our quality assurance procedures are effectively applied, manufacturing line employees are provided with regular job training.

Markets and Customers

We sell our solar cells principally to solar module manufacturers who assemble and integrate our products into modules and systems. We plan to continue to expand our direct sales in selected overseas markets, including Germany, Spain, Sweden, South Korea and the United States. Our sales and marketing strategy is to selectively and quickly expand our customer base to include established players in the global solar power industry by establishing long-term relationships with existing customers to develop a loyal customer base and expanding our international sales and distribution channels worldwide by selectively adding more sales and marketing personnel. Over the past year, our strategy has allowed us to successfully grow our international presence to the point that approximately 40% of our total sales in the fourth quarter of 2008 were from outside China.

For the years ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008, approximately 98.4%, 85.8% and 76.3% of our total sales revenue was made to customers based in China, respectively.

The following table summarizes our net revenues generated from different geographic markets:

		Year Ended December 31,					
	2006	2007	2008	8			
		(in					
		millions)					
	RMB	RMB	RMB	US\$			
China	685.3	2,310.5	4.162.0	610.0			
Outside China:							
Spain	1.5	154.8	613.5	89.9			
Rest of the world	9.7	228.4	682.8	100.1			
	11.2	383.2	1,296.3	190.0			
Total net revenue	696.5	2,693.7	5,458.3	800.0			

In order to maximize the effective utilization of our production capacity, we also provide cell processing services to some of our customers who supply us with their own wafers and we process these wafers into solar cells that are sold back to them. For the year ended December 31, 2008, we generated revenues of RMB156.3 million (US\$22.9 million) from solar cell processing services.

Intellectual Property

We currently do not own any registered intellectual property rights and we rely on trade secrets and other similar protections. Dr. Ximing Dai, our former chief technology officer prior to her resignation in December 2007, had contributed to us in 2005, through her wholly-owned company, Australia PV Science & Engineering Co., certain process technology that she had developed for the production of solar cells. This technical know-how had an implied value of RMB 9.0 million and was counted as part of Dr. Ximing Dai's equity investment in us. See "Item 3. Key Information — D. Risk Factors — Risks Related to Technology and Intellectual Property — Our failure to protect our intellectual property rights may undermine our competitive position, and litigation to protect our intellectual property rights may be costly and may not be resolved in our favor." Following Dr. Ximing Dai's resignation, we have continued to improve on such technology under the leadership and direction of Dr. Qingtang Jiang, our acting chief technology officer and vice president of operations.

Competition

See "Item 3. Key Information — D. Risk Factors — Risks Related to Our Sales Channels — We compete in a highly competitive market and many of our competitors have resources greater than ours."

Regulation

See "Item 3. Key Information — D. Risk Factors — Risks Related to Doing Business in China."

C. ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE

For a description of our organizational structure, See "Item 4. Information on the Company — A. History and Development of the Company."

D. PROPERTY, PLANTS AND EQUIPMENT

We lease office space in various locations around the world where we maintain sales and regional offices. We believe that our existing facilities, together with the facilities under construction and to be constructed under our current plans, are adequate for our current requirements. In addition, we own our principal executive office building located in Zhabei, Shanghai that is approximately 12,695 square meters.

See also "Item 4. Information on the Company — B. Business Overview — Manufacturing."

Environmental Matters

As we use, generate and discharge toxic, volatile and otherwise hazardous chemicals and wastes in our research and development and manufacturing activities, we are required by PRC law to obtain pollutant discharging permits and undergo government-administered safety examinations with respect to our production facilities. As of the date of this annual report, we have obtained the necessary permits and passed the necessary examinations with respect to the first three of our manufacturing lines and are in the process of doing the same with respect to our other manufacturing lines. So far, we have not been assessed any penalties for any non-compliance with PRC environmental law and regulations. However, if we fail to comply with such laws and regulations in the future, we may be required to pay fines, suspend production or cease operation. Any failure by us to control the use of or to adequately restrict the discharge of hazardous substances could subject us to potentially significant monetary damages and fines or suspensions in our business operations.

ITEM 4A. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 5. OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon and should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and the related notes included in this annual report. This discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions. We caution you that our business and financial performance are subject to substantial risks and uncertainties. Our actual results could differ materially from those projected in the forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including those set forth in "Item 3. Key Information — D. Risk Factors" and elsewhere in this annual report.

A. OPERATING RESULTS

Overview

We are one of the leading manufacturers of high-performance solar cells based in China. We conduct our business primarily through our wholly-owned subsidiaries in China, and operate and manage our business as a single segment. We commenced our business through JA Hebei in May 2005. Pursuant to a recapitalization plan, all of the former shareholders of JA Hebei transferred their equity interests in JA Hebei to JA BVI, our wholly-owned subsidiary incorporated under the laws of the British Virgin Islands. This recapitalization is accounted for as a legal reorganization of entities under common control, in a manner similar to a pooling-of-interest. Accordingly, our consolidated financial statements have been prepared as if the current corporate structure had been in existence throughout the periods presented.

We derive revenues primarily from sales of solar cells to solar module manufacturers. For the year ended December 31, 2008, our revenues and net income were RMB 5.46 billion (US\$800 million) and RMB 479.1 million (US\$70.2 million), respectively.

We have a limited operating history, which may not provide a meaningful basis to evaluate our business. You should consider the risks and difficulties frequently encountered by early-stage companies, such as us, in new and rapidly evolving markets, such as the solar power market. Recent growth in our results of operations should not be taken as indicative of the rate of growth, if any, that can be expected in the future. In addition, our limited operating history provides a limited historical basis to assess the impact that critical accounting policies may have on our business and our financial performance.

Factors Affecting our Results of Operations

We believe that the following factors have had, and we expect that they will continue to have, a significant effect on the development of our business, financial condition and results of operations.

·Industry Demand. Demand for solar cells is critical to our business and revenue growth. In the past year, demand for solar cells has become more sluggish due to issues such as the lack of financing caused by the current global financial crisis and the reduction of incentives, for example, Spain's 500 MW cap on subsidized solar power. Furthermore, the past year has seen a significant drop in crude oil prices – a factor that has led to a further decrease in demand for solar cell products.

See "Item 3. Key Information — D. Risk Factors — Risks Related to Our Sales Channels — The execution of our growth strategy is dependent upon the continued availability of financing to our customers as well as third-party financing arrangements for the end-user of our products, and is affected by general economic conditions."

·Capacity Utilization. We have expanded our manufacturing capacity from 25 MW to 600 MW per annum since inception. Since the fourth quarter of 2008, as a result of the decreased industry demand described above, we are experiencing an excess in manufacturing capacity. Therefore, in order to improve the effective utilization of our production capacity, we have entered into additional solar cell processing arrangements with customers who have

their own wafer supplies where we obtain silicon wafer supplies from these customers, and sell all or a substantial portion of the solar cells manufactured with these wafers back to those customers.

See "Item 3. Key Information — D. Risk Factors — Risks Related to Our Operations — We may not be able to increase or sustain our recent growth rate, and we may not be able to manage our future growth effectively."

•Price of Silicon Wafers and Related Raw Materials. The success of our business and our growth strategy depends heavily on acquiring a supply of silicon wafers at commercially reasonable prices and terms that is consistent with our existing and planned production capacity. We have entered into prepaid long-term supply contracts with suppliers like Jinglong Group, M. SETEK and GCL where, in some instances, these agreements provide for fixed pricing, substantial prepayment obligations and/or firm purchase commitments that require us to pay for the supply whether or not we accept delivery. These prepayment arrangements exposes us to the credit risks of such suppliers and may also significantly increase our costs and expenses, as compared to our competitors, based on factors like fluctuations in the market price for silicon wafers/polysilicon and/or if such arrangements require us to purchase more raw materials than required to meet our actual customer demand (e.g., carrying excess inventory), either of which could in turn have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and liquidity.

See "Item 3. Key Information — D. Risk Factors — Risks Related to Our Supply Chain — Limited competition among suppliers has required us in some instances to enter into long-term, firm commitment supply agreements, including prepayment provisions that could result in excess or insufficient inventory and financial loss placing us at a competitive disadvantage."

•Pricing of Our Solar Cell Products. Pricing of solar cells is principally affected by manufacturing costs, including the cost of silicon wafers, as well as the overall demand in the solar power industry. The average selling price of our solar cells was approximately RMB 25.9, RMB 22.5 and RMB 22.1 (US\$3.24) per watt for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively. The decline in average selling price of our solar cells over these periods was mainly due to the global economic crisis and resulting decreased industry demand, increased competition, and changes in other market conditions. Further, the average selling price of our solar cells decreased approximately 29% in the first quarter of 2009, as compared with the fourth quarter of 2008. We expect the prices of solar cell products, including our own products, to continue to decline for the remainder of 2009 due to the global economic crisis and related decrease in demand, increased competition and supplies, and other market conditions.

See "Item 3. Key Information — D. Risk Factors — Risks Related to Our Supply Chain —Fluctuation in the price of polysilicon, increased competition, the global economic crisis and other changing market conditions may cause further decline in the demand and average selling prices of solar cells and may continue to increase the level of our earnings volatility and reduce our profitability."

•Technology Improvement. Solar power companies, including us, are continuously pursuing technology improvements in an effort to increase conversion efficiencies. In the fourth quarter of 2008, our monocrystalline solar cells have achieved conversion efficiency rates with an average range of 16.77% to 17.27% and our multicrystalline solar cells have achieved conversion efficiency rates with an average range of 15.12% to 15.62%. We intend to further enhance our research and development efforts on process technologies in solar cell production which can increase conversion efficiency of solar cells and reduce production costs.

See "Item 3. Key Information — D. Risk Factors — Risks Related to Technology and Intellectual Property."

Critical Accounting Policies

The discussion and analysis of our operating results and financial condition are based on our audited financial statements, which we have prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires our management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. We base our estimates and assumptions on historical experience and various other factors that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the result of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Our management evaluates these estimates on an ongoing basis. Actual results may differ from these estimates as facts, circumstances and conditions change or as a result of different assumptions.

In reviewing our financial statements, our management considers (i) the selection of critical accounting policies; and (ii) the judgments and other uncertainties affecting the application of those critical accounting policies. The selection of critical accounting policies, the judgments and other uncertainties affecting application of those policies and the sensitivity of reported results to changes in conditions and assumptions are factors to be considered when reviewing our financial statements. Our principal accounting policies are set forth in detail in Note 2 to our audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this annual report. We believe the following critical accounting policies involve the most significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our financial statements.

Revenue recognition

Revenue recognition for solar cells and modules (hereafter "solar products")

We, generally, recognize revenue from the sale of solar products at the time of shipment, at which point title and risk of loss transfer. We sell our solar products at agreed upon prices to our customers, which reflect prevailing market prices.

Our considerations for recognizing revenue are based on the following:

- Persuasive evidence that an arrangement (sales contract) exists between a willing customer and us that outlines the terms of the sale (including customer information, product specification, quantity of goods, purchase price and payment terms). Customers do not have a right of return. We do provide a warranty on our solar module products.
- •Generally shipping terms are FOB shipping point from our premises. At this point the customer takes title to the goods and is responsible for all risks and rewards of ownership. Some shipping terms are CIF destination point. At this point, once the acceptance from the customer is received, the customer takes title to the goods and is responsible for all risks and rewards of ownership. Some shipping terms are EXW, where we deliver goods to our own place of business and all other transportation costs and risks are assumed by the customer.
 - Our price to the customer is fixed and determinable as specifically outlined in the sales contract.
- For customers to whom credit terms are extended, we assess a number of factors to determine whether collection from them is probable, including past transaction history with them and their credit-worthiness. All credit extended to customers is pre-approved by management. If we determine that collection is not reasonably assured, we defer the recognition of revenue until collection becomes reasonably assured, which is generally upon receipt of payment.

Revenue recognition for solar cells processing

We provide solar cell processing services to produce solar cells on behalf of third parties who have their own wafer supplies. Under certain of these solar cell processing service arrangements, we purchase raw materials from a customer and agree to sell a specified quantity of solar cells produced from such materials back to the same customer. The quantity of solar cells sold back to the customer under these processing arrangements is consistent with the amount of raw materials purchased from such customer based on current production conversion rates. We record revenues from these processing transactions based on the amount received for solar cells sold less the amount paid for the raw materials purchased from the customer. The revenue recognized is recorded as solar cell processing revenue and the production costs incurred related to providing the processing services are recorded as solar cell processing costs within cost of revenue.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

On January 1, 2008, the company adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 157, "Fair Value Measurements" ("SFAS No. 157"), that were not deferred by FASB Staff Position ("FSP") FAS No. 157-2, "Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 157" ("FSP 157-2"). SFAS No. 157 defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date (also referred to as an exit price). SFAS No. 157 establishes a hierarchy for inputs used in measuring fair value that gives the highest priority to observable inputs and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs. Valuation techniques used to measure fair value shall maximize the use of observable inputs.

When available, the company measures the fair value of financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, available-for-sale securities, trading security and derivative assets and liabilities, based on quoted market prices in active markets, valuation techniques that use observable market-based inputs or unobservable inputs that are corroborated by market data. Pricing information the company obtains from third parties is internally validated for reasonableness prior to use in the consolidated financial statements. When observable market prices are not readily available, the company generally estimates the fair value using valuation techniques that rely on alternate

market data or inputs that are generally less readily observable from objective sources and are estimated based on pertinent information available at the time of the applicable reporting periods. In certain cases, fair values are not subject to precise quantification or verification and may fluctuate as economic and market factors vary and the company's evaluation of those factors changes. Although the company uses its best judgment in estimating the fair value of these financial instruments, there are inherent limitations in any estimation technique.

In these cases, a minor change in an assumption could result in a significant change in its estimate of fair value, thereby increasing or decreasing the amounts of the company's consolidated assets, liabilities, stockholders' equity (deficit) and net income or loss.

Allowance for doubtful accounts. We maintain allowances for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the inability of our customers to make required payments. We make our estimates of the collectibility of our accounts receivable by analyzing historical bad debts, specific customer creditworthiness and current economic trends. We recorded nil and RMB 24.7 million (US\$3.6 million) for doubtful accounts as of December 31, 2007 and 2008. If the financial condition of our customers were to deteriorate such that their ability to make payments was impaired, additional allowances could be required.

Advances to suppliers. Consistent with industry practice, we make short-term and long-term advances from time to time to secure our raw material needs of silicon wafers, which are then offset against future purchases. We do not require collateral or other security against our advances to our related or third party suppliers. We continually assess the credit quality of our suppliers and the factors that affect the credit risk. If there is deterioration in the credit worthiness of our suppliers, we will provide for such losses on these advances. We recorded nil and RMB 18.6 million (US\$2.7 million) for potential losses against supplier advances as of December 31, 2007 and 2008. If the financial condition of our suppliers were to deteriorate such that their ability to deliver product or repay our advances was impaired, additional provisions could be required.

Inventory Valuation. Inventory is valued at the lower of cost or market value. Cost of inventories is determined by the weighted-average cost method. Provisions are made for excess, slow moving and obsolete inventory as well as inventory whose carrying value is in excess of net realizable value. Certain factors could impact the realizable value of our inventory, so we continually evaluate the recoverability based on assumptions about customer demand and market conditions. The evaluation may take into consideration historic usage, expected demand, anticipated sales price, new product development schedules, the effect new products might have on the sale of existing products, product obsolescence, customer concentrations, and other factors. The reserve or write-down is equal to the difference between the cost of inventory and the estimated market value based upon assumptions about future demand and market conditions. If actual market conditions are less favorable than those projected by management, additional inventory reserves or write-downs may be required that could negatively impact our gross margin and operating results. If actual market conditions are more favorable, we may have higher gross margin when products that have been previously reserved or written down are eventually sold. We recorded nil and RMB 78.0 million (US\$11.4 million) for inventory valuation as of December 31, 2007 and 2008. The inventory provision recorded for inventory held at the end of the first quarter of 2009 was RMB 138.4 million.

We outsource the assembly of solar modules, whereby third-party manufacturers assemble solar cells produced by us into modules according to the requirements of our customers. These outsourcing arrangements do not include transfer of title of the solar cell inventory to the third-party manufacturer. We maintain such inventory on our balance sheet as consignment inventory while it is in physical possession of the third-party manufacturer. Upon receipt of the assembled solar modules, we pay a processing fee to the third-party manufacturer and include such fee in the production cost of the finished goods.

Impairment of long-lived assets. We evaluate our long-lived assets and finite-lived intangible assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not recoverable. When these events occur, we assess the recoverability of the long-lived assets by comparing the carrying amount of the assets to future undiscounted net cash flows expected to result from the use of the assets and its eventual disposition. If the sum of the expected undiscounted cash flows is less than the carrying amount of the assets, we would recognize

an impairment loss based on the fair value of the assets, generally using the expected future discounted cash flows. We did not record any provision for impairment of our long-lived assets as of December 31, 2007 and 2008.

Share-based compensation. We account for the grant of employees share-based compensation in accordance with SFAS No. 123(R), which requires all share-based payments to employees and directors, to be recognized in the financial statements based on their grant date fair values.

The compensation expense is recognized over the applicable service period in accordance with the guidance provided by FIN No. 28, "Accounting for Stock Appreciation Rights and Other Variable Stock Option or Award Plans — an interpretation of APB Opinions No. 15 and 25." FIN No. 28 provides a graded vesting method over the vesting periods of the share options. The graded vesting method provides for vesting of portions of the overall awards at interim dates and results in accelerated vesting as compared to the straight-line method.

Grants to Employees

The determination of the fair value of share-based awards and related share-based compensation expense requires input of subjective assumptions, including but not limited to the valuation model adopted, risk-free interest rate, expected life of the share-based awards, stock price volatility, and expected forfeiture rate. The selection of an appropriate valuation technique or model depends on the substantive characteristics of the instrument being valued. Risk free interest rates are decided based on the yield to maturity of U.S. government bonds as at respective dates of grant of options. Expected life of stock options granted is based on the average between the vesting period and the contractual term for each grant, taking into account assumptions used by comparable companies. Volatility is measured using a combination of historical daily price changes of comparable companies stock over the respective expected life of the option and implied volatility derived from traded options of comparable companies. Forfeiture rate is estimated based on our expectation for the future.

The assumptions used in calculating the fair value of share-based awards and related share-based compensation represent management's best estimations, but these estimates involve inherent uncertainties and the application of management judgment. As a result, if factors change or we utilize different assumptions, our share-based compensation expense could be materially different for any period.

Prior to our initial public offering, the fair value of the ordinary shares was determined retrospectively to the time of grant. Determining the fair value of our ordinary shares on a pre-IPO basis requires making complex and subjective judgments. Management is responsible for determining the fair value and considered a number of factors including valuations. Our approach to valuation is based on a discounted future cash flow approach which involves complex and subjective judgments regarding projected financial and operating results, our unique business risks, our operating history and prospects at the time of grant. These judgments are consistent with the plans and estimates that we use to manage the business. There is inherent uncertainty in making these estimates and if we make different judgments or adopt different assumptions, material differences could result in the timing and amount of the share-based compensation expenses recorded because the estimated fair value of the underlying ordinary shares for the options granted would be different.

Grants to Non-Employees

We account for equity instruments issued to the non-employee consultant in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R) and Emerging Issues Task Force, or EITF, Issue No. 96-18, "Accounting for Equity Instruments That are

Issued to Other Than Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with Selling, Goods or Services."

All transactions in which goods or services are the consideration received for the issuance of equity instruments are accounted for based on the fair value of the consideration received or the fair value of the equity instrument issued, whichever is more reliably measurable. The measurement date of the fair value of the equity instrument issued is the date on which the counterparty's performance is complete. We believe that our assumptions, including the risk-free interest rate and expected life used to determine fair value, are appropriate. However, if different assumptions had been used, the fair value of the equity instruments issued to non-employee vendors would have been different from the amount we computed and recorded which would have resulted in either an increase or decrease in the compensation expense.

Income taxes. We account for income taxes under the asset and liability method. We recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statements carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax assets bases and operating loss and tax credit carry forwards. We measure deferred tax assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. We recognize the effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates in income in the period that includes the enactment date. A valuation allowance is provided to reduce the carrying amount of deferred tax assets if it is considered more likely than not that some portion, or all, of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. We recorded valuation allowances to reduce our net deferred tax assets to the amount of RMB 5.6 million and RMB 28.5 million as of December 31, 2007 and 2008, respectively. We have adopted the provisions of FASB Interpretation No. 48 ("FIN 48"), accounting for uncertainty in income taxes. We have performed assessment on our tax positions related to FIN 48, and concluded that the adoption of FIN 48 did not have any material impact on our financial position as of December 31, 2008.

Product warranties. It is customary in our business and industry to warrant or guarantee the performance of our solar module products at certain levels of conversion efficiency for extended periods. Our standard solar modules are typically sold with either a two-year or five-year guarantee for defects in materials and workmanship and a 10-year and 25-year warranty against declines of more than 10.0% and 20.0%, respectively, of the initial minimum power generation capacity at the time of delivery. In addition, we usually provide the same warranty for solar modules assembled for third party OEM companies. We therefore maintain warranty reserves (recorded as accrued warranty costs) to cover potential liabilities that could arise from these guarantees and warranties. The potential liability is generally in the form of product replacement or repair. We accrue 1.0% of our net revenues as warranty costs at the time revenues are recognized and include that amount in our cost of revenues. Due to zero warranty claims to date, we accrue the estimated costs of warranties based primarily on an assessment of our competitors' accrual history. Through our relationships with, and management's experience working at, other solar power companies and on the basis of publicly available information regarding other solar power companies' accrued warranty costs, we believe that accruing 1.0% of our net revenues as warranty costs is within the range of industry practice and is consistent with industry-standard accelerated testing, which assists us in estimating the long-term reliability of solar modules, estimates of failure rates from our quality review and other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. However, although we conduct quality testing and inspection of our solar module products, our solar module products have not been and cannot be tested in an environment simulating the up to 25-year warranty periods. We have not experienced any material warranty claims to date in connection with declines of the power generation capacity of our solar modules. Actual warranty costs are accumulated and charged against the accrued warranty liability. To the extent that the actual warranty costs differ from the estimates, we will prospectively revise our accrual rate.

Short Term Investments.

The company accounts for short-term investments in accordance with SFAS No. 115, Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities. The company classifies the short-term investments in debt and equity securities as "held-to-maturity", "trading" or "available-for-sale", whose classification determines the respective accounting methods stipulated by the accounting standard for financial instruments. Investments that are bought and held principally for the purpose of selling them in the near term are classified as trading securities. Trading securities are reported at fair value with unrealized gains and losses included in investment income. The company does not have investments classified as held-to-maturity.

Investments designated as available-for-sale are reported at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in shareholders' equity. Realized gains or losses are charged to the income during the period in which the gain or loss is realized. If we determine a decline in fair value is other-than-temporary, the cost basis of the individual security is written down to fair value as a new cost basis and the amount of the write-down is accounted for as a realized loss. The new cost basis will not be changed for subsequent recoveries in fair value. Determination of whether declines in value are other-than-temporary requires significant judgment. Subsequent increases and decreases in the fair value of available-for-sale securities will be included in comprehensive income through a credit or charge to shareholders' equity except for an other-than-temporary impairment, which will be charged to income.

For the year ended December 31, 2008, the company has provided a full impairment amounted to RMB 686.3 million (US\$100.6 million) against its investment in the 3-Month LCMNER Index-Linked Note (the "Note") issued by Lehman Brothers Treasury Co. B.V. ("Lehman Treasury") incorporated in the Netherlands, guaranteed by Lehman.

Revenues

Our revenues for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008 and as a percentage of our total revenues over the same period are as follows:

	Year ended December 31,							
	2006		2007			2008		
			(in millions, e	except for perc	entages)			
	RMB	%	RMB	%	RMB	US\$	%	
Solar products to								
third parties	565.3	81.2%	2,532.4	94.0%	4,794.0	702.7	87.8%	
Solar products to								
related parties	131.2	18.8%	62.2	2.3%	508.0	74.5	9.3%	
Solar cells								
processing	-	-	99.1	3.7%	156.3	22.9	2.9%	
Total Revenues	696.5	100.0%	2,693.7	100.0%	5,458.3	800.0	100.0%	

We derive revenues primarily from sales of solar cell products to solar module manufacturers, who then assemble and integrate our products into modules and systems. For the years ended December 31, 2006, 2007, we sold a substantial portion of our products to a limited number of customers, most of which were module manufacturers based in China. However, in 2008, we increased our number of overseas customers and expanded our overall customer base where, for the year ended December 31, 2008, approximately 23.7% of our total sales were to customers outside of China. For

the year ended December 31, 2006, sales to our largest customer and three largest customers accounted for approximately 19.6% and 41.3% of our total revenues, respectively. During this period, the top two customers were our related parties until August 2006, and sales to them accounted for approximately 33.1% of our total revenues. For the year ended December 31, 2007, sales to our largest customer and three largest customers represented approximately 18.9% and 41.1% of our total revenues, respectively. Our three largest customers included one customer who had been our related party until August 21, 2006 and two other third parties. For the year ended December 31, 2008, sales to our largest customer and three largest customers represented approximately 13.4% and 32.1% of our total revenues, respectively. Our three largest customers include one related party and two unrelated third parties. Sales to our top ten customers accounted for approximately 84.3%, 78.8% and 74.1% of total revenues for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively. We believe most of the solar modules incorporating our solar cell products are distributed globally.

The average selling price of our solar cell products has declined in 2008 due to, a large extent, global economic slowdown, increased supply of solar cells, increased competition, and changes in other market conditions. We expect the prices of solar cell products, including our own products, to continue to decline over time due to increased supplies, reduced manufacturing costs and industry pursuit to grid cost parity of traditional forms of electricity.

For the year ended December 31, 2008, our revenues also included revenues from solar cell processing services which amounted to approximately RMB 156.3 million (US\$22.9 million), or 2.9% of our total revenues. We provide solar cell processing services to customers who have their own wafer supplies. For the year ended December 31, 2008, we produced approximately 40.7 MW of solar cells under these processing arrangements. We provide solar cell processing services to customers mainly to utilize our excess production capacities when our wafer supplies or customer orders are insufficient for us to operate our manufacturing lines at their full capacities. Our revenues from solar cell processing constitute a small portion of our total revenues of 2008.

For the year ended December 31, 2008, our revenues also included revenues from sales of solar modules which amounted to approximately RMB 425.6 million (US\$62.4 million), or 7.8% of our total revenues. We engage third party OEM companies to assemble the solar cells we produce into solar modules as required by our customers. For the year ended December 31, 2008, we sold approximately 16.5 MW of solar modules under these solar module contracts. We accrued 1.0% of our net revenues as warranty costs at the time revenues are recognized and include that amount in our cost of revenues. Because we have zero warranty claims to date, we accrue the estimated costs of warranties based primarily on an assessment of our competitors' accrual history.

Cost of Revenues and Operating Expenses

For the year ended December 31, 2008, our cost of revenues and our operating expenses as a percentage of our total revenues were 81.8% and 5.5%, respectively as compared to 77.7% and 5.7%, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2007, and 75.3% and 5.9%, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2006. Our cost of revenues primarily consists of silicon wafers, other direct raw materials and other cost of revenues. The following table sets forth the amounts of our cost of silicon wafers and other cost of revenues and each of them as a percentage of total cost of revenues for the periods indicated:

	Year ended December 31,							
	2006		2007			2008		
	(in millions, except for percentages)							
	RMB	%	RMB	%	RMB	US\$	%	
Silicon wafers	473.2	90.3%	1,884.6	90.1%	3,991.4	585.0	89.4%	
Other	51.0	9.7%	208.2	9.9%	474.9	69.6	10.6%	
Total cost of revenues	524.2	100.0%	2,092.8	100.0%	4,466.3	654.6	100%	

Silicon wafers. Silicon wafers are the most important raw material of our solar cell products. For the years ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008, cost of silicon wafers accounted for approximately 90.3%, 90.1% and 89.4% of our cost of revenues, respectively. We expect that the cost of silicon wafers will continue to constitute a significant portion of our cost of revenues in the foreseeable future despite the recent decrease in price of silicon wafers and polysilicon.

Other. Other cost of revenues consists primarily of other direct raw materials used in the manufacturing of solar cell products, direct labor, depreciation of manufacturing equipment and facilities, facilities rental expenses, overhead expenses, as well as outsourcing costs and warranty expenses related to our solar module business. For the years ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008, other cost of revenues accounted for approximately 9.7%, 9.9% and 10.6% of our cost of revenues, respectively. In the fourth quarter of 2008, the impact of the inventory provision on cost of revenue was RMB 78.0 million.

Our operating expenses consist of selling, general and administrative expenses and research and development expenses. The following table sets forth the components of our operating expenses and each of them as a percentage of our total operating expenses for the periods indicated:

		Year ended December 31,				2000	
	2006)	2007			2008	
			(in millions, except for percentages)				
	RMB	%	RMB	%	RMB	US\$	%
Selling, general and administrative expenses Research and development	39.7	96.7%	150.3	97.3%	271.5	39.8	90.5%
expenses Total operating	1.3	3.3%	4.2	2.7%	28.5	4.2	9.5%
expenses	41.0	100.0%	154.5	100.0%	300.0	44.0	100%

Selling, general and administrative expenses.

Selling expenses primarily consist of promotional and other sales and marketing expenses and salaries and benefits for our sales and marketing personnel. General and administrative expenses primarily consist of leasing expenses associated with our administrative offices, salaries and benefits for our administrative, finance and human resources personnel, share-based compensation, business travel expenses and professional services expenses. Our selling, general and administrative expenses accounted for 96.7%, 97.3% and 90.5% of our total operating expenses for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively. We expect that selling expenses will increase in absolute terms as we add more sales and marketing personnel and increase our sales and marketing efforts to accommodate the growth of our business and expansion of our customer base in China and abroad. We also expect general and administrative expenses to increase in absolute terms as a result of the expansion of our business.

In 2006, 2007 and 2008, we granted options to purchase 1,728,000, 6,909,000 and 6,132,000 ordinary shares, respectively, to a number of our directors, employees and consultants. See "Item 6. Directors, Senior Management and Employees — B. Compensation — Stock Option Plans." Our share-based compensation expenses relating to our option grants and stock awards have had a material and adverse effect on our reported earnings for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008. We recognized a share-based compensation charge of RMB18.2 million, RMB 91.6 million, and RMB113.2 million (US\$16.6 million) for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively. The above charges are net of forfeiture reversal amounts of nil, RMB 4.8 million, and RMB 59.6 million (US\$8.74 million) for the period from the years ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively. Share based compensation expenses are amortized over the vesting period of these options ranging from six months to four years starting from the grant date.

Research and development expenses

Research and development expenses primarily consist of research materials, compensation and benefits for research and development personnel. Research and development expenses are expensed when incurred. Our research and development expenses accounted for 3.3%, 2.7% and 9.5% of our total operating expenses for the period from the years ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively. We believe that research and development is critical to the success of our business and as a result, we intend to increase our investments in research and development. As part of our business strategy, we are increasing our research and development efforts in China.

Interest (Income) Expense, net

We incurred net interest expense of RMB 4.3 million in 2006. We generated net interest income of RMB 56.0 million in 2007. We generated interest income of RMB 42.6 million (US\$6.3 million) and incurred an interest expense of RMB 160.5 million (US\$23.5 million) in 2008. Our net interest expense in 2008 was primarily the interest paid on the Senior Notes. The interest expense recognized for interest payable to Senior Notes holders was RMB 75.4 million (US\$11.1 million) for the year ended December 31, 2008. The interest expense recognized for accretion to the redemption value of the Senior Notes was RMB 81.8 million (US\$ 12.0 million) for the year ended December 31, 2008. Other interest expenses were RMB 3.3 million (US\$ 0.5 million).

Foreign Exchange Gain (Loss)

We generated foreign exchange gain of RMB 1.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2006. We incurred foreign exchange losses of RMB 112.8 million in 2007. We incurred foreign exchange losses of RMB 127.4 million (US\$18.7 million) in 2008. The exchange losses were incurred because a significant portion of our monetary assets and liabilities are denominated in US dollars and Euros, which depreciated in 2007 and 2008 relative to the RMB. Fluctuations in currency exchange rates may continue to have a significant effect on our financial results.

Taxation

We are a tax exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands, and under the current laws of the Cayman Islands, we are not subject to tax on income or capital gain. Our subsidiary JA BVI is a business company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands; under current laws of the British Virgin Islands, JA BVI is not subject to tax on income or capital gain.

In accordance with the PRC's FEIT Law and the related implementation rules, FIEs established in the PRC are generally subject to FEIT at a state tax rate of 30% plus a local tax rate of 3% on PRC taxable income. Our operating subsidiary, JA Hebei, was established as a FIE in the PRC and is thus subject to PRC enterprise income tax of 33%. The PRC government has provided certain incentives to FIEs in order to encourage foreign investments, including tax exemptions, tax reductions and other measures. Under the FEIT Law and the related implementation rules, FIEs are entitled to be exempted from FEIT for a 2-year period starting from their first profit-making year followed by a 50% reduction of FEIT payable for the subsequent three years, provided that they fall into the category of production-oriented enterprises with an operational period of more than 10 years in China, subject to approval from and modification by local taxation authorities. Specifically, with respect to income generated by assets acquired by JA Hebei during the fiscal years 2005 and 2006, JA Hebei will receive a two-year enterprise income tax exemption for 2006 and 2007, as well as a 50% enterprise income tax reduction for 2008, 2009 and 2010; with respect to income generated by assets newly acquired by JA Hebei during 2007, JA Hebei will receive a two-year enterprise income tax exemption for 2007 and 2008, as well as a 50% enterprise income tax reduction for 2009, 2010 and 2011.

In March 2007, the National People's Congress of China enacted a new CIT Law, which became effective on January 1, 2008 and replaced the FEIT Law. The CIT Law imposes a unified income tax rate of 25% on all domestic enterprises and FIEs unless they qualify under certain limited exceptions. The CIT Law provides a 5-year transition period to FIEs, during which they are permitted to grandfather their existing preferential tax treatment until such treatment expires in accordance with its current terms. As such, the CIT Law does not affect the preferential tax treatment enjoyed by JA Hebei during the 5-year transition period. When our currently available tax benefits expire or otherwise become unavailable, the effective income tax rate of JA Hebei will increase significantly, and any increase of JA Hebei's income tax rate in the future could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

Our operating subsidiary, JA Yangzhou, was established as a FIE in the PRC and was thus subject to a PRC enterprise income tax of 33% until 2007 and changed to the uniform rate of 25% in 2008. JA Yangzhou had cumulative losses as of December 31, 2008 and its tax holidays will be deemed to have commenced in 2008 and can be utilized until expiry pursuant to the new CIT law.

Our operating subsidiary, JA Zhabei, which is not a production-oriented enterprise, is subject to the uniform rate of 25% from 2008 onwards and not entitled to the tax holiday.

The CIT Law provides that enterprises established outside of China whose "de facto management bodies" are located in China are considered "resident enterprises" and are generally subject to the uniform 25% enterprise income tax rate as to their worldwide income. Under the implementation regulations for the CIT Law issued by the PRC State Council, "de facto management body" is defined as a body that has material and overall management and control over the manufacturing and business operations, personnel and human resources, finances and treasury, and acquisition and disposition of properties and other assets of an enterprise.

Under the CIT Law and implementation regulations issued by the State Council, PRC income tax at the rate of 10% is applicable to dividends payable to investors that are "non-resident enterprises," which do not have an establishment or place of business in the PRC, or which have such establishment or place of business but the relevant income is not effectively connected with the establishment or place of business, to the extent such dividends have their sources within the PRC. Similarly, any gain realized on the transfer of ADSs or shares by such investors is also subject to 10% PRC income tax if such gain is regarded as income derived from sources within the PRC. If we are considered a PRC "resident enterprise," it is unclear whether dividends we pay with respect to our ordinary shares or ADSs, or the gain you may realize from the transfer of our ordinary shares or ADSs, would be treated as income derived from sources within the PRC and be subject to PRC tax. It is also unclear whether, if we are considered a PRC "resident enterprise," holders of our ordinary shares or ADSs might be able to claim the benefit of income tax treaties entered into between China and other countries.

As such, our historical operating results may not be indicative of our operating results for future periods as a result of the expiration of various tax holidays we currently enjoy or the incurrence of any new taxes we are required to pay.

We have made a partial valuation allowance against our net deferred tax assets. We evaluate a variety of factors in determining the amount of the valuation allowance, including our exit from the development stage during the year ended December 31, 2006, our limited earnings history, the tax holiday period, the existence of taxable temporary differences, and near-term earnings expectations. We expect to recognize future reversal of the valuation allowance either when the benefit is realized or when it has been determined that it is more likely than not that the benefit will be realized through future earnings.

Inflation

Since our inception, inflation in China has not materially affected our results of operations. According to the National Bureau of Statistics of China, the change of consumer price index in China was 1.5%, 4.8% and 5.9% in 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively. If our costs were to become subject to significant inflationary pressures, we may not be able to fully offset such higher costs through price increases.

Recently Pronounced Accounting Standards

In February 2008, the FASB issued FSP 157-2. FSP 157-2 deferred the effective date of SFAS No. 157 for nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities, except for items that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on a recurring basis, until fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2008. With the exception of investments and foreign currency derivatives held, this deferral makes SFAS No. 157 effective for the company beginning in the first quarter of fiscal 2009. The company does not believe the adoption of SFAS No. 157 will have a material effect on measurement of fair value of its nonfinancial assets, including goodwill, and nonfinancial liabilities.

In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 161 "Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities — an amendment of SFAS No. 133" ("SFAS No. 161"), which expands the disclosure requirements for derivative instruments and hedging activities. SFAS No. 161 specifically requires entities to provide enhanced disclosures addressing the following: (a) how and why an entity uses derivative instruments; (b) how derivative instruments and related hedged items are accounted for under SFAS No. 133 "Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities" and its related interpretations; and (c) how derivative instruments and related hedged items affect an entity's financial position, financial performance, and cash flows. SFAS No. 161 is effective for fiscal years and interim periods beginning after November 15, 2008. The company does not believe SFAS No. 161 will have a material effect on our financial statements and related disclosures.

In April 2008, the FASB issued FSP SFAS No. 142-3 "Determination of Useful Life of Intangible Assets" ("FSP 142-3"), which amends the factors that should be considered in developing the renewal or extension assumptions used to determine the useful life of a recognized intangible asset under SFAS No. 142. FSP 142-3 also requires expanded disclosure related to the determination of intangible asset useful lives. FSP 142-3 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008. The company does not believe FSP 142-3 will have a material effect on our financial statements and related disclosures.

In May 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 162 "The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles" ("SFAS No. 162"), which identifies the sources of accounting principles to be used in the preparation of financial statements of nongovernmental entities that are presented in conformity with U.S. GAAP. This Statement is effective 60 days following the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC")'s approval of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board amendments to AU Section 411 "The Meaning of Present Fairly in Conformity with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles." The company currently adheres to the hierarchy of U.S. GAAP as presented in SFAS No. 162 and the adoption of SFAS No. 162 during the fourth quarter in fiscal 2008 did not have a material impact on its financial position, results of operations and disclosures.

In May 2008, the FASB issued FSP APB 14-1 "Accounting for Convertible Debt Instruments That May Be Settled in Cash upon Conversion (Including Partial Cash Settlement)" ("FSP APB 14-1"), which clarifies the accounting for convertible debt instruments that may be settled in cash upon conversion, including partial cash settlement. FSP APB 14-1 significantly impacts the accounting for instruments commonly referred to as Instruments B, Instruments C and Instruments X from EITF Issue No. 90-19 "Convertible Bonds with Issuer Option to Settle for Cash upon Conversion", and any other convertible debt instruments that allow settlement in any combination of cash and shares at the issuer's option. The new guidance requires the issuer to separately account for the liability and equity components of the instrument in a manner that reflects interest expense equal to the issuer's non-convertible debt borrowing rate. FSP APB 14-1 is effective for fiscal years and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2008, and retrospective application will be required for all periods presented. The company does not believe FSP APB 14-1 will have a material effect on our financial statements and related disclosures.

In June 2008, the FASB issued FSP EITF 03-6-1 "Determining Whether Instruments Granted in Share-Based Payment Transactions Are Participating Securities" ("FSP EITF 03-6-1"), which clarified that all outstanding unvested share-based

payment awards that contain rights to nonforteitable dividends participate in undistributed earnings with common shareholders. Awards of this nature are considered participating securities and the two-class method of computing basic and diluted earnings per share must be applied. FSP EITF 03-6-1 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008.

The company does not believe FSP EITF 03-6-1 will have a material effect on our financial statements and related disclosures.

In April 2009, the FASB issued FSP No. 115-2 and 124-2, "Recognition and Presentation of Other-Than-Temporary Impairments" ("FSP FAS 115-2 and FAS 124-2"). The FSP amends the other-than-temporary impairment guidance in U.S. GAAP for debt securities to make the guidance more operational and to improve the presentation and disclosure of other-than-temporary impairments on debt and equity securities in the financial statements. This FSP does not amend existing recognition and measurement guidance related to other-than-temporary impairments of equity securities. The FSP shall be effective for interim and annual reporting periods ending after June 15, 2009, with early adoption permitted for periods ending after March 15, 2009. Earlier adoption for periods ending before March 15, 2009, is not permitted. The company does not believe FSP FAS 115-2 and FAS 124-2 will have a material effect on our financial statements and related disclosures.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth certain consolidated results of operations data in terms of amount and as a percentage of our total revenues for the periods indicated:

	2006						
		•	ons, except for o	•			
	RMB	%	RMB	%	RMB	US\$	%
Income Statement							
Data:							
Total revenues	696.5	100.0%	2,693.7	100.0%	5,458.3	800.0	100%
China	685.3	98.4%	2,310.5	85.8%	4,162.0	610.0	76.3%
Outside China	11.2	1.6%	383.2	14.2%	1,296.3	190.0	23.7%
Cost of revenues	(524.2)	(75.3)%	(2,092.8)	(77.7)%	(4,466.3)	(654.6)	(81.8)%
Gross profit	172.3	24.7%	600.9	22.3%	992.0	145.4	18.2%
Selling, general							
and administrative							
expenses	(39.7)	(5.7)%	(150.3)	(5.5)%	(271.5)	(39.8)	(5.0)%
Research and							
development							
expenses	(1.3)	(0.2)%	(4.2)	(0.2)%	(28.5)	(4.2)	(0.5)%
Total operating	(-1-)	(0.2)	()	(**=)/*	(====)	()	(0.0),,
expenses.	(41.0)	(5.9)%	(154.5)	(5.7)%	(300.0)	(44.0)	(5.5)%
Income from	(11.0)	(3.5)70	(13 1.3)	(3.7)70	(300.0)	(11.0)	(3.3)70
operations	131.3	18.8%	446.4	16.6%	692.0	101.4	12.7%
Impairment on	131.3	10.0 //	440.4	10.070	072.0	101.4	12.770
available-for-sale							
securities					(686.3)	(100.6)	(12.6)%
					(000.3)	(100.0)	(12.0)%
Change in fair							
value of					5640	00.7	10.207
Derivatives					564.0	82.7	10.3%
Convertible notes							
buyback						• • •	
gain	_	_	_	_	203.5	29.8	3.7%
Interest expense	(5.1)	(0.7)%	(6.6)	(0.2)%	(160.5)	(23.5)	(2.9)%
Interest income.	0.8	0.1%	62.6	2.3%	42.6	6.3	0.8%
Foreign exchange							
gain/							
(loss)	1.3	0.2%	(112.8)	(4.2)%	(127.3)	(18.7)	(2.4)%
Investment loss					(28.6)	(4.2)	(0.5)%
Other Income	0.1	_	5.2	0.2%	3.6	0.5	0.1%
Income before							
income taxes	128.4	18.4%	394.8	14.7%	503.0	73.7	9.2%
Income tax							
benefit/							
(expenses)	_	_	5.6	0.2%	(23.9)	(3.5)	(0.4)%
Net income	128.4	18.4%	400.4	14.9%	479.1	70.2	8.8%
Preferred shares	120.1	10.170	100.1	11.570	177.1	70.2	0.070
accretion	(1.6)	(0.2)%	(0.5)	(0.02)%			
Preferred shares	(1.0)	(0.2) /0	(0.5)	(0.02) /0			
beneficial							
conversion charge	(24.7)	(5.0)%					
conversion charge	(34.7)	(3.0)%	_	_	_	_	_

Edgar Filing: JA Solar Holdings Co., Ltd. - Form 20-F

Allocation of net income to participating preferred							
shareholders Net income available to holders of	(5.7)	(0.8)%	(1.7)	(0.1)%	_	_	_
ordinary share.	86.4	12.4%	398.2	14.8%	479.1	70.2	8.8%
Operating Data: Products sold (in million units)	10.9		54.8		111.2		
Products sold (in	10.9		34.0		111.2		_
MW) Average selling price per	26.3	_	132.9	_	277.4	_	
watt	25.9	_	22.5	_	22.1	3.24	_
53							

Year Ended December 31, 2008 compared to Year Ended December 31, 2007

Total revenues. Our total revenues increased significantly from RMB 2,693.7 million in 2007 to RMB 5,458.3 million (US\$800.0 million) in 2008. This increase was due primarily to an increase in our manufacturing capability and corresponding increase in sales volume of our products, driven by strong market demand for our products and offsetting a decline in the average selling price of our products, the decrease in global demand for solar products following the global financial crisis, and the decrease in demand for solar products resulting from Spain's announcement that it will cap its subsidy for solar power at 500MW for 2009. In addition, our revenues were bolstered by our increased third party cell processing activities. We sold an aggregate of 277.4 MW of solar products in 2008 (consisting of 220.2 MW of solar cells we produced, 40.7 MW of solar cells we processed for other third parties and 16.5 MW of solar modules we engaged third parties to assemble for our customers) as compared to 132.9 MW of solar products in 2007.

Our total revenues from sales in China increased from RMB 2,310.5 million in 2007 to RMB 4,162.0 million (US\$ 610.0 million) in 2008, as we sell most of our PV cells to PV module manufacturers in China. As a result of our ongoing efforts in diversifying our customer base and reaching out to customers outside of China, however, our revenues from sales in China, as a percentage of our total revenues, decreased from 98.4% in 2006 and 85.8% in 2007 to 76.3% in 2008. Correspondingly, our sales outside China, with Spain and Japan being the two largest markets, increased both in dollar amounts and as a percentage of our total revenues.

Cost of Revenues. Our cost of revenues increased significantly from RMB 2,092.8 million in 2007 to RMB 4,466.3 million (US\$654.6 million) in 2008. The increase in our cost of revenue was due primarily to the increased quantity of silicon wafers needed and the increase in the average cost of silicon wafers in 2008 over 2007 despite the eventual decrease in the average cost of silicon wafers towards the end of 2008. The impact of the inventory provision on cost of revenue was RMB 78.0 million. The inventory provision recorded for inventory held at the end of the first quarter of 2009 was RMB 138.4 million.

Gross Profit and Gross Margin. As a result of the foregoing, our gross profit increased from RMB 600.9 million in 2007 to RMB 992.0 million (US\$145.4 million) in 2008. Due to fluctuations in the price of silicon wafers, which is the primary raw material in our production of solar cells, as well as a decrease in the average selling price of solar cells, an inventory provision of RMB 78.0 million recorded in the fourth quarter of 2008, our gross margin decreased from 22.3% in 2007 to 18.2% in 2008.

Total Operating Expenses. Our total operating expenses increased from RMB 154.5 million in 2007 to RMB 300.0 million (US\$44.0 million) in 2008. The increase in our total operating expenses was due primarily to significant increases in our selling, general and administrative expenses associated with our increased production, increased efforts to grow in the overseas market, as well as an increase in our research and development expenses. Total operating expenses as a percentage of our total revenue decreased from 5.7% in 2007 to 5.5% in 2008 as we improved our operating efficiency with an increased production capacity.

• Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. Our selling, general and administrative expenses increased from RMB 150.3 million in 2007 to RMB 271.5 million (US\$40.0 million) in 2008, but decreased as a percentage of our total revenues from 5.5% in 2007 to 5.0% in 2008. The increase in our selling, general and administrative expenses was due primarily to increases in our selling expenses, advertising expenses and warranty costs associated with our

increased product sales, an increased amount of salary and benefits paid to our sales and marketing personnel as a result of increased headcount, as well as share-based compensation expenses of RMB 113.2 million (US\$16.6 million) relating to our stock options granted to certain employees and consultants. The above share based compensation expenses are net of forfeiture reversal amounts of nil, RMB 4.8 million, and RMB 59.6 million (US\$8.74 million) for the period from the years ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively.

• Research and Development Expenses. Our research and development expenses increased from RMB 4.2 million in 2007 to RMB 28.5 million (US\$4.2 million) in 2008 and increased as a percentage of our total revenues from 0.2% in 2007 to 0.5% in 2008. The increase in our research and development expenses was due primarily to increases in material costs related to our increased research and development activities. Our research and development has primarily focused on: improving and optimizing our solar manufacturing process based on certain proprietary know-how.

Impairment on available-for-sale securities. Our impairment on available-for-sale securities increased from nil in 2007 to RMB 686.3 million (US\$100.6 million) in 2008. The impairment was provided to against our investment in the Note issued by Lehman Treasury purchased in 2008.

Change in fair value of derivatives. Our changes in fair value of derivatives increased from nil in 2007 to RMB 564.0 million (US\$82.7 million) in 2008. The charge reflects fair value changes associated with our derivative assets and liabilities for the year ended December 31, 2008.

Convertible notes buyback gain. Convertible notes buyback gain increased from RMB nil in 2007 to RMB 203.5 million (US\$29.8 million) in 2008. The gain was occurred because we bought back portion of our convertible notes at prices below par in 2008.

Interest (Income) Expense, net. We generated net interest income of RMB 56.0 million in 2007 and incurred net interest expense of RMB 117.9 million (US\$17.3 million) in 2008. Our net interest expense in 2008 was primarily interest paid on the Senior Notes. The interest expense recognized for interest payable to Senior Notes holders was RMB 75.4 million (US\$11.1 million) for the year ended December 31, 2008. The interest expense recognized for accretion to the redemption value of the Senior Notes was RMB 81.8 million (US\$12.0 million) for the year ended December 31, 2008. Other interest expenses were RMB 3.3 million (US\$0.5 million).

Other Income (Expense). Our other income decreased from RMB 5.2 million in 2007 to RMB 3.6 million (US\$0.5 million) in 2008. The decrease in our other income was due primarily to a decrease in the payments received from the depositary of our ADSs at the Bank of New York.

Foreign Exchange Gain (Loss). We incurred foreign exchange losses of RMB 112.8 million in 2007 and RMB 127.4 million (US\$ 18.7 million) in 2008. The exchange losses were incurred because a significant portion of our monetary assets and liabilities are denominated in U.S. dollars and Euros, which continued to depreciate against the Renminbi in 2008.

Tax Benefit (Expense). We incurred tax expenses of RMB 23.9 million (US\$3.5 million) in 2008, as compared to tax benefits of RMB 5.6 million generated in 2007. The increase in tax expense was due to 2007 was the last year JA Hebei was entitled to tax exemption.

Net Income. As a result of the cumulative effect of the above factors, our net income increased from RMB 400.4 million in 2007 to RMB 479.1 million (US\$70.2 million) in 2008.

Year Ended December 31, 2007 compared to Year Ended December 31, 2006

Total revenues. Our total revenues increased significantly from RMB 696.5 million in 2006 to RMB 2,693.7 million in 2007. This increase was due primarily to a significant increase in our manufacturing capability and corresponding increase in sales volume of our products, driven by strong market demand for our products and offsetting a decline in the average selling price. We produced an aggregate of 132.9 MW of solar products in 2007 (consisting of 110.5 MW of solar cells we produced, 19.1 MW of solar cells we processed for other third parties and 3.3 MW of solar modules we engaged third parties to assemble for our customers) compared to 26.3 MW in 2006.

Our total revenues from sales in China increased significantly from RMB 685.3 million in 2006 to RMB 2,310.5 million in 2007, as we sell most of our PV cells to PV module manufacturers in China. As a result of our ongoing efforts in diversifying our customer base and reaching out to customers outside of China, however, our revenues from sales in China, as a percentage of our total revenues, decreased from 98.4% in 2006 to 85.8% in 2007.

Correspondingly, our sales outside China, with Spain and Japan being the two largest markets, increased significantly both in dollar amounts and as a percentage of our total revenues.

Cost of Revenues. Our cost of revenues increased significantly from RMB 524.2 million in 2006 to RMB 2,092.8 million in 2007. The increase in our cost of revenue was due primarily to the increased quantity of silicon wafers needed and the increase in the average cost of silicon wafers in 2007 over 2006, as a result of the rising market price of polysilicon and silicon wafers.

Gross Profit and Gross Margin. As a result of the foregoing, our gross profit increased from RMB 172.3 million in 2006 to RMB 600.9 million in 2007. Due to an increase in the price of silicon wafers, which is the primary raw material in our production of solar cells, as well as a decrease in the average selling price of solar cells, our gross margin decreased from 24.7% in 2006 to 22.3% in 2007.

Total Operating Expenses. Our total operating expenses increased from RMB 41.0 million in 2006 to RMB 154.5 million in 2007. The increase in our total operating expenses was due primarily to significant increases in our selling, general and administrative expenses associated with our increased production, as well as an increase in our research and development expenses. Total operating expenses as a percentage of our total revenue decreased from 5.9% in 2006 to 5.7% in 2007 as we improved our operating efficiency with an increased production capacity.

- Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. Our selling, general and administrative expenses increased from RMB 39.7 million in 2006 to RMB 150.3 million in 2007, but decreased, as a percentage of our total revenues, from 5.7% in 2006 to 5.5% in 2007. The increase in our selling, general and administrative expenses was due primarily to increases in our selling expenses, advertising expenses and warranty costs associated with our increased product sales, an increased amount of salary and benefits paid to our sales and marketing personnel as a result of increased headcount, as well as share-based compensation expenses of RMB 88.8 million relating to our stock options granted to certain employees and consultants.
- Research and Development Expenses. Our research and development expenses increased from RMB 1.3 million in 2006 to RMB 4.2 million in 2007 but remained stable as a percentage of our total revenue at 0.2%. The increase in our research and development expenses was due primarily to increases in raw material costs related to our increased research and development activities. Our research and development has primarily focused on: improving and optimizing our solar manufacturing process based on certain proprietary know-how.

Interest (Income) Expense, net. We incurred net interest expense of RMB 4.3 million in 2006 but generated net interest income of RMB 56.0 million in 2007. Our net interest income in 2007 was primarily the interest generated from the net proceeds from our initial public offering in January 2007 and follow-on offering in October 2007.

Other Income (Expense). Our other income increased from RMB 0.1 million in 2006 to RMB 5.2 million in 2007. The increase in our other income was due primarily to payments received from the depositary of our ADSs, the Bank of New York.

Foreign Exchange Gain (Loss). We generated foreign exchange gains of RMB 1.3 million in 2006 but incurred foreign exchange losses of RMB 112.8 million in 2007. The exchange losses were incurred because a significant portion of our cash assets are dominated in U.S. dollars, which depreciated significantly against the Renminbi in 2007.

Tax Benefit (Expense). We generated tax benefits of RMB 5.6 million in 2007, as compared to nil in 2006. This benefit was due primarily to the partial reversal of valuation allowances previously recorded.

Net Income. As a result of the cumulative effect of the above factors, our net income increased from RMB 128.4 million to RMB 400.4 million.

B. LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Cash Flows and Working Capital

We have financed our operations primarily through equity contributions by our shareholders through our initial and follow-on public offerings, the 2008 Offering of the Senior Notes, short-term bank borrowings and cash flow from operations. As of December 31, 2008, December 31, 2007, and December 31, 2006, we had RMB 1.58 billion (US\$ 0.23 billion), RMB 1.15 billion, and RMB 95.8 million in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash, respectively. Our cash and cash equivalents consist primarily of cash on hand, demand deposits and money market funds. Restricted cash represents amounts temporarily held by banks, which are not available for the company's use, as security for issuance of letters of credit. As of December 31, 2008, December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, we had RMB 490.0 million (US\$ 71.8 million), RMB 200 million, and RMB 150.0 million in outstanding short-term bank borrowings, respectively. In addition, the unused lines of credit were RMB 300 million as of December 31, 2008. These facilities contain no specific renewal terms and require no collateral.

Working capital and access to financing for purchase of silicon raw materials are critical to growing and sustaining our business. We have significant working capital commitments because suppliers of silicon wafers and polysilicon require us to make prepayments in advance of shipments. Our prepayments to suppliers increased from RMB1.8 billion as of December 31, 2007 to RMB2.6 billion (US\$384.8 million) as of December 31, 2008 as we sought to secure adequate wafer supplies for our expanded manufacturing capacity in 2008.

We believe that current cash and cash equivalents and anticipated cash flow from operations will be sufficient to meet our anticipated cash needs, including our cash needs for working capital and capital expenditures, for at least the next twelve months. We may, however, require additional cash to repay existing debt obligations or to re-finance our existing debts or due to changing business conditions or other future developments. If our existing cash is insufficient to meet our requirements, we may seek to sell additional equity securities, debt securities or borrow from lending institutions. The current global liquidity and credit crisis since the second half of 2008 has been having a significant negative impact on the financing abilities of businesses worldwide, including that of our company. If we are not able to generate sufficient cash flow to meet such obligations, we may need to refinance or restructure our debt, sell assets, reduce or delay capital investments, or seek additional equity or debt financing. We cannot assure you that financing will be available in the amounts we need or on terms acceptable to us, if at all. The sale of additional equity securities, including convertible debt securities, would dilute our shareholders. The incurrence of debt would result in increased interest rate risk, divert cash for working capital and capital expenditures to service debt obligations and could result in operating and financial covenants that restrict our operations and our ability to pay dividends to our shareholders. A shortage of such funds could in turn impose limitations on our ability to plan for, or react effectively to, changing market conditions or to expand through organic and acquisitive growth, thereby reducing our competitiveness.

The following table sets forth a summary of our cash flows for the periods indicated:

Edgar Filing: JA Solar Holdings Co., Ltd. - Form 20-F

	Year ended December 31,					
	2006	2007	2008			
	(in millions)					
	RMB	RMB	RMB	US\$		
Net cash used in operating						
activities	(61.8)	(1,146.5)	(1,289.2)	(189.0)		
Net cash used in investing						
activities	(107.6)	(1,641.6)	(419.4)	(61.5)		
Net cash provided by financing						
activities	254.8	3,519.6	2,610.3	382.6		
Effect of exchange rate changes						
on cash and cash equivalents	(0.6)	(91.3)	(94.9)	(13.9)		
Net increase in cash and cash						
equivalents	84.8	640.2	806.8	118.2		
Cash and cash equivalents at						
the beginning of the period	11.0	95.8	736.0	107.9		
Cash and cash equivalents at						
the end of the period	95.8	736.0	1,542.8	226.1		

Operating Activities. Net cash used in operating activities for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008 totaled RMB 61.8 million, RMB 1,146.5 million and RMB 1,289.2 million (US\$189.0 million), respectively. Net cash used in operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2008 were primarily affected by increases in advances to third party suppliers (net) of RMB 759.3 million, increases in inventory (net) of RMB 434.7 million, increase in accounts receivables from third party customers (net) of RMB 303.2 million, the change in value of Embedded Derivatives and the capped call option of RMB 564.0 million; gains from the senior convertible notes buyback of RMB 203.5 million, acquisition of trading security of RMB 353.6 million and depreciation and amortization of RMB 88.2 million. Net cash used in operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2007 were primarily affected by increases in advances to third-party suppliers of RMB 1.4 billion and decreases in accounts receivable from third-party customers of RMB 18.9 million, an increase in accounts payable of RMB 9.0 million, exchange loss of RMB 90.7 million, share-based compensation expenses of RMB 91.6 million and depreciation and amortization of RMB 34.1 million. Net cash used in operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2006 were primarily affected by increases in inventories of RMB 154.7 million, prepayments to related party suppliers of RMB 39.8 million and accounts receivable from third party customers of RMB 47.7 million, an increase in advances from third party customers of RMB 21.3 million, stock option compensation expenses of RMB 18.2 million and depreciation and amortization of RMB 11.2 million.

Investing Activities. Net cash used in investing activities for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008 amounted to RMB 107.6 million, RMB 1,641.6 million and RMB 419.4 million (US\$61.5 million), respectively, primarily as a result of purchases of property and equipment and changes in restricted cash balances in each of the periods.

Financing Activities. Net cash provided by financing activities the years ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008 were RMB 254.8 million, RMB 3,519.6 million and RMB 2,610.3 million (US\$382.6 million), respectively. Net cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2008 consisted of RMB 2.7 billion (US\$397.1 million) from our 2008 Offering of the Senior Notes. Net cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2007 consisted of RMB 3,341.0 million from net proceeds from our initial public offering in February 2007 and our follow-on offering in October 2007. Net cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2006 consisted of RMB 59.9 million of pro-rata capital contribution from ordinary shareholders, RMB

150.0 million from short-term bank borrowings and RMB 110.7 million of net proceeds from issuance of preferred shares, partially offset by a return of capital of RMB 65.7 million to ordinary shareholders in connection with our corporate restructuring into an offshore holding company structure. Our short-term bank borrowings outstanding as of December 31, 2008 bore average interest rates of 5.39% in 2008. These borrowings generally have terms of six to twelve months and expire at various times throughout 2009. These loans were borrowed from various financial institutions. All of these short-term credit facilities were restricted to working capital usage. These facilities contain no specific renewal terms, but we have historically been able to obtain extensions of some of the facilities shortly before they mature. We plan to repay these short-term bank borrowings with cash generated by our operating activities in the event we are unable to obtain extensions of these facilities or alternative funding in the future.

Dividends from Subsidiaries. Except for certain administrative, R&D and after-sales activities conducted through our wholly-owned subsidiary in the United States, JA USA, we conduct substantially all of our operating activities inside the PRC through our various PRC subsidiaries. As such, we do not rely heavily on dividends remitted to us by our PRC subsidiaries to sustain our worldwide operations; and restrictions under PRC law on the remittance of dividends outside the PRC have not had a material adverse effect on our liquidity or capital resources. See "Item 3. Key Information — D. Risk Factors — Risks Related to Doing Business in China — Our operating subsidiaries in China are subject to legal limitations in paying dividends to us."

Capital Expenditures

We made capital expenditures of RMB 107.6 million, RMB 421.8 million, and RMB 812.5 million in the years ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively. Our capital expenditures have historically been used primarily to purchase property and equipment to construct and expand our solar cell manufacturing lines.

From the net proceeds of our 2008 Offering, we have expended approximately US\$70.2 million to purchase manufacturing equipment and related manufacturing lines for JA Yangzhou, as well as research and development facilities for JHY Semiconductor.

We expect that purchase of property and equipment for our planned expansion in manufacturing capacity will continue to constitute a significant portion of our capital expenditure. As of December 31, 2008, we had contracted for capital expenditures on machinery and equipment of US\$34.2 million. We estimate that our capital expenditures in 2009 will be approximately US\$50 million, which will be used primarily for the expansion of our Yangzhou manufacturing and R&D facilities as well as R&D facilities for JHY Semiconductor . We plan to fund the balance of our 2009 capital expenditure substantially with cash from operations and additional borrowings from third parties.

C. RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT, PATENTS AND LICENSES, ETC.

We believe that we have an experienced and committed research and development team. Upon our formation, we acquired proprietary technical know-how related to the commercial production process of solar cells from Australia PV Science & Engineering Co. as part of its capital contribution to us within an implied value of RMB 9.0 million.

Currently, Dr. Qingtang Jiang leads our research and development team. Since our commencement of production in April 2006, we have significantly improved our solar cell fabricating process technologies, including improvements in each of the following processing steps. These technological improvements have increased cell conversion efficiencies in the various types of silicon wafers that we produce and have improved the production yields of our manufacturing lines.

- Texturing. We have introduced a new process formula to the texturing process. As a result, the nucleation of pyramids has been improved and the repetition of texturing quality in our manufacturing lines has been more reliable;
- Diffusion. We have modified our diffusion process and introduced a new processing technology to reduce the defects and surface damage created during the process, which, in turn, has resulted in an improvement to the lifetime of the processed wafers; and

• Drying and Firing. We have designed new drying and firing conditions for the metal pastes. The new conditions allow solar cells to have a good back surface field, ohmic contacts and low "bow." The low "bow" may significantly reduce wafer breakage during automatic soldering when manufacturing modules.

We intend to continue to focus our research and development efforts on improving and developing processing technologies for production of solar cells aimed at increasing solar cell conversion efficiency and other qualities as well as reducing production costs, including one or more of the following projects and topics:

- "Selective Emitter" Structure. We intend to develop a novel diffusion approach to form a "selective emitter" structure on the front surface of the cells, which will simplify the manufacturing process sequence and make it suitable for commercialization. This technique is expected to lead to improved cell efficiency in excess of 20% for monocrystalline silicon wafers.
- Ultra-thin Wafer Industrial Manufacturing. To refine our techniques used in the processing of ultra-thin wafers, we plan to study the stress and defect rates of wafers in each stage of the manufacturing process in order to control wafer breakage.
- Quality Control Techniques. We intend to develop enhanced techniques to be applied in the quality control of our products and manufacturing lines, including characterization of product performance, in-line diagnostics, and methods to control production yield, product durability and reliability.
- Multicrystalline Screen-printing Silicon Solar Cells. We intend to research different approaches to improve the electronic quality of the multicrystalline silicon substrate and to enhance the efficiency of multicrystalline screen-printing silicon solar cells.

Our research and development expenditures were RMB 1.4 million, RMB 4.2 million and RMB 28.5 million in 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively.

D. TREND INFORMATION

Other than as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, we are not aware of any trends, uncertainties, demands, commitments or events since January 1, 2008 that are reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on our net revenues, income, profitability, liquidity or capital resources, or that caused the disclosed financial information to be not necessarily indicative of future operating results or financial conditions.

E. OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

Except for operating leases, we did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements, including guarantees, outstanding derivative financial instruments, interest rate swap transactions or foreign currency forward contracts for the year ended December 31, 2008. See "Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects — F. Tabular Disclosure of Contractual Obligations" for a description of our operating leases.

However, our international sales have been increasing over the years and, since December 31, 2008, we have entered into foreign currency forward arrangements. Our European sales revenue is denominated in Euros while our functional currency is RMB, which exposes us to Euro-RMB foreign exchange risk. Our risk management strategy is to try to eliminate some transactional foreign exchange risk through the use of foreign currency forward contracts.

Accordingly, we have entered into some Euro-RMB forward contracts with a PRC bank to hedge anticipated Euro denominated sales against currency fluctuations between the Euro and RMB in 2009. These contracts will cover Euro denominated sales revenue from forecasted sales expected to occur in various periods from 2009 to 2010.

F. TABULAR DISCLOSURE OF CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

The following table sets forth our contractual obligations and commercial commitments as of December 31, 2008:

	Payments due by period				
		Less than	1-3	3-5	More than
	Total	1 year	years	years	5 years
	(amounts in RMB thousands)				
Short-term debt obligations (including					
interest averaging 5.39%)	513,572	513,572	_		
Operating lease obligations	61,334	17,112	33,602	10,620	
Non-cancelable purchase orders	233,250	232,403	847	_	
Purchase commitments under take-or-pay					
agreements	67,462,260	6,191,780	26,294,815	20,160,889	14,814,776
Purchase commitments under other					
agreements(1)	256,929	18,352	18,352	73,408	146,817
Senior Notes (including interest					
cost)	2,643,149	112,679	300,202	2,230,268	
Other long-term liabilities reflected on the					
company's balance sheet	5,185				- 5,185
Total	71,178,679	7,085,898	26,647,818	22,475,185	14,969,778

(1) include only purchase commitments with fixed or minimum price provisions. In addition, the company has also entered into other supply agreements with variable price provisions, under which the purchase price is based on market prices with price adjustment terms.

Short-term debt obligations: Our short-term debt obligations relate to short-term bank borrowings borrowed from various financial institutions in the PRC with an average interest rate of 5.39% per annum. The borrowings have six to twelve months terms and expire at various times throughout 2009.

Operating lease obligations:

For the periods covered by these consolidated financial statements, JA Solar leased certain assets, including offices, dormitory and production facilities, from the Jinglong Group, under a non-cancelable operating lease expiring in June 30, 2006, with an option to renew. During the same time, JA Solar also leased a piece of land under a non-cancelable operating lease from a third party expiring on May 31, 2019.

On July 1, 2006, JA Solar renewed its operating lease with the Jinglong Group. The renewed operating lease with the Jinglong Group covers the previously leased assets from the Jinglong Group, as well as the land initially leased from the third party, the rights of which was subsequently acquired by the Jinglong Group. The new non-cancelable operating lease with the Jinglong Group expires in June 2010 with an annual rental of RMB 1.8 million, which approximates market rents. JA Solar executed a lease termination agreement for the land with the third party on June 30, 2006.

JA Solar also holds an operating lease with the Jinglong Group for an automobile. This non-cancelable operating lease expired in December 2007 and was renewed until December 2010.

In June 2007, JA Solar entered into another operating lease with the Jinglong Group to expand its facilities to host new manufacturing lines installed. The new non-cancelable operating lease with the Jinglong Group expires in December 2011 with an annual rental of RMB 1.2 million, which approximates market rents.

In July 2008, JA Solar entered into its operating lease with the Jinglong Group. The renewed operating lease with the Jinglong Group replaced the two aforementioned operating leases and has an annual rental of RMB 12 million. This non-cancelable operating lease expires in June 2012. In November 2008, JA Solar entered into another operating lease with the Jinglong Group. The new non-cancelable operating lease with the Jinglong Group expires in December 2012 with an annual rental of RMB 3.8 million. In December 2008, JA Solar entered into an operating lease with a related party. The new non-cancelable operating lease with the related party expires in December 2012 with an annual rental of RMB 0.8 million.

Non-cancelable purchase obligations:

As of December 31, 2008, we had contracted for capital expenditure on machinery and equipment of RMB 233.3 million.

Purchase commitments under agreements:

In order to better manage our unit costs and to secure adequate and timely supply of polysilicon and silicon wafers during the recent periods of shortages of polysilicon and silicon wafer supplies, the company entered into a number of multi-year supply agreements from 2006 through 2008 in amounts that were expected to meet our anticipated production needs. As a condition to our receiving the raw materials under those agreements, and in line with industry practice, we were required to, and have made advances to suppliers for all, or a portion, of the total contract price to our suppliers, which are then offset against future purchases. As of December 31, 2008, JA Solar is obligated to make an additional RMB 1.5 billion of advances to certain suppliers over the next twelve months. Out of this total, RMB 176.7 million was paid in January 2009. We have completed re-negotiating certain of our supplier arrangements and are currently in the process of re-negotiating the remaining prepayment obligations with our suppliers.

Set out below are our fixed obligations under these multi-year contracts including "take or pay" arrangements.

"Take or Pay" Supply Agreements

The company's multi-year supply agreements with some suppliers are structured as fixed price and quantity "take or pay" arrangements which allow the supplier to invoice the company for the full stated purchase price of polysilicon or silicon wafers the company is obligated to purchase each year, whether or not the company actually purchases the contractual volume.

Other Multi-Year Supply Agreements

In addition to the "take or pay" arrangements above, the company has also entered into other multi-year supply agreements to purchase fixed volumes of polysilicon or silicon wafers from certain suppliers. Under these agreements, the purchase price is to be periodically adjusted based on relevant energy price index. The purchase price is stated in certain of these agreements for period less than six months with price adjustment terms.

Impact of Amendments Subsequent to December 31, 2008

Subsequent to December 31, 2008, JA Solar has amended various multi-year supply agreements, including "take or pay" contracts, for deliveries from 2009 to 2016, with the following suppliers: GCL, M. SETEK, Zhejiang Yuhui Solar Energy Source Co., Ltd., Jiangsu Shunda Semiconductor Developing Co., Ltd., and Solar Silicon Valley Electronic Science and Technology Co., Ltd. The amendments reduce the company's fixed obligations substantially by revising the contractual price, from fixed to market based variable price on a majority of the contracts, and in certain instances also the contractual quantity and delivery schedule and prepayment deduction schedule to more favorable terms. However, majority of the quantities that the company is required to purchase under the amended multi-year supply agreements, including "take or pay" supply agreements, remain the same. If we fail to meet our obligations under the amended agreements and are unable to further renegotiate the terms of our multi-year supply agreements, we may be forced to forfeit certain prepayment amounts and be subject to claims or other disputes which could materially and adversely affect our results of operations, and financial position.

See "Item 3. Key Information — D. Risk Factors — Risks Related to Our Supply Chain."

Senior Notes: The Senior Notes bear interest at the rate of 4.5% per annum and will be due in May 2013. The company bought back US\$24.95 million par value of the Senior Notes after December 31, 2008 and up to the date of the issuance of this report.

Other long-term liabilities reflected on the company's balance sheet: Other long-term liabilities reflected on the company's balance sheet relate to product warranty costs we accrued for module sales.

G. SAFE HARBOR

This annual report includes "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. All statements, other than statements of historical facts, included in this annual report that address activities, events or developments which we expect or anticipate will or may occur in the future are hereby identified as forward-looking statements for the purpose of the safe harbor provided by Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

Forward-looking statements typically are identified by words or phrases such as "may," "will," "expect," "anticipate," "aim," "estimate," "intend," "plan," "believe," "potential," "continue," "is/are likely to" or other similar expressions or the negative of words or expressions. We have based these forward-looking statements largely on our current expectations and projections about future events and financial trends that we believe may affect our financial condition, results of operations, business strategy and financial needs. These forward-looking statements include, among other things, statements relating to:

- our expectations regarding the worldwide demand for electricity and the market for solar energy;
- our beliefs regarding the inability of traditional fossil fuel-based generation technologies to meet the demand for electricity;
 - our beliefs regarding the importance of environmentally friendly power generation;
 - our expectations regarding governmental incentives for the deployment of solar energy;
 - our beliefs regarding the solar power industry revenue growth;
 - our expectations with respect to advancements in our technologies;
 - our beliefs regarding the low-cost advantage of solar cell production in China;
 - our beliefs regarding the competitiveness of our solar power products;
 - our expectations regarding the scaling of our solar power capacity;
- our expectations with respect to increased revenue growth and our ability to achieve profitability resulting from increases in our production volumes;
 - our expectations with respect to our ability to secure raw materials in the future;
 - our expectations with respect to our ability to develop relationships with customers in our target markets;
 - our future business development, results of operations and financial condition; and
 - competition from other manufacturers of solar power products and conventional energy suppliers.

This annual report also contains data related to the solar power market worldwide and in China. These market data include projections that are based on a number of assumptions. The solar power market may not grow at the rates projected by the market data, or at all. The failure of the market to grow at the projected rates may have a material

adverse effect on our business and the market price of our ADSs. In addition, the rapidly changing nature of the solar power market subjects any projections or estimates relating to the growth prospects or future condition of our market to significant uncertainties. If any one or more of the assumptions underlying the market data turns out to be incorrect, actual results may be materially different from the projections based on these assumptions. Therefore, you should not rely upon forward-looking statements as predictions of future events.

The forward-looking statements made in this annual report on Form 20-F relate only to events or information as of the date on which the statements are made in this annual report on Form 20-F. Except as required by law, we undertake no obligation to update or revise publicly any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, after the date on which the statements are made or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events. You should read this annual report on Form 20-F completely and with the understanding that our actual future results may be materially different from what we expect.

ITEM 6. DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND EMPLOYEES

A. DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Directors and Executive Officers

The following table sets forth our directors and executive officers, their ages as of the date of this annual report and the positions held by them. The business address for each of our directors and executive officers is No. 36, Jiang Chang San Road, Zhabei, Shanghai, People's Republic of China.

Name	Age		Position
Baofang Jin		56	Chairman of the Board of Directors
Huaijin			
Yang		45	Chief Executive Officer and Director
Elmer M.			
Hsu		65	Chief Operating Officer and Director
Bingyan			
Ren		62	Director
Erying Jia		54	Director
Nai-Yu Pai		59	Independent Director
Honghua			
Xu		42	Independent Director
M. Anthea			
Chung		40	Chief Financial Officer
Daniel Lui		45	Chief Strategy Officer
Qingtang			Vice President of Operations and Acting Chief
Jiang		45	Technology Officers
			Vice President of Business Development and Corporate
Ming Yang		35	Communications
Raymond P.			
Wilson		49	Vice President of Sales and Marketing

Baofang Jin, Chairman of the Board of Directors. Mr. Jin has been our chairman since May 2005. Mr. Jin has been the chairman of our Board of Directors and chief executive officer of Jinglong Group since 2003. From April 1984 to January 1992, Mr. Jin was the general manager of Ningjin County Agricultural Equipment Company. Mr. Jin currently also serves as a vice-chairman of the Chinese People's Political Consultative Conference of Ningjin County. Mr. Jin graduated from Hebei Broadcast and Television University, China, with an associate's degree in 1996.

Huaijin Yang, Chief Executive Officer and Director. Mr. Yang is our founder and has been our chief executive officer since May 2005. Before founding our company, Mr. Yang established Shanghai Tianxin Electronic Pty Ltd. in November 2002, a distributor of solar cell manufacturing equipment. Mr. Yang worked for Suntech Power Co., Ltd. from February 2000 to September 2002, where he served as the chief executive officer's assistant in charge of marketing. In July 1997, Mr. Yang established Southern Sunshine International Australia Pty Ltd., an export agent for water heater and crane copper plumbing pipes equipment, and served as its managing director until December 1999. Mr. Yang received his master's degree in economics from Macquarie University, Australia, in April 1994, and his bachelor's degree in economics from Shanghai University of Finance and Economics, China, in July 1985.

Elmer M. Hsu, Ph.D. Chief Operating Officer and Director. Dr. Hsu has been serving on our Board of Directors since September 2007 and was appointed as our chief operating officer in July 2008. Dr. Hsu worked at the Industrial Technology Research Institute, or ITRI, in Taiwan from 2000 to 2007, where he served as vice president of ITRI and general director of the RFID (or radio-frequency identification) and Security Technology Center. Prior to that, he worked at Hughes Electronics Company from 1981 to 2000, where he served at several positions, including executive director/vice president for product effectiveness, executive leadership council member, senior director for product assurance and total quality management, laboratory managers for process and industrial engineering, and department manager for process engineering. He served as a senior scientist at Lockheed Electronics Company in Texas from 1974 to 1980. Dr. Hsu received his Ph.D. degree and master's degree in mathematics & statistics from University of Louisiana.

Bingyan Ren, Director. Mr. Ren has been our director since May 2005. He also serves as the vice-chairman of Jinglong Group. Prior to becoming our director, he was a professor of semiconductor materials and photovoltaic materials at the Hebei University of Technology from 1972 to May 2005. Mr. Ren currently is a member of the semiconductor material academic committee of China and a member of semiconductor standardization technical committee of China. He also serves as a vice-director of semiconductor material research institute of Hebei University of Technology and a consultant to Hebei Ningjin Monocrystalline Silicon Industry Park. Mr. Ren graduated from North Jiaotong University, China, in July 1970.

Erying Jia, Director. Mr. Jia has been our director since September 2007. He has also served as executive deputy general manager and director of Jinglong Group since January 2006. Prior to that, he served at several administrative positions in Ningjin County, Hebei Province, China. He holds a bachelor's degree in public administration.

Nai-Yu Pai, Independent Director. Mr. Pai has been our independent director since January 2007. Mr. Pai is a certified public accountant with over 30 years of accounting and auditing experience. Mr. Pai founded Pai Accountancy LLP in 1983 and has been its general partner since then. Since 2004, Mr. Pai has served as a director of Gaia Interactive Inc., a provider of a forum-based website, and has served as a director of Authenex Inc., a provider of e-security solutions on network environments, since 2001. Mr. Pai has also served as a director for Sigrity Inc. since 2005, for Giquila since 2004 and for Chinese Cancer Memorial Foundation since 1999. Mr. Pai received his master's degree in accounting from Saint John's University and master's degree in taxation from Golden Gate University.

Honghua Xu, Independent Director. Mr. Xu has been our independent director since January 2007. Mr. Xu has worked at the Electronic Engineering Institute of the Academy of Science of China since 1988. Mr. Xu currently is a researcher and director of the Renewable Resources Development Department of the Electronic Engineering Institute. Mr. Xu is the chairman of Beijing Kenuo Weiye Technology Company and director of Beijing Zhongke Electronics High Technology Company. Mr. Xu is the vice director of the Wind Power Academic Committee of China, National Wind Power Machinery Standardization Committee, Renewable Resources Industry Committee of China and Small Generator Commission of Rural Resources Industry Committee of China and a member of Solar Academic Committee of China. Mr. Xu received his bachelor's and master's degree in engineering from Tianjin University, China.

Ming-Wai Anthea Chung, Chief Financial Officer. Ms. Chung has been our chief financial officer since January 2009. Ms. Chung has more than 16 years of financial management experience at public and private companies, including most recently the chief financial officer position at Solar Enertech Corp., a public company that manufactures solar cells and solar modules in Shanghai and Menlo Park, California. There she had full responsibility

for finance, investor relations and legal activities. She was also vice president and corporate controller at RAE Systems in San Jose, California for three years prior to being chief financial officer at Solar Enertech Corp. Ms. Chung has also been a corporate controller at TLZ Inc. in Mountain View, California and began her career as an auditor at PricewaterhouseCoopers, where she rose from associate to audit manager in her eight years there.

Ms. Chung earned her bachelor of science degree in accounting at Indiana University and is a certified public accountant.

Daniel Lui, Chief Strategy Officer. Mr. Lui brings into JA Solar with over 18 years of professional and commercial accounting experience, 8 of which in mainland China, and carries the credentials of Chartered Accountant (British Columbia, Canada) and CPA-inactive (Washington, USA). Prior to joining JA Solar, Mr. Lui was CFO of PacificNet Inc., PACT, a Nasdaq listed gaming technology provider. Prior to joining PACT, Mr. Lui was Company Secretary and VP of Finance of Fiberxon Inc., Fiberxon, a communications subsystem startup incorporated in Delaware. Prior to Fiberxon, Mr. Lui was CFO of China Motion NetCom Ltd., China Motion, a wholly owned subsidiary of China Motion Telecom International Limited, a telecom value added service provider in Hong Kong. Prior to China Motion, Mr. Lui was Financial Advisory Services Manager of PricewaterhouseCoopers in Hong Kong and auditor with KPMG Calgary, Canada. Mr. Lui received his Bachelors of Business Administration degree from University of Hawaii at Manoa and Masters of Business Administration from University of Alberta.

Qingtang Jiang, Ph.D., Vice President of Operations and Acting Chief Technology Officer. Dr. Jiang has been our Vice President of Operations, since September 2007. Dr. Jiang has over 15 years experience in operation management, new product and technology development, and academic research at national laboratories in the U.S. Prior to joining us, Dr. Jiang has served as vice president of technology and development at Huahong NEC Electronics Company since August 2005. From 2001 to 2005, Dr. Jiang worked at Semiconductor Manufacturing International Corporation, where he was a senior director in charge of operations for Fab 3 and Fab 1. Prior to his return to China, Dr. Jiang worked for several major semiconductor companies in the U.S. from 1994 to 2001, including Texas Instruments, National Semiconductor and Siliconix, in both technology development and manufacturing areas. Prior to 1994, Dr. Jiang worked in the academic field and served as a staff scientist at Superconducting Supercollider, a U.S. national laboratory. Dr. Jiang received his M.S. and Ph.D. degrees from Rutgers University in the U.S. in 1989 and 1992, respectively, and his B.S. degree from Beijing University in China in 1985. Following Dr. Ximing Dai's resignation, Dr. Jiang became our acting chief technology officer.

Ming Yang, Vice President of Business Development and Corporate Communications. Mr. Yang has been our Vice President of Business Development and Corporate Communications since January 2009. He has more than six years of experience working as a Wall Street buyside and sellside analyst, specializing in renewable energy and semiconductor materials sectors. Most recently, he was an analyst covering the renewable energy sector at Coatue Management, a US\$ 2 billion hedge fund based in New York. Before that, he was vice president at Piper Jaffray for four years, as senior China research analyst covering solar energy and semiconductor materials, based in Shanghai. Mr. Yang earned his master of business administration degree from Cornell University and a bachelor's degree in electrical engineering and computer science from the University of California at Berkeley.

Raymond P. Wilson, Vice President of Sales and Marketing. Mr. Wilson has been our Vice President of Sales and Marketing since September 2007. He has 15 years experience in sales and marketing. Prior to joining us, he served as sales and marketing manager for Crane Copper Tube in Penrith, Australia since 1996, where he was in charge of global sales and distribution. He worked for Crane Enfield Metals in Penrith, Australia as national sales manager from 1994 to 1995, as business development manager in 1993 and as project engineer from 1985 to 1991. In 1992, he worked as manager at CEM Fittings in West Heidelberg, Australia. Mr. Wilson received his master's degree in engineering management from University of Technology in Sydney, Australia in 1991 and his bachelor's degree in engineering from NSW Institute of Technology in Australia in 1985.

Employment Agreements

We have entered into employment agreement with each of our executive officers. Under these agreements, we may terminate his or her employment for cause at any time, without notice or remuneration, for certain acts of the employee, including but not limited to a conviction or plea of guilty to a felony or to an act of fraud, misappropriation or embezzlement, negligence or dishonest act to the detriment of the company, or misconduct of the employee and failure to perform his or her agreed-to duties after a reasonable opportunity to cure the failure. Furthermore, we may terminate the employment without cause at any time, in which case we will pay the employee a compensation equal to three months of his or her salary. An executive officer may terminate the employment at any time upon one to three months written notice.

Each executive officer has agreed to hold, both during and subsequent to the term of the agreement, our confidential information in strict confidence and not to disclose such information to anyone except to our other employees who have a need to know such information in connection with our business or except as required in the performance of his or her duties in connection with the employment. The executive officer shall not use our confidential information other than for our benefits. The executive officers have also agreed to assign to us all rights, titles and interests to or in any inventions that they may conceive or develop during the period of employment, including any copyrights, patents, mark work rights, trade secrets or other intellectual property rights pertaining to such inventions.

Terms of Directors and Officers

The term of each director is three years. Our directors may be removed from office by resolutions of the shareholders. Under the employment agreement entered into by us and our executive officers, the initial term is three years except, Dr. Qingtang Jiang, and our vice president of sales and marketing, Mr. Raymond P. Wilson are employed with us at will.

B. COMPENSATION

Compensation of Directors and Executive Officers

For the year ended December 31, 2008, we paid aggregate compensation of RMB 8.2 million (US\$1.2 million) to our six executive positions. In addition, for the year end of December 31, 2008, we granted an aggregate 2,010,000 ordinary share options, net of shares forfeited, to our directors and executive officers, with exercise price of US\$2.38 and expiration date on November 12, 2018. Other than ordinary share options granted under our 2006 stock incentive plan, as well as fees paid to our independent directors for board services rendered, we only paid compensation to those directors who also served as executive officers.

Code of Ethics

We have adopted a code of ethics for chief executive and senior financial officers, which we filed with the SEC as an exhibit to our annual report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2006. This home country practice of ours was established by us by reference to similarly situated issuers and differs from the Nasdaq Marketplace Rules that require listed companies to adopt one or more codes of conduct applicable to all directors, officers and employees and make those codes of conduct publicly available. There are, however, no specific requirements under Cayman Islands law requiring the adoption of codes of conduct.

Stock Option Plans

We adopted our 2006 stock incentive plan on August 18, 2006, which provides for the grant of incentive stock options, non-qualified stock options, restricted stock and restricted stock units, referred to as "awards." The purpose of the plan is to provide additional incentive to those officers, employees, directors, consultants and other service providers whose contributions are essential to the growth and success of our business, in order to strengthen the commitment of such persons to us and motivate such persons to faithfully and diligently perform their responsibilities and attract and retain competent and dedicated persons whose efforts will result in our long-term growth and profitability.

Plan Administration. Our 2006 stock incentive plan is administered by our Board of Directors or a committee or subcommittee appointed by our Board of Directors. In each case, our Board of Directors or the committee will determine the provisions and terms and conditions of each award grant, including, but not limited to, the exercise price for the options, vesting schedule, form of payment of exercise price and other applicable terms.

Award Agreement. Awards granted under our 2006 stock incentive plan are evidenced by an award agreement that sets forth the terms and conditions for each award grant, which include, among other things, the vesting schedule, exercise price, type of option and expiration date of each award grant.

Eligibility. We may grant awards to an officer, director, employee, consultant, advisor or another service provider of our company or any of our parent or subsidiary, provided that directors of our company or any of our parent or subsidiary who are not also employees of our company or any of our parent or subsidiary, and consultants or advisors to our company or any of our parent or subsidiary may not be granted incentive stock options.

Option Term. The term of each option granted under the 2006 Incentive Stock Option may not exceed ten years from the date of grant. If an incentive stock option is granted to an eligible participant who owns more than 10% of the voting power of all classes of our share capital, the term of such option shall not exceed five years from the date of grant.

Exercise Price. In the case of non-qualified stock option, the per share exercise price of shares purchasable under an option shall be determined by the plan administrator in its sole discretion at the time of grant. In the case of incentive stock option, the per share exercise price of shares purchasable under an option shall not be less than 100% of the fair market value per share at the time of grant. However, if we grant an incentive stock option to an employee, who at the time of that grant owns shares representing more than 10% of the voting power of all classes of our share capital, the exercise price cannot be less than 110% of the fair market value of our ordinary shares on the date of that grant.

Amendment and Termination. Our Board of Directors may at any time amend, alter or discontinue the plan, provided that no amendment, alteration, or discontinuation shall be made that would impair the rights of a participant under any award theretofore granted without such participant's consent. Unless terminated earlier, our 2006 stock incentive plan shall continue in effect for a term of ten years from the effective date of the plan.

Under our 2006 stock incentive plan, we may grant options to purchase up to 10% of share capital of the company. On August 21, 2006, April 3, 2007, September 17, 2007, we granted options to purchase 1,728,000, 2,400,000 and

4,410,000 ordinary shares to certain of our directors, employees and consultants, respectively. In November 2007 and during the year ended December 31, 2008, we granted 99,000 and 6,132,000 ordinary options to new employees, respectively. From January to June 15, 2009, we granted 1,013,000 ordinary options to new employees.

Our board has authorized a committee, currently consisting of Mr. Huaijin Yang, our chief executive officer and director and Dr. Elmer Hsu, our chief operating officer and director, to approve option grants under our 2006 stock incentive plan.

As of June 15, 2009, options to purchase 7,429,000 ordinary shares remained outstanding. During January to May, 2009, the 1,209,000 unvested options for employees and 20,000 unvested options for a consultant were forfeited. During January to May 2009, there were 195,000 unvested options expired. Subsequently on June 15, 2009, 1,710,000 share options previously granted to three executive officers were surrendered and cancelled.

C. BOARD PRACTICES

Board of Directors and Board Committees

Our Board of Directors currently consists of seven members, including two independent directors who satisfy the "independence" requirements of the Nasdaq Marketplace Rules and meet the criteria for "independence" under Rule 10A-3 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act. This home country practice of ours was established by our Board of Directors by reference to similarly situated issuers and differs from the Nasdaq Marketplace Rules that require the board to be comprised of a majority of independent directors.

There are, however, no specific requirements under Cayman Islands law that the board must be comprised of a majority of independent directors. There are no family relationships between our directors or executive officers.

We do not have regularly scheduled meetings at which only independent directors are present, or executive sessions. This home country practice of ours was established by our Board of Directors by reference to similarly situated issuers and differs from the Nasdaq Marketplace Rules that require the company to have regularly scheduled executive sessions at which only independent directors are present. There are, however, no specific requirements under Cayman Islands law on executive sessions.

We have established three committees under our Board of Directors: an audit committee, a compensation committee and a nominating and corporate governance committee. We have adopted a charter for each of the three committees. Each committee's composition and functions are described below.

Audit Committee. Our audit committee consists of Mr. Nai-Yu Pai and Mr. Honghua Xu and is chaired by Mr. Nai-Yu Pai. All of the members of the audit committee satisfy the "independence" requirements of the Nasdaq Marketplace Rules and meet the criteria for "independence" under Rule 10A-3 under the Exchange Act. We have been in the process of seeking a third member for our Audit Committee after Mr. Robert Jih-Chang Yang, a former member of our Board of Directors and Audit Committee that also satisfied the "independence" requirements described above, resigned in March 2009. The third seat on our audit committee is currently vacant in reliance on Nasdaq Marketplace Rule 5615(a)(3), which permits a foreign private issuer like us to follow our home country practice in relation to the composition of its audit committee. In this regard we have elected to adopt the practices of our home country, the Cayman Islands, which does not require us to have a three member audit committee or to fill all three seats on the audit committee at this time. The audit committee will oversee our accounting and financial reporting processes and the audits of the financial statements of our company. The audit committee will be responsible for, among other things:

- appointment, compensation, retention and oversight of the work of the independent registered public accounting firm:
- approving all auditing and non-auditing services permitted to be performed by the independent registered public accounting firm;
- meeting separately and periodically with management and the independent registered public accounting firm;
- oversight of annual audit and quarterly reviews, including reviewing with independent registered public accounting firm the annual audit plans;
- oversight of financial reporting process and internal controls, including reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness of our internal controls policies and procedures on a regular basis;

• establishing procedures for the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints received by us regarding accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing matters; and

• reviewing and implementing related person transaction policies and procedures for the committee's review and approval of proposed related person transactions, including all transactions required to be disclosed by Item 404(a) of Regulation S-K under the Securities Act.

Compensation Committee. Our compensation committee consists of Mr. Nai-Yu Pai, Mr. Honghua Xu, Dr. Elmer M. Hsu and Mr. Huaijin Yang, and is chaired by Mr. Huaijin Yang. Messrs. Pai and Xu satisfy the "independence" requirements of the Nasdaq Marketplace Rules and meet the criteria for "independence" under Rule 10A-3 under the Exchange Act. This home country practice of ours was established by our Board of Directors and differs from the Nasdaq Marketplace Rules that require the compensation committees of listed companies to be comprised solely of independent directors. There are, however, no specific requirements under Cayman Islands law on the composition of compensation committees. The compensation committee assists the board in reviewing and approving the compensation structure, including all forms of compensation, relating to our directors and executive officers. Mr. Huaijin Yang, our chief executive officer, may not be present at any committee meeting during which his compensation is deliberated. The compensation committee is responsible for, among other things:

- reviewing at least annually our executive compensation plans;
- evaluating annually the performance of our chief executive officer and other executive officers;
- determining and recommending to the board the compensation package for our chief executive officer and other executive officers;
- evaluating annually the appropriate level of compensation for board and board committee service by non-employee directors;
- •reviewing and approving any severance or termination arrangements to be made with any of our executive officers; and
 - reviewing at least annually our general compensation plans and other employee benefits plans.

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. Our nominating and corporate governance committee consists of Mr. Nai-Yu Pai, Mr. Honghua Xu, Dr. Elmer M. Hsu and Mr. Huaijin Yang, and is chaired by Nai-Yu Pai. Messrs. Pai and Xu satisfy the "independence" requirements of the Nasdaq Marketplace Rules and meet the criteria for "independence" under Rule 10A-3 under the Exchange Act. This home country practice of ours was established by our Board of Directors and differs from the Nasdaq Marketplace Rules that require the nominating committees of listed companies to be comprised solely of independent directors. There are, however, no specific requirements under Cayman Islands law on the composition of nominating committees. The nominating and corporate governance committee assists our Board of Directors in selecting individuals qualified to become our directors and in determining the composition of the board and its committees. The nominating and corporate governance committee is responsible for, among other things:

- establishing procedures for evaluating the suitability of potential director nominees;
- recommending to the board nominees for election by the stockholders or appointment by the board;
- reviewing annually with the board the current composition of the board with regards to characteristics such as knowledge, skills, experience, expertise and diversity required for the board as a whole;

- reviewing periodically the size of the board and recommending any appropriate changes;
- recommending to the board the size and composition of each standing committee of the board; and
- •reviewing periodically and at least annually the corporate governance principles adopted by the board to assure that they are appropriate for us and comply with the requirements under the rules and regulations of the SEC and the Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. where applicable.

Duties of Directors

Under Cayman Islands law, our directors have a fiduciary duty to act honestly, in good faith and with a view to our best interests. Our directors also have a duty to exercise the skill they actually possess and such care and diligence that a reasonably prudent person would exercise in comparable circumstances. In fulfilling their duty of care to us, our directors must ensure compliance with our memorandum and articles of association, as amended from time to time. A shareholder has the right to seek damages if a duty owed by our directors is breached.

The functions and powers of our Board of Directors include, among others:

- convening shareholders' annual general meetings and reporting its work to shareholders at such meetings;
 - declaring dividends and distributions;
 - appointing officers and determining the term of office of officers;
 - exercising the borrowing powers of our company and mortgaging the property of our company; and
- approving the transfer of shares of our company, including the registering of such shares in our share register.

Term of Office and Benefits

Our directors serve a term of three years and do not receive any special benefits upon termination.

Interested Transactions

A director may vote in respect of any contract or transaction in which he or she is interested, provided that the nature of the interest of any directors in such contract or transaction is disclosed by him or her at or prior to its consideration and any vote in that matter.

D. EMPLOYEES

As of December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008, we had a total of 619, 1,465 and 4,213 employees, respectively. The following table sets forth the number of our employees categorized by our areas of operations and as a percentage of our workforce as of December 31, 2008:

	Number of employees	Percentage of total	
Manufacturing and engineering	3,6	50	86.64 %
Quality assurance	1	37	3.25 %
General and administration	1	77	4.20 %
Purchasing and logistics		86	2.04 %
Research and development	1	25	2.97 %
Marketing and sales		17	0.40 %
Others		21	0.50 %

Total 4,213 100.00 %

From time to time, we also employ part-time employees and independent contractors to support our research and development, manufacturing and sales and marketing activities.

Our success depends to a significant extent upon our ability to attract, retain and motivate qualified personnel. As of December 31, 2008, 513 of our employees held bachelor's or higher degrees, and all of our manufacturing line employees have post-high school technical degrees or high school diplomas. A number of our employees have overseas education and industry experience.

We are required by applicable PRC regulations to contribute amounts equal to 20.0-22.0%, 4.0-12.0%, 2.0%, 0.5-1.0% and 0.5-1.0%, of our employees' aggregate salary to a pension contribution plan, a medical insurance plan, an unemployment insurance plan, a personal injury insurance plan and a maternity insurance plan respectively, for our employees.

Our employees are not covered by any collective bargaining agreement. We believe that we have a good relationship with our employees.

E. SHARE OWNERSHIP

The following table shows the beneficial ownership of our ordinary shares by our directors and executive officers as of March 31, 2009:

Name	Shares(1)	Percent(2)
Baofang Jin(3)	43,507,868	25.90%
Huaijin Yang(4)	6,581,857	3.91%
Bingyan Ren(5)	2,084,027	1.24%
Erying Jia	-	-
Nai-Yu Pai	*	*
Elmer M. Hsu	*	*
Honghua Xu	*	*
Qingtang Jiang	*	*
Raymond P. Wilson	*	*
Daniel Lui	-	-
Anthea Chung	-	-
Ming Yang	-	-
All Directors and Executive		
Officers as a group	50,899,725	30.12%

^{*}Upon exercise of all options and vesting of all restricted shares granted, would beneficially own less than 1.0% of our outstanding ordinary shares.

- (1) Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with Rule 13d-3 of the General Rules and Regulations under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and includes voting or investment power with respect to the securities. The share numbers and percentages listed in the table reflect the share number and percentage held by each director, executive officer and principal shareholder on a fully-diluted basis.
- (2) For each person included in this table, percentage ownership is calculated by dividing the number of shares beneficially owned or being sold by such person by the sum of (i) 167,982,020, being the sum of the number of ordinary shares outstanding as of the date of this annual report, and (ii) the number of ordinary shares underlying share options held by such person or group that are exercisable within 60 days after the date of this annual report.
- (3) Including 43,507,868 ordinary shares held by Jinglong BVI, of which Mr. Baofang Jin is the sole director and has a 32.96% economic interest. Mr. Jin disclaims the beneficial ownership of 29,167,675 ordinary shares beneficially owned by the other shareholders of Jinglong BVI.

- (4) Including 6,371,857 ordinary shares held by Improve Forever Investments Limited, which is ultimately owned by a trust of which Mr. Huaijin Yang is the primary beneficiary. Mr. Yang is the sole director of Improve Forever Investments Limited and exercises voting power with respect to all matters of JA Solar requiring shareholder approval. 600,000 shares owned by Mr. Huaijin Yang were pledged to Credit Suisse, who shall have the right to acquire beneficial ownership of such shares.
- (5) Including 2,084,027 ordinary shares held by Jinglong BVI, 4.79% of which is owned by Mr. Bingyan Ren.

As of the date of this annual report, none of our existing shareholders has different voting rights from other shareholders.

ITEM 7. MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

A. MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS

The following table sets forth information with respect to the beneficial ownership of our ordinary shares, as of March 31, 2009, by each person known to us to own beneficially more than 5.0% of our ordinary shares. As of the date of this annual report, none of our existing shareholders has different voting rights from other shareholders.

Name	Shares(1)	Percent(2)
Jinglong Group Co., Ltd.(3) Fidelity Management &	43,507,868	25.90%
Research Company	10,421,734	6.20%

- (1) Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with Rule 13d-3 of the General Rules and Regulations under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and includes voting or investment power with respect to the securities. The share numbers and percentages listed in the table reflect the share number and percentage held by each director, executive officer and principal shareholder on a fully-diluted basis.
- (2) For each person included in this table, percentage ownership is calculated by dividing the number of shares beneficially owned or being sold by such person by the sum of (i) 167,982,020, being the sum of the number of ordinary shares outstanding as of the date of this annual report, and (ii) the number of ordinary shares underlying share options held by such person or group that are exercisable within 60 days after the date of this annual report.
- (3) Jinglong Group Co., Ltd., a British Virgin Islands Company, is owned by Mr. Baofang Jin (our Chairman, 32.96%), Mr. Huixian Wang (9.58%), Mr. Binguo Liu (9.58%), Mr. Jicun Yan (7.18%), Mr. Rongrui Liu (7.18%), Mr. Huiqiang Liu (7.18%), Mr. Ruiying Cao (7.18%), Mr. Guichun Xing (4.79%), Mr. Ning Wen (4.79%), Mr. Bingyan Ren (our director, 4.79%) and Mr. Ruchang Wen (4.79%).

We are not aware of any arrangement that may, at a subsequent date, result in a change of control of our company. As of the date of this annual report, of the 167,982,020 issued and outstanding ordinary shares, 125,168,020 were held by 13 registered holders of American Depositary Receipts (or "ADR") evidencing 125,168,020 ADSs, 12 of which holders of record are in the United States.

B. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Jinglong Group is 100% owned by the shareholders of our largest shareholder, Jinglong BVI, and thus, is a related party of ours. Baofang Jin, our Chairman, owns 32.96% equity interests in each of Jinglong Group and Jinglong BVI, and Bingyan Ren, our director, owns 4.79% equity interests in each of Jinglong Group and Jinglong BVI.

Jinglong Group is one of China's largest producers and suppliers of monocrystalline silicon wafers with more than ten years' operating history in the silicon processing business.

We have entered into various transactions with Jinglong Group and other related parties. Please refer to the audited financial statements attached to this annual report for more details.

C. INTERESTS OF EXPERTS AND COUNSEL

Not applicable.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION

See F-pages following Item 19.

Legal Proceedings

Class actions.

In December 2008, we learned that we were named as defendant in two putative securities class actions filed in the Unite States District Court for the Southern District of New York: Ellenburg v. JA Solar Holdings Co., Ltd., et al., Civil Action No. 08 CV 10475 (filed on December 3, 2008) and Zhang v. JA Solar Holdings Co., Ltd., et al., Civil Action No. 08 CV 11366 (filed on December 31, 2008). The complaints in the two actions, which are substantially identical, also name as defendants Mr. Huaijin Yang, our chief executive officer, and Mr. Daniel Lui, our former chief financial officer and current chief strategy officer, and allege that the defendants committed securities fraud in violation of Section 10(b) of the United States Securities and Exchange Act. On April 17, 2009, the court consolidated the two cases, appointed a lead plaintiff, and ordered the lead plaintiff to file a consolidated complaint. The lead plaintiff filed the consolidated complaint on June 1, 2009. We intend to file a motion to dismiss the consolidated complaint. Although we cannot predict the outcome of the litigation, we will defend ourselves vigorously in this litigation.

During this processes, we may incur significant legal expenses and allocate management time and attention to the legal actions. Despite our expense and efforts, however, no assurance can be provided that we will be able to prevail against the plaintiffs in the class actions.

Lehman Entities insolvency proceedings.

In addition, we are currently taking legal action against Lehman Entities seeking the return of over 6.5 million shares of our ordinary shares previously loaned by us to LBIE in May 2008. Also, we are making our reasonable efforts to preserve our rights in the Lehman Entities' insolvency proceedings in relation to the Capped Call and the return of monies owed pursuant to the Lehman Note issued by Lehman BV.

During these processes, we may incur significant legal expenses and allocate management time and attention to the legal actions. Despite our expense and efforts, however, no assurance can be provided that we will be able to recover any of the shares or be awarded any damages from the Lehman entities.

Dividend Distribution Policy

We have never declared or paid any dividends on our ordinary shares. We do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. We currently intend to retain future earnings, if any, to finance operations and to strengthen our business.

Our Board of Directors has complete discretion on whether to pay dividends, subject to the approval of our shareholders. Even if our Board of Directors decides to pay dividends, the form, frequency and amount will depend upon our future operations and earnings, capital requirements and surplus, general financial conditions, contractual restrictions and other factors that the board may deem relevant. Cash dividends on our ADSs, if any, will be paid in U.S. dollars.

As we are a holding company incorporated in the Cayman Islands, we primarily rely on dividends paid to us by JA Hebei, our wholly owned subsidiary in the PRC, for our cash requirements, including the funds necessary to pay dividends and other cash distributions to our shareholders, service any debt we may incur and pay our operating expenses. PRC regulations currently permit payment of dividends only out of accumulated profits, if any, as determined in accordance with PRC accounting standards and regulations. Under current PRC laws and regulations, JA Hebei, as well as our other subsidiaries, is required to allocate at least 10% of its after-tax profits each year, if any, to fund a statutory reserve until such reserve reaches 50% of that entity's registered capital, which totaled RMB 57,030 and 97,957 for JA Hebei in the year ended December 31, 2007 and 2008, respectively. Our other subsidiaries have not set aside such reserves due to their loss positions. JA Hebei 's reserve funds are not distributable as cash dividends. In addition, at the discretion of its Board of Directors, JA Hebei may allocate a portion of its after-tax profits to its staff welfare and bonus funds. Further, if JA Hebei incurs debt in the future, the instruments governing the debt may restrict its ability to pay dividends or make other distributions to us.

R	SIGNI	FICANT	CHANGES	1

None.

ITEM 9. THE OFFER AND LISTING

A. OFFER AND LISTING DETAILS

From the initial listing of our ADSs on the Nasdaq Global Market on February 7, 2007 to February 7, 2008, the closing prices of our ADSs have ranged from US\$16.30 to US\$75.43 per ADS. Then from the day after the date of our 3-for-1 ADS split (February 7, 2008) to the date of this annual report, the closing prices of our ADSs have ranged from US\$1.8 to US\$25.75 per ADS.

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the high and low closing prices of our ADSs on the NASDAQ Global Market.

Closing Price Per ADS
High Low
(US\$) (US\$)

Before our 3-for-1 ADS Split on February 7, 2008

2007	February 8, 2007 through March 31, 2007	20.46	16.30
2007	April 1, 2007 through June 30, 2007	34.40	18.80
2007	July 1, 2007 through September 30, 2007	46.84	28.67
2007	October 1, 2007 through December 31, 2007	75.43	40.98
2008	January	75.07	50.83
2008	February (up to February 7, 2008)	56.20	46.45
2008	January 1, 2008 to February 7, 2008	75.07	46.45

After our 3-for-1 ADS Split on February 7, 2008

2008	February (from February 8)	20.34	14.29
2008	March	19.00	12.39
2008	February 8, 2008 to March 31, 2008	20.34	12.39
2008	April 1, 2008 through June 30, 2008	25.75	16.85
2008	July 1, 2008 through September 30, 2008	17.97	10.24
	October 1, 2008 through December 31,		
2008	2008	11.84	1.80
2008	November	6.37	1.80
2008	December	4.42	2.85
2009	January	5.09	2.31
2009	February	3.15	1.99
2009	March	3.93	1.90
2009	April	3.65	2.91
2009	May	4.52	3.11
2009	June (through June 24)	6.24	4.26

Source: Bloomberg

See also "Item 14 — Material Modifications to the Rights of the Security Holders and Use of Proceeds — A. Material Modifications to the Rights of Securities Holders" and "Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements – 20. Senior Convertible Notes."

B. PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

Not applicable.

C. MARKETS

Our ADSs, each representing one of our ordinary shares, par value US\$0.0001 per share, have been listed on the NASDAQ Global Market under the symbol "JASO", and commenced trading on February 8, 2007. Prior to that time, there was no public market for our ADSs or ordinary shares.

In May 2008, we closed an offering of the Senior Notes.

D.	SELLING SHAREHOLDERS
Not ap	oplicable.
E.	DILUTION
Not ap	pplicable.
78	

F. EXPENSES OF THE ISSUE

Not applicable.

ITEM 10. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

A. SHARE CAPITAL

Not applicable.

B. MEMORANDUM AND ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

The following are summaries of material terms and provisions of our second amended and restated memorandum and articles of association in the section entitled "Description of Share Capital" contained in our registration statement on Form F-1 (File No. 333-140002), as amended, filed with the SEC on January 16, 2007, as well as the Companies Law insofar as they relate to the material terms of our ordinary shares. As of February 7, 2008, the company's ADS ratio changed from one to three (one ADS representing three ordinary shares) to one to one (one ADS representing one ordinary share). This summary is not complete, and you should read the forms of our memorandum and articles of association. For additional information on our second amended and restated memorandum and articles of association, please visit our corporate website www.jasolar.com.

General

We are a Cayman Islands exempted company and our affairs are governed by our second amended and restated memorandum and articles of association and the Companies Law (2007 Revision) of the Cayman Islands, which is referred to below as the Companies Law. A Cayman Islands exempted company is a company that conducts its business outside of the Cayman Islands, is exempted from certain requirements of the Companies Law, including a filing of an annual return of its shareholders with the Registrar of Companies, does not have to make its register of shareholders open to inspection and may obtain an undertaking against the imposition of any future taxation.

The holders of ADSs will not be treated as our shareholders and will be required to surrender their ADSs for cancellation and withdrawal from the depositary facility in which the ordinary shares are held in order to exercise shareholders' rights in respect of the ordinary shares. The depositary will agree, so far as it is practical, to vote or cause to be voted the amount of ordinary shares represented by ADSs in accordance with the non-discretionary written instructions of the holder of such ADSs.

Meetings

Subject to our second amended and restated articles of association, an annual general meeting and any extraordinary general meeting will be called by not less than ten clear days' notice in writing. Notice of every general meeting will be given to all of our shareholders.

A meeting may be called by shorter notice than that mentioned above, but, subject to our articles of association, it will be deemed to have been duly called, if it is so agreed (1) in the case of a meeting called as an annual general meeting by all of our shareholders (or their proxies) entitled to attend and vote at the meeting; or (2) in the case of any other meeting, by a majority in number of our shareholders having a right to attend and vote at the meeting, being a majority together holding not less than 95.0% in nominal value of the ordinary shares giving that right.

No business other than the appointment of a chairman of the meeting may be transacted at any general meeting unless a quorum is present at the commencement of business. However, the absence of a quorum will not preclude the appointment of a chairman of the meeting. If present, the chairman of our Board of Directors shall be the chairman presiding at any shareholders' meetings.

Two of our members present in person or by proxy or corporate representative representing not less than one third in nominal value of our total issued voting shares shall be a quorum. A corporation being a shareholder shall be deemed for the purpose of our articles of association to be present in person if represented by its duly authorized representative. Such duly authorized representative shall be entitled to exercise the same powers on behalf of the corporation which he or she represents as that corporation could exercise if it were our individual shareholder.

The quorum for a separate general meeting of the holders of a separate class of shares is described in "Modification of Rights" below.

Voting Rights Attaching to the Shares

Subject to any rights or restrictions attached to any shares, at any general meeting on a show of hands every shareholder who is present in person (or, in the case of a shareholder being a corporation, by its duly authorized representative) or by proxy shall have one vote and on a poll every shareholder present in person (or, in the case of a shareholder being a corporation, by its duly appointed representative) or by proxy shall have one vote for each share which such shareholder is the holder. Voting at any meeting of the shareholders is by show of hands unless a poll is demanded. A poll may be demanded by the chairman or at least three shareholders present in person or by proxy holding at least 10.0% in par value of the shares giving a right to attend and vote at the meeting.

Any ordinary resolution to be passed by our shareholders requires the affirmative vote of a simple majority of the votes cast at a meeting of our shareholders, while a special resolution requires the affirmative vote of no less than two-thirds of the votes cast at a meeting of our shareholders. Holders of our ordinary shares may by ordinary resolution, among other things, elect directors, and make alterations of capital. See "Item 10. Additional Information—B. Memorandum and Articles of Association— Alteration of Capital." A special resolution is required for matters such as a change of name. See "Item 10. Additional Information—B. Memorandum and Articles of Association— Modification of Rights."

No shareholder shall be entitled to vote or be reckoned in a quorum, in respect of any share, unless such shareholder is registered as our shareholder at the applicable record date for that meeting.

If a recognized clearing house (or its nominee(s)) is our shareholder, it may authorize such person or persons as it thinks fit to act as its representative(s) at any meeting or at any meeting of any class of shareholders provided that, if more than one person is so authorized, the authorization shall specify the number and class of shares in respect of which each such person is so authorized. A person authorized pursuant to this provision is entitled to exercise the same powers on behalf of the recognized clearing house (or its nominee(s)) as if such person was the registered holder of our shares held by that clearing house (or its nominee(s)) including the right to vote individually on a show of hands.

While there is nothing under the laws of the Cayman Islands which specifically prohibits or restricts the creation of cumulative voting rights for the election of our directors, unlike the requirement under Delaware General Corporation Law where cumulative voting for the election of directors is permitted only if expressly authorized in the certificate of incorporation, it is not a concept that is accepted as a common practice in the Cayman Islands, and we have made no provisions in our memorandum and articles of association to allow cumulative voting for such elections.

The Grand Court of the Cayman Islands may, on the application of shareholders holding not less than one fifth of our shares in issue, appoint an inspector to examine our affairs and report thereon in a manner as the Grand Court shall direct.

Any shareholder may petition the Grand Court of the Cayman Islands which may make a winding up order, if the court is of the opinion that it is just and equitable that we should be wound up.

Claims against us by our shareholders must, as a general rule, be based on the general laws of contract or tort applicable in the Cayman Islands or their individual rights as shareholders as established by our memorandum and articles of association.

The Cayman Islands courts ordinarily would be expected to follow English case law precedents which permit a minority shareholder to commence a representative action against, or derivative actions in our name to challenge (1) an act which is ultra vires or illegal, (2) an act which constitutes a fraud against the minority and the wrongdoers are themselves in control of us, and (3) an irregularity in the passing of a resolution which requires a qualified (or special) majority.

Pre-emption Rights

There are no pre-emption rights applicable to the issuance of new shares under either Cayman Islands law or our memorandum and articles of association.

Liquidation Rights

Subject to any special rights, privileges or restrictions as to the distribution of available surplus assets on liquidation for the time being attached to any class or classes of shares, if we shall be wound up the liquidator may, with the sanction of a special resolution and any other sanction required by the Companies Law, divide among our shareholders in kind the whole or any part of our assets (whether they shall consist of property of the same kind or not) and may, for that purpose, value any assets as the liquidator deems fair upon any asset and determine how the division shall be carried out as between our shareholders or different classes of shareholders. The liquidator may, with the like sanction, vest any part of such assets in trustees upon such trusts for the benefit of our shareholders as the liquidator, with the like sanction, shall think fit, but so that no contributory shall be compelled to accept any shares or other property upon which there is a liability. If we shall be wound up, and the assets available for distribution among our shareholders as such shall be insufficient to repay the whole of the paid-up capital, such assets shall be distributed so that, as nearly as may be, the losses shall be borne by our shareholders in proportion to the capital paid up, or which ought to have been paid up, at the commencement of the winding up on the shares held by them respectively. And if winding up the assets available for distribution among our shareholders shall be more than sufficient to repay the whole of the capital paid up at the commencement of the winding up, the excess shall be distributed amongst our shareholders in proportion to the capital paid up at the commencement of the winding up on the shares held by them respectively.

Modification of Rights

Except with respect to share capital (as described below) and the location of the registered office, alterations to our memorandum and articles of association or to our name may only be made by special resolution of no less than two-thirds of votes cast at a meeting of our shareholders.

Subject to the Companies Law, all or any of the special rights attached to any class, unless otherwise provided for by the terms of issue of the shares of that class, may be varied, modified or abrogated with the sanction of a special resolution passed at a separate general meeting of the holders of the shares of that class. The provisions of our articles of association relating to general meetings shall apply mutatis mutandis to every such separate general meeting, but so that the quorum for the purposes of any such separate general meeting shall be a person or persons together holding, or represented by proxy, on the date of the relevant meeting not less than one-third in nominal value of the issued shares of that class, every holder of shares of the class shall be entitled on a poll to one vote for every such share held by such holder and that any holder of shares of that class present in person or by proxy may demand a poll.

The special rights conferred upon the holders of any class of shares shall not, unless otherwise expressly provided in the rights attaching to or the terms of issue of such shares, be deemed to be varied by the creation or issue of further

shares ranking pari passu therewith.

Alteration of Capital

We may from time to time by ordinary resolution:

 \ddot{Y} increase our share capital by such sum, to be divided into shares of such amounts, as the resolution shall prescribe;

- Ÿ consolidate and divide all or any of our share capital into shares of larger amount than our existing shares;
- Ÿ without prejudice to powers granted to us regarding issuing of shares, divide our shares into several classes and without prejudice to any special rights previously conferred on the holders of existing shares attach thereto respectively any preferential, deferred, qualified or special rights, privileges, conditions or such restrictions which in the absence of any such determination by us in general meeting, as our directors may determine;
- Ÿ subdivide our shares or any of them into shares of smaller amount than that fixed by our memorandum of association and may by such resolution determine that, as between the holders of the shares resulting from such sub-division, one or more of the shares may have any such preferred, deferred or other rights or be subject to any such restrictions as compared with the other or others as we have power to attach to unissued or new shares; and
- Ÿ cancel any shares which at the date of the passing of the resolution have not been taken or agreed to be taken by any person and diminish the amount of our share capital by the amount of the shares so cancelled.

We may, by special resolution, subject to any confirmation or consent required by the Companies Law, reduce our share capital or any capital redemption reserve fund in any manner authorized by law.

Transfer of Shares

Subject to any applicable restrictions set forth in our articles of association, any of our shareholders may transfer all or any of his or her shares by an instrument of transfer in the usual or common form or in any other form which our directors may approve.

Our Board of Directors may, in its absolute discretion, decline to register any transfer of any share without assigning any reasons therefor.

If our directors refuse to register a transfer they shall, within two months after the date on which the instrument of transfer was lodged, send to each of the transferor and the transferee notice of such refusal.

The registration of transfers may be suspended and the register closed at such times and for such periods as our Board of Directors may from time to time determine, provided, however, that the registration of transfers shall not be suspended nor the register closed for more than 30 days in any year.

Share Repurchase

We are empowered by the Companies Law and our articles of association to purchase our own shares, subject to certain restrictions. Our directors may only exercise this power on our behalf, subject to the Companies Law, our memorandum and articles of association and to any applicable requirements imposed from time to time by the SEC, the Nasdaq Global Market, or by any recognized stock exchange on which our securities are listed.

Dividends

Subject to the Companies Law and our articles of association, in general meeting we may declare dividends in any currency, but no dividends shall exceed the amount recommended by our Board of Directors. Dividends may be declared and paid out of our profits, realized or unrealized, or from any reserve set aside from profits which our directors determine is no longer needed. Dividends may also be declared and paid out of share premium account or

any other fund or account which can be authorised for this purpose in accordance with the Companies Law. Unless and to the extent that the rights attached to any shares or the terms of issue thereof otherwise provide, with respect to any shares not fully paid throughout the period in respect of which the dividend is paid, all dividends shall be apportioned and paid pro rata according to the amounts paid up on the shares during any portion or portions of the period in respect of which the dividend is paid. For these purposes no amount paid up on a share in advance of calls shall be treated as paid up on the share.

Unless and to the extent that the rights attached to any shares or the terms of issue thereof otherwise provide, with respect to any shares not fully paid throughout the period in respect of which the dividend is paid, all dividends shall be apportioned and paid pro rata according to the amounts paid up on the shares during any portion or portions of the period in respect of which the dividend is paid. For these purposes no amount paid up on a share in advance of calls shall be treated as paid up on the share.

Our Board of Directors may from time to time pay to our shareholders such interim dividends as appear to our directors to be justified by our profits. Our directors may also pay dividends semi-annually or at other intervals to be selected by them at a fixed rate if they are of the opinion that the profits available for distribution justify the payment. The board may also declare and pay special dividends as they think fit.

Our Board of Directors may retain any dividends or other monies payable on or in respect of a share upon which we have a lien, and may apply the same in or towards satisfaction of the debts, liabilities or engagements in respect of which the lien exists. Our Board of Directors may also deduct from any dividend or other monies payable to any shareholder all sums of money, if any, presently payable by him or her to us on account of calls, installments or otherwise.

No dividend shall carry interest against us.

Whenever our Board of Directors or we in general meeting have resolved that a dividend be paid or declared on our share capital, the Board of Directors may further resolve: (a) that such dividend be satisfied wholly or in part in the form of an allotment of shares credited as fully paid up on the basis that the shares so allotted are to be of the same class as the class already held by the allottee, provided that those of our shareholders entitled thereto will be entitled to elect to receive such dividend, or part thereof, in cash in lieu of such allotment; or (b) that those of our shareholders entitled to such dividend will be entitled to elect to receive an allotment of shares credited as fully paid up in lieu of the whole or such part of the dividend as our Board of Directors may think fit on the basis that the shares so allotted are to be of the same class as the class already held by the allottee. We may upon the recommendation of our Board of Directors by ordinary resolution resolve in respect of anyone particular dividend that notwithstanding the foregoing a dividend may be satisfied wholly in the form of an allotment of shares credited as fully paid without offering any right to our shareholders to elect to receive such dividend in cash in lieu of such allotment.

Any dividend, interest or other sum payable in cash to a holder of shares may be paid by check or warrant sent through the post addressed to the registered address of our shareholder entitled, or in the case of joint holders, to the registered address of the person whose name stands first in our register of shareholders in respect of the joint holding to such person and to such address as the holder or joint holders may in writing direct. Every check or warrant so sent shall be made payable to the order of the holder or, in the case of joint holders, to the order of the holder whose name stands first on our register of shareholders in respect of such shares, and shall be sent at his or their risk and the payment of any such check or warrant by the bank on which it is drawn shall operate as a good discharge to us in respect of the dividend and/or bonus represented thereby, notwithstanding that it may subsequently appear that the same has been stolen or that any endorsement there on has been forged.

Any dividend unclaimed for six years from the date of declaration of such dividend may be forfeited by the Board of Directors and shall revert to us.

Our Board of Directors may, with the sanction of the shareholders in general meeting, direct that any dividend be satisfied wholly or in part by the distribution of specific assets of any kind, and in particular of paid up shares, debentures or warrants to subscribe securities of any other company, and where any difficulty arises in regard to such distribution our directors may settle it as they think expedient, and in particular may disregard fractional entitlements, round the same up or down or provide that the same shall accrue to our benefit, and may fix the value for distribution of such specific assets and may determine that cash payments shall be made to any of our shareholders upon the

footing of the value so fixed in order to adjust the rights of all parties, and may vest any such specific assets in trustees as may seem expedient to our Board of Directors.

Untraceable Shareholders

We are entitled to sell any shares of our shareholder who is untraceable, provided that:

Ÿ all checks or warrants, not being less than three in total number, for any sums payable in cash to the holder of such shares have remained uncashed for a period of 12 years;

- Ÿ we have not during that time or before the expiry of the three-month period referred to in the last bullet under this section received any indication of the existence of the shareholder or person entitled to such shares by death, bankruptcy or operation of law; and
- Ÿ upon expiration of the 12-year period, we have caused an advertisement to be published in newspapers, giving notice of its intention to sell these shares, and a period of three months or such shorter period has elapsed since the date of such advertisement.

The net proceeds of any such sale shall belong to us, and when we receive these net proceeds we shall become indebted to the former shareholder for an amount equal to such net proceeds.

Board of Directors

We are managed by a Board of Directors which currently consists of seven members. Our articles of association provide that the Board of Directors shall consist of not less than two directors.

Our shareholders may by ordinary resolution at any time remove any director before the expiration of his period of office notwithstanding anything in our articles of association or in any agreement between us and such director, and may by ordinary resolution elect another person in his stead. Subject to our articles of association, the directors will have power at any time and from time to time to appoint any person to be a director, either as an addition to the existing directors or to fill a casual vacancy, but so that the total number of directors (exclusive of alternate directors) must not at any time exceed the maximum number fixed in our articles of association.

There are no share ownership qualifications for directors.

Meetings of our Board of Directors may be convened at any time deemed necessary by any members of our Board of Directors.

A meeting of our Board of Directors will be competent to make lawful and binding decisions if any two members of our Board of Directors are present or represented. At any meeting of our directors, each director, be it by his or her presence or by his or her alternate, is entitled to one vote. A director may vote in respect of any contract or arrangement with us in which he is directly or indirectly interested, provided, such director must declare the nature of his interest at the earliest meeting of the board at which it is practicable for him to do so, either specifically or by way of a general notice stating that, by reason of the facts specified in the notice, he is to be regarded as interested in any contracts of a specified description which we may subsequently make.

Questions arising at a meeting of our Board of Directors are required to be decided by simple majority votes of the members of our Board of Directors present or represented at the meeting. In the case of a tie vote, the chairman of the meeting shall have a second or deciding vote. Our Board of Directors may also pass resolutions without a meeting by unanimous written consent.

The remuneration to be paid to the directors shall be such remuneration as the directors shall determine. Under our articles of association, the directors shall also be entitled to be paid their traveling, hotel and other expenses reasonably incurred by them in, attending meetings of the directors, or any committee of the directors, or general meetings of the company, or otherwise in connection with the discharge of his duties as director.

Issuance of Additional Ordinary Shares or Preferred Shares

Our articles of association authorizes our Board of Directors to issue additional ordinary shares from time to time as our Board of Directors shall determine, to the extent of available authorized but unissued shares.

Our articles of association authorizes our Board of Directors from time to time the issuance of one or more classes or series of ordinary or preferred shares and to determine the terms and rights of that class or series to the extent permitted by the Companies Law, including, amongst other things:

Ÿ the designation of such class or series;

Ÿ the number of shares of such class or series;

Ÿ the dividend rights, conversion rights, voting rights; and

Ÿ the rights and terms of redemption and liquidation preferences.

Our Board of Directors may issue such class or series of preferred shares without action by our shareholders to the extent authorized but unissued. Accordingly, the issuance of preferred shares may adversely affect the rights of the holders of the ordinary shares. In addition, the issuance of preferred shares may be used as an anti-takeover device without further action on the part of the shareholders. We have no immediate plans to issue any preferred shares.

Issuance of preferred shares may dilute the voting power of holders of ordinary shares. Subject to applicable regulatory requirements, our Board of Directors may issue additional ordinary shares without action by our shareholders to the extent of available authorized but unissued shares. The issuance of additional ordinary shares may be used as an anti-takeover device without further action on the part of the shareholders. Such issuance may dilute the voting power of existing holders of ordinary shares.

The listing maintenance requirements of the Nasdaq Global Market, which apply so long as our ADSs are quoted on that market, require shareholder approval of certain issuances of our securities equal to or exceeding 20% of the then outstanding voting power of all our securities or the then outstanding number of our ordinary shares.

Inspection of Books and Records

Holders of our ordinary shares will have no general right under Cayman Islands law to inspect or obtain copies of our list of shareholders or our corporate records. However, we will provide our shareholders with annual audited financial statements. For additional information, please visit our corporate website www.jasolar.com.

Differences in Corporate Law

The Companies Law distinguishes between ordinary resident companies and exempted companies, and we are an exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Law. Any company that is registered in the Cayman Islands but conducts business mainly outside of the Cayman Islands may apply to be registered as an exempted company. The responsibilities of an exempted company are essentially the same as for an ordinary company except for the exemptions and privileges listed below:

Ÿ an exempted company does not have to file an annual return of its shareholders with the Registrar of Companies;

Ÿ an exempted company's register of members is not open to inspection;

Ÿ an exempted company does not have to hold an annual general meeting;

Ÿ an exempted company may issue no par value, negotiable or bearer shares;

Ÿ an exempted company may obtain an undertaking against the imposition of any future taxation (such undertakings are usually given for 20 years in the first instance);

an exempted company may register by way of continuation in another jurisdiction and be deregistered in the Cayman Islands;

Ÿ an exempted company may register as a limited duration company; and

Ÿ an exempted company may register as a segregated portfolio company.

The Companies Law is modeled after similar laws in the United Kingdom but does not follow recent changes in United Kingdom laws. In addition, the Companies Law differs from laws applicable to U.S. corporations and their shareholders. Set forth below is a summary of the significant provisions of the Companies Law applicable to us.

Duties of Directors

Under Cayman Islands law, at common law, members of a Board of Directors owe a fiduciary duty to the company to act in good faith in their dealings with or on behalf of the company and exercise their powers and fulfill the duties of their office honestly. This duty has four essential elements:

Ÿ a duty to act in good faith in the best interests of the company;

Ÿ a duty not to personally profit from opportunities that arise from the office of director:

Ÿ a duty to avoid conflicts of interest; and

Ÿ a duty to exercise powers for the purpose for which such powers were intended.

In general, the Companies Law imposes various duties on officers of a company with respect to certain matters of management and administration of the company. The Companies Law contains provisions, which impose default fines on persons who fail to satisfy those requirements. However, in many circumstances, an individual is only liable if he knowingly is guilty of the default or knowingly and willfully authorizes or permits the default.

Interested Directors

There are no provisions under Cayman Islands law that require a director who is interested in a transaction entered into by a Cayman company to disclose his interest nor will render such director liable to such company for any profit realized pursuant to such transaction.

Voting Rights and Quorum Requirements

Under Cayman Islands law, the voting rights of shareholders are regulated by the company's articles of association and, in certain circumstances, the Companies Law. The articles of association will govern matters such as quorum for the transaction of business, rights of shares, and majority votes required to approve any action or resolution at a meeting of the shareholders or Board of Directors. Under Cayman Islands law, certain matters must be approved by a special resolution which is defined as two-thirds of the votes cast by shareholders present at a meeting and entitled to vote; otherwise, unless the articles of association otherwise provide, the majority is usually a simple majority of votes cast.

Mergers and Similar Arrangements

(i) Schemes of arrangement

The Companies Law contains statutory provisions that facilitate the reconstruction and amalgamation of companies, provided that the arrangement in question is approved by a majority in number of each class of shareholders and creditors with whom the arrangement is to be made, and who must in addition represent three fourths in value of each such class of shareholders or creditors, as the case may be, that are present and voting either in-person or by proxy at a

meeting, or meetings convened for that purpose. The convening of the meetings and subsequently the arrangement must be sanctioned by the Grand Court of the Cayman Islands. While a dissenting shareholder would have the right to express to the court the view that the transaction should not be approved, the court can be expected to approve the scheme of arrangement if it satisfies itself that:

Ÿ the company is not proposing to act illegally or ultra vires and the statutory provisions as to majority vote have been complied with;

Ÿ the shareholders have been fairly represented at the meeting in question;

Ÿ the arrangement is one that a businessman would reasonably approve; and

Ÿ the arrangement is not one that would more properly be sanctioned under some other provision of the Companies Law or that would amount to a "fraud on the minority."

When a takeover offer is made and accepted by holders of 90.0% of the shares within four months, the offerer may, within a two-month period, require the holders of the remaining shares to transfer such shares on the terms of the offer. An objection may be made to the Grand Court of the Cayman Islands but is unlikely to succeed unless there is evidence of fraud, bad faith or collusion.

If the arrangement and reconstruction are thus approved, any dissenting shareholders would have no rights comparable to appraisal rights, which would otherwise ordinarily be available to dissenting shareholders of Delaware corporations, providing rights to receive payment in cash for the judicially determined value of the shares.

(ii) Mergers and consolidations

Previously, the Cayman Islands law does not provide for mergers as that expression is understood under United States corporate law. However, pursuant to the Companies (Amendment) Law, 2009 that came into force on 11 May 2009, in addition to the existing schemes of arrangement provisions described above, a new, simpler and more cost-effective mechanism for mergers and consolidations between Cayman Islands companies and between Cayman companies and foreign companies is introduced.

The procedure to effect a merger or consolidation is as follows:

Y the directors of each constituent company must approve a written plan of merger or consolidation (the "Plan");

The Plan must be authorized by each constituent company by (a) a shareholder resolution by majority in number representing 75% in value of the shareholders voting together as one class; and (b) if the shares to be issued to each shareholder in the consolidated or surviving company are to have the same rights and economic value as the shares held in the constituent company, a special resolution of the shareholders voting together as one class. A proposed merger between a Cayman parent company and its Cayman subsidiary or subsidiaries will not require authorization by shareholder resolution;

The consent of each holder of a fixed or floating security interest of a constituent company in a proposed merger or consolidation is required unless the court (upon the application of the constituent company that has issued the security) waives the requirement for consent;

The Plan must be signed by a director on behalf of each constituent company and filed with the Registrar of Companies together with the required supporting documents;

The certificate of merger or consolidation is issued by the Registrar of Companies which is prima facie evidence of compliance with all statutory requirements in respect of the merger or consolidation. All rights and property of each of the constituent companies will then vest in the surviving or consolidated company which will also be liable for all debts, contracts, obligations and liabilities of each constituent company. Similarly, any existing claims, proceedings or rulings of each constituent company will automatically be continued against the surviving or consolidated company; and

provision is made for a dissenting shareholder of a Cayman constituent company to be entitled to payment of the fair value of his shares upon dissenting to the merger or consolidation. Where the parties cannot agree on the price to be paid to the dissenting shareholder, either party may file a petition to the court to determine fair value of the shares. These rights are not available where an open market exists on a recognized stock exchange for the shares of the class held by the dissenting shareholder.

Shareholder Suits

We are not aware of any reported class action having been brought in a Cayman Islands court. Derivative actions have been brought under Cayman Islands law but were unsuccessful for technical reasons. In principle, we will normally be the proper plaintiff and a derivative action may not be brought by a minority shareholder. However, based on English authorities, which would in all likelihood be of persuasive authority in the Cayman Islands, exceptions to the foregoing principle apply in circumstances in which:

- Ÿ a company is acting or proposing to act illegally or beyond the scope of its authority;
- Ÿ the act complained of, although not beyond the scope of its authority, could be effected duly if authorized by more than a simple majority vote which has not been obtained; and
- Ÿ those who control the company are perpetrating a "fraud on the minority."

Under Delaware General Corporation Law, a stockholder may bring a derivative action on behalf of the corporation to enforce the rights of the corporation. Delaware law expressly authorizes stockholder derivative suits on the condition that the stockholder held the stock at the time of the transaction of which the stockholder complains, or the stocks of such stockholder was thereafter devolved upon him or her by operation of law. An individual may also commence a class action suit on behalf of himself and other similarly situated stockholders where the requirements for maintaining a class action under Delaware law have been met. A plaintiff instituting a derivative suit is required to serve a demand on the corporation before bringing suit, unless such demand would be futile.

Corporate Governance

Cayman Islands laws do not restrict transactions with directors, requiring only that directors exercise a duty of care and owe a fiduciary duty to the companies for which they serve. Under our memorandum and articles of association, subject to any separate requirement for audit committee approval under the applicable rules of the Nasdaq Global Market, Inc. or unless disqualified by the chairman of the relevant board meeting, so long as a director discloses the nature of his interest in any contract or arrangement in which he is interested, such a director may vote in respect of any contract or proposed contract or arrangement in which such director is interested and may be counted in the quorum at such meeting.

Indemnification

Cayman Islands law does not limit the extent to which a company's articles of association may provide for indemnification of officers and directors, except to the extent any such provision may be held by the Cayman Islands courts to be contrary to public policy, such as to provide indemnification against civil fraud or the consequences of committing a crime. Our articles of association provide for the indemnification of our directors, auditors and other officers against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by him or her as a director, auditor or other officer of our company in defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgment is given in his or her favor, or in which he or she is acquitted provided that this indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to any of said persons; and with respect to any criminal action, he or she must have had no reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was unlawful.

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act may be permitted to directors, officers or persons controlling us under the foregoing provisions, we have been advised that in the opinion of the SEC, such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and therefore is unenforceable.

Shareholder Proposals

The Companies Law does not provide shareholders any right to bring business before a meeting or requisition a general meeting.

Approval of Corporate Matters by Written Consent

The Companies Law allows a special resolution to be passed in writing if signed by all the shareholders and authorized by the articles of association. In comparison, under Delaware General Corporation Law special meetings may be called by the Board of Directors or any other person authorized to do so in the governing documents but shareholders may be precluded from calling special meetings.

Calling of Special Shareholders Meetings

The Companies Law does not have provisions governing the proceedings of shareholders meetings which are usually provided in the articles of association.

Staggered Board of Directors

The Companies Law does not contain statutory provisions that require staggered board arrangements for a Cayman Islands company. Such provisions, however, may validly be provided for in the articles of association.

Issuance of Preferred Stock

The Companies Law allows shares to be, issued with preferred, deferred or other special rights, whether in regard to dividends, voting, return of share capital or otherwise. Our articles of association provide that the directors may allot, issue, grant options over or otherwise dispose of shares (including fractions of a share) with or without preferred, deferred or other special rights or restrictions, in one or more series, whether with regard to dividend rights, dividend rates, conversion rights, voting rights, rights and terms of redemption and liquidation preferences or otherwise and to such persons, at such times and on such other terms as they think proper.

Anti-takeover Provisions

The Companies Law does not prevent companies from adopting a wide range of defensive measures, such as staggered boards, blank check preferred stock, removal of directors only for cause and provisions that restrict the rights of shareholders to call meetings and submit shareholder proposals.

Registration Rights

Set forth below is a description of the registration rights we granted to our Series A preference shareholders pursuant to our Shareholders Agreement dated August 21, 2006.

Demand Registration Rights. At any time after six months following the closing of this offering, but before the fifth anniversary of a qualified public offering, holders of at least 50% of registrable securities have the right to demand that we file a registration statement covering the offer and sale of their securities. We, however, are not obligated to effect a demand registration if we have already twice, within the 12 month period preceding the date of such demand, effected a registration under the Securities Act or in which the holders had an opportunity to participate through exercising their piggyback registration rights, other than a registration from which the registrable securities of the holders have been excluded.

Piggyback Registration Rights. If we propose to file a registration statement for a public offering of our securities other than relating to the exercise of demand registration rights, pursuant to an F-3 registration statement, or relating to any employee benefit plan, corporate reorganization, exchange offer or offering of securities to our existing shareholders, then we must offer holders of registrable securities an opportunity to include in the registration all or any part of their registrable securities.

Form F-3 Registration Rights. When we are eligible for use of Form F-3, holders of a majority of all registrable securities then outstanding have the right to request that we file a registration statement on Form F-3. We may defer filing of a registration statement on Form F-3 for up to 120 days if we provide the requesting holders a certificate signed by our chief executive officer stating that in the good faith judgment of the Board of Directors that filing such a registration statement will be materially detrimental to us and our shareholders. We, however, are not obligated to effect a registration on Form F-3 if (i) Form F-3 is not available for such offering by the holders; (ii) if the holders,

together with the holders of any other securities of the company entitled to inclusion in such registration, propose to sell registrable securities and such other securities (if any) at an aggregate price to the public of less than US\$5 million; or (iii) we have twice, within the 12 month period preceding the date of such request, already effected a registration under the Securities Act other than a registration from which the registrable securities of holders have been excluded (with respect to all or any portion of the registrable securities of the holders requested to be included in such registration).

Expenses of Registration. We will pay all registration expenses incurred in connection with any registration. Each holder participating in a registration will bear such holder's proportionate share of all selling expenses or other amounts payable to underwriter(s) or brokers, in connection with such offering by the holders.

We will not pay any expenses of any registration proceeding begun pursuant to the exercise of demand registration rights if the registration request is subsequently withdrawn at the request of the holders of a majority of the registrable securities to be registered, unless the holders of a majority of the registrable securities then outstanding agree that such registration constitutes the use by the holders of one demand registration. However, holders will not be required to pay any expenses and such registration will not constitute the use of a demand registration if at the time of such withdrawal, the holders have learned of a material adverse change in the condition, business or prospects of the company not known to the holders at the time of their request for such registration and have withdrawn their request for registration with reasonable promptness after learning of such material adverse change.

C. MATERIAL CONTRACTS

We have not entered into any material contracts other than in the ordinary course of business and other than those described in Item 4 "Information on the Company" or elsewhere in this annual report on Form 20-F.

D. EXCHANGE CONTROLS

Foreign currency exchange regulation in China is primarily governed by the following rules:

- Foreign Currency Administration Rules (1996), as amended, or the Exchange Rules; and
- Administration Rules of the Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange (1996), or the Administration Rules.

Under the Exchange Rules, the Renminbi is only convertible to the extent of current account items, including the distribution of dividends, interest payments, trade and service-related foreign exchange transactions. Conversion of Renminbi for capital account items, such as direct investment, loan, security investment and repatriation of investment, however, is still subject to the approval of the PRC SAFE or its local counterpart.

Under the Administration Rules, FIEs may only buy, sell and/or remit foreign currencies at those banks authorized to conduct foreign exchange business after providing valid commercial documents and, in the case of capital account item transactions, obtaining approval from the SAFE or its local counterpart.

E. TAXATION

Cayman Islands Taxation

The following discussion of certain material Cayman Islands income tax consequences of an investment in our ordinary shares or ADSs is based upon laws and relevant interpretations thereof in effect as of the date of this annual report, all of which are subject to change. This summary does not deal with all possible tax consequences relating to an investment in our ordinary shares or ADSs, such as the tax consequences under state, local and other tax laws. To the extent that the discussion relates to matters of Cayman Islands tax law, it relies on the service of Conyers Dill & Pearman, special Cayman Islands counsel to us.

The Cayman Islands currently levies no taxes on individuals or corporations based upon profits, income, gains or appreciation and there is no taxation in the nature of inheritance tax or estate duty. There are no other taxes likely to be material to us levied by the Government of the Cayman Islands except for stamp duties which may be applicable on instruments executed in, or after execution brought within the jurisdiction of the Cayman Islands.

The Cayman Islands is not a party to any double tax treaties. There are no exchange control regulations or currency restrictions in the Cayman Islands.

The Cayman Islands currently has no income, corporate or capital gains tax, estate duty, inheritance tax, gift tax or withholding tax applicable to us or to any holder of ADSs or of ordinary shares. Accordingly, any payment of dividends or any other distribution made on the ordinary shares will not be subject to taxation in the Cayman Islands, no Cayman Islands withholding tax will be required on such payments to any shareholder and gains derived from the sale of ordinary shares or ADSs will not be subject to Cayman Islands capital gains tax.

The company has obtained an undertaking from the Governor-in-Cabinet of the Cayman Islands that, in accordance with section 6 of the Tax Concessions Law (Revised) of the Cayman Islands, for a period of 20 years from July 18, 2006, no law which is thereafter enacted in the Cayman Islands imposing any tax to be levied on profits, income, gains or appreciations will apply to us or our operation and, in addition, that no tax to be levied on profits, income, gains or appreciations or which is in the nature of the estate duty or inheritance tax will be payable (i) on or in respect of our shares, debentures, or other obligations, or (ii) by way of withholding in whole or in part of a payment of dividend or other distribution of income or capital by us.

People's Republic of China Taxation

In accordance with the previous FEIT Law and the related implementation rules which have been repealed after 1 January 2008, FIEs established in the PRC are generally subject to FEIT at a state tax rate of 30% plus a local tax rate of 3% on PRC taxable income. Our operating subsidiary, JA Hebei, was established as a FIE in the PRC and is thus subject to PRC enterprise income tax of 33%. The PRC government has provided certain incentives to FIEs in order to encourage foreign investments, including tax exemptions, tax reductions and other measures. Under the old FEIT Law and the related implementation rules, FIEs are entitled to be exempted from FEIT for a 2-year period starting from their first profit-making year followed by a 50% reduction of FEIT payable for the subsequent three years, provided that they fall into the category of production-oriented enterprises with an operational period of more than 10 years in China, subject to approval from and modification by local taxation authorities. Specifically, with respect to income generated by assets acquired by JA Hebei through capital injection made during the fiscal years 2005 and 2006, JA Hebei has received approval from the relevant tax authorities for a two-year enterprise income tax exemption for 2006 and 2007, as well as a 50% enterprise income tax reduction for 2008, 2009 and 2010. With respect to income generated by assets newly acquired by JA Hebei through capital injection made during 2007, JA Hebei has received approval from the relevant tax authorities for a separate two-year enterprise income tax exemption for 2007 and 2008, as well as a 50% enterprise income tax reduction for 2009, 2010 and 2011, which, however, may be subject to PRC central government's further policies, decisions or rulings.

In March 2007, the National People's Congress of China enacted a new CIT Law, which became effective on January 1, 2008 and replaced the FEIT Law. The CIT Law imposes a unified income tax rate of 25% on all domestic enterprises and FIEs unless they qualify under certain limited exceptions. The CIT Law provides a 5-year transition period to FIEs, during which they are permitted to continue to enjoy their existing preferential tax treatment until such treatment expires in accordance with its current terms. In December 2007, the State Council promulgated the Transition Period Implementation Rules.

In general, the CIT Law does not affect the preferential tax treatment enjoyed by JA Hebei during the 5-year transition period. However, the CIT Law and the Transition Period Implementation Rules did not clearly address the application of the transitional preferential policies to assets acquired through new capital injection made to a qualified entity after March 16, 2007, the date of enactment of the new CIT Law.

If future guidance is issued by the State Taxation of Administration to clarify this issue and it is determined that capital injection made after March 16, 2007 does not qualify for a separate "two plus three" tax holiday, the tax rate of JA Hebei as well as the income tax liability of JA Hebei could increase for 2008. In addition, when our currently available tax benefits expire or otherwise become unavailable, the effective income tax rate of JA Hebei will increase significantly, and any increase of JA Hebei's income tax rate in the future could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

Our operating subsidiary, JA Yangzhou, was established as a FIE in the PRC and was thus subject to a PRC enterprise income tax of 33% until 2007 and changed to the uniform rate of 25% in 2008. JA Yangzhou had cumulative losses as of December 31, 2008 and its tax holidays will be deemed to have commenced in 2008 and can be utilized until expiry pursuant to the new CIT Law if proper approval is obtained.

Our operating subsidiary, JA Zhabei, which is not a production-oriented enterprise, is subject to the uniform rate of 25% from 2008 onwards and not entitled to the tax holiday.

The CIT Law provides that enterprises established outside of China whose "de facto management bodies" are located in China are considered "resident enterprises" and are generally subject to the uniform 25% enterprise income tax rate as to their worldwide income. Under the implementation regulations for the CIT Law issued by the PRC State Council, "de facto management body" is defined as a body that has material and overall management and control over the manufacturing and business operations, personnel and human resources, finances and treasury, and acquisition and disposition of properties and other assets of an enterprise.

Under the CIT Law and implementation regulations issued by the State Council, PRC income tax at the rate of 10% is applicable to dividends payable to investors that are "non-resident enterprises," which do not have an establishment or place of business in the PRC, or which have such establishment or place of business but the relevant income is not effectively connected with the establishment or place of business, to the extent such dividends have their sources within the PRC. Similarly, any gain realized on the transfer of ADSs or shares by such investors is also subject to 10% PRC income tax if such gain is regarded as income derived from sources within the PRC. If we are considered a PRC "resident enterprise," the dividends we pay with respect to our ordinary shares or ADSs would be treated as income derived from sources within the PRC and be subject to PRC withholding tax. It is unclear, however, whether the gain you may realize from the transfer of our ordinary shares or ADSs would be deemed as China sourced income and thus subject to PRC withholding tax. It is also unclear whether, if we are considered a PRC "resident enterprise," holders of our ordinary shares or ADSs might be able to claim the benefit of income tax treaties entered into between China and other countries. If JA Solar is considered a PRC "resident enterprise," the controlled foreign subsidiaries below JA Solar may be deemed as JA Solar's Controlled Foreign Companies, whose income, under the new CIT Law, could be treated as distributed to JA Solar and thus subject to tax in PRC.

Material U.S. Federal Tax Considerations

The following is a summary of the material United States federal tax considerations relating to the acquisition, ownership, and disposition of our ADSs or ordinary shares by U.S. Holders (as defined below) that will hold their ADSs or ordinary shares as "capital assets" (generally, property held for investment) under the United States Internal Revenue Code (the "Code"). This summary is based upon existing United States federal tax law, which is subject to differing interpretations or change, possibly with retroactive effect. This summary does not discuss all aspects of United States federal taxation that may be important to particular investors in light of their individual investment circumstances, including investors subject to special tax rules (for example, financial institutions, insurance companies, broker-dealers, partnerships and their partners, and tax-exempt organizations (including private

foundations), holders who are not U.S. Holders, holders who own (directly, indirectly, or constructively) 10% or more of our voting stock, investors that will hold ADSs or ordinary shares as part of a

straddle, hedge, conversion, constructive sale, or other integrated transaction for United States federal income tax purposes, or investors that have a functional currency other than the United States dollar, all of whom may be subject to tax rules that differ significantly from those summarized below. In addition, this summary does not discuss any non-United States, state, or local tax considerations. Investors are urged to consult their tax advisors regarding the United States federal, state, local, and non-United States income and other tax considerations of an investment in ADSs or ordinary shares.

General

For purposes of this summary, a "U.S. Holder" is a beneficial owner of ADSs or ordinary shares that is, for United States federal income tax purposes, (i) an individual who is a citizen or resident of the United States, (ii) a corporation, or other entity taxable as a corporation for United States federal income tax purposes, created in, or organized under the law of the United States or any state thereof or the District of Columbia, (iii) an estate the income of which is includible in gross income for United States federal income tax purposes regardless of its source, or (iv) a trust (A) the administration of which is subject to the primary supervision of a United States court and which has one or more United States persons who have the authority to control all substantial decisions of the trust or (B) that has otherwise elected to be treated as a United States person under the Code.

If a partnership is a beneficial owner of our ADSs or ordinary shares, the tax treatment of a partner in the partnership will generally depend upon the status of the partner and the activities of the partnership.

For United States federal income tax purposes, U.S. Holders of ADSs will be treated as the beneficial owners of the underlying shares represented by the ADSs.

Threshold PFIC Classification Matters. A non-United States corporation, such as the company, will be classified as a "passive foreign investment company" (a "PFIC"), for United States federal income tax purposes, if either (i) 75% or more of its gross income consists of certain types of "passive" income or (ii) 50% or more of the value of its assets (determined on the basis of a quarterly average) produce or are held for the production of passive income. For this purpose, cash is categorized as a passive asset and the company's unbooked intangibles are taken into account.

Based upon an analysis of our anticipated income and assets in respect of the 2009 taxable year as reasonably approximated for purposes of applying the PFIC rules, we presently do not believe that we should be classified as a PFIC for the 2009 taxable year. Whether we are classified as a PFIC in the current or any future taxable year will be determined on the basis of, among other things, our asset values (including, among other items, the level of our cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments), and gross income (including whether such income is active versus passive income as specially determined under the PFIC rules) for such taxable year, which assets, and gross income are subject to change from year to year. While we do not anticipate becoming a PFIC in the current or future taxable years, no assurance can be given because the determination of whether we are a PFIC is a factual determination made annually and because there are uncertainties in the application of the relevant rules. The discussion below under "Dividends" and "Sale or Other Disposition of ADSs or Ordinary Shares" is written on the basis that we will not be classified as a PFIC for United States federal income tax purposes.

Dividends

Any cash distributions (including the amount of any PRC tax withheld) paid on ADSs or ordinary shares out of our earnings and profits, as determined under United States federal income tax principles, will generally be includible in the gross income of a U.S. Holder as dividend income.

Because we do not intend to determine our earnings and profits on the basis of United States federal income tax principles, any distribution paid will generally be treated as a "dividend" for United States federal income tax purposes. For taxable years beginning before January 1, 2011, a non-corporate recipient of dividend income generally will be subject to tax on dividend income from a "qualified foreign corporation" at a maximum United States federal tax rate of 15% rather than the marginal tax rates generally applicable to ordinary income provided that certain holding period requirements are met. A non-United States corporation (other than a corporation that is classified as a PFIC for the taxable year in which the dividend is paid or the preceding taxable year) generally will be considered to be a qualified foreign corporation (i) if it is eligible for the benefits of a comprehensive tax treaty with the United States which the Secretary of Treasury of the United States determines is satisfactory for purposes of this provision and which includes an exchange of information program, or (ii) with respect to any dividend it pays on stock (or ADSs in respect of such stock) which is readily tradable on an established securities market in the United States. However, we do not believe that dividends that we pay our ordinary shares that are not backed by ADSs currently meet the conditions required for the reduced tax rates. Because the ADSs are traded on the Nasdaq Global Market, they are considered readily tradable on an established securities market in the United States. In the event that we are deemed to be a PRC "resident enterprise" under PRC tax law, we may be eligible for the benefits of the United States-PRC income tax treaty. See "Item 10. Additional Information — E. Taxation — Peoples' Republic of China Taxation." If we are eligible for such benefits, dividends we pay on our ordinary shares, regardless of whether such shares are represented by the ADSs, would be eligible for the reduced rates of taxation. In addition, in the event that we are deemed to be a PRC "resident enterprise" under PRC tax law, you may be subject to PRC withholding taxes on dividends paid to you with respect to the ADSs or ordinary shares. In that case, however, you may be able to obtain a reduced rate of PRC withholding taxes under the United States-PRC income tax treaty if certain requirements are met. Dividends received on the ADSs or ordinary shares will not be eligible for the dividends received deduction allowed to corporations.

Dividends generally will be treated as income from foreign sources for United States foreign tax credit purposes. A U.S. Holder may be eligible, subject to a number of complex limitations, to claim a foreign tax credit in respect of any foreign withholding taxes imposed on dividends received on ADSs or ordinary shares. A U.S. Holder who does not elect to claim a foreign tax credit for foreign tax withheld, may instead claim a deduction, for United States federal income tax purposes, in respect of such withholdings, but only for a year in which such holder elects to do so for all creditable foreign income taxes.

Sale or Other Disposition of ADSs or Ordinary Shares

A U.S. Holder will generally recognize capital gain or loss upon the sale or other disposition of ADSs or ordinary shares in an amount equal to the difference between the amount realized upon the disposition and the holder's adjusted tax basis in such ADSs or ordinary shares. Any capital gain or loss will be long-term if the ADSs or ordinary shares have been held for more than one year and will generally be United States source gain or loss for United States foreign tax credit purposes. However, in the event that gain from the disposition of the ADSs or ordinary shares may be taxed in the PRC, such gain may be treated as PRC source gain under the United States-PRC income tax treaty, if we are eligible for such treaty. See "Item 10. Additional Information — E. Taxation — Peoples' Republic of China Taxation." Each U.S. investor is urged to consult its tax advisor regarding the tax consequences if a foreign withholding tax is imposed on a disposition of the ADSs or ordinary shares, including the availability of a foreign tax credit. The deductibility of a capital loss may be subject to limitations.

PFIC Considerations

If we were to be classified as a PFIC in any taxable year, a U.S. Holder would be subject to special rules generally intended to reduce or eliminate any benefits from the deferral of United States federal income tax that a U.S. Holder could derive from investing in a non-United States company that does not distribute all of its earnings on a current basis.

In such event, a U.S. Holder may be subject to tax at ordinary income tax rates on (i) any gain recognized on the sale of ADSs or ordinary shares and (ii) any "excess distribution" paid on ADSs or ordinary shares (generally, a distribution in excess of 125% of the average annual distributions paid by us during the shorter of the three preceding taxable years or the U.S. holder's holding period for ADSs, or ordinary shares). In addition, a U.S. Holder may be subject to an interest charge on such gain or excess distribution. Finally, the 15% maximum rate on our dividends would not apply if we are or become classified as a PFIC for the taxable year in which the dividend is paid or the preceding taxable year. Each U.S. Holder is urged to consult its own tax advisor regarding the potential tax consequences to such holder if we are or become classified as a PFIC, as well as certain elections that may be available to mitigate such consequences.

Material Estate and Gift Tax Considerations

ADSs or ordinary shares owned by an individual U.S. Holder at the time of death will be included in the individual U.S. Holder's gross estate for United States federal estate tax purposes. In addition, a U.S. Holder may be subject to tax on a transfer of the ADSs or ordinary shares by gift for United States federal gift tax purposes.

F. DIVIDENDS AND PAYING AGENTS

Not applicable.

G. STATEMENT BY EXPERTS

Not applicable.

H. DOCUMENTS ON DISPLAY

We have filed this annual report, including exhibits, with the SEC. As allowed by the SEC, in Item 19 of this annual report, we incorporate by reference certain information we filed with the SEC. This means that we can disclose important information to you by referring you to another document filed separately with the SEC. The information incorporated by reference is considered to be part of this annual report.

We are subject to periodic reporting and other informational requirements of the Exchange Act as applicable to foreign private issuers. Accordingly, we will be required to file reports, including annual reports on Form 20-F, and other information with the SEC. As a foreign private issuer, we are exempt from the rules of the Exchange Act prescribing the furnishing and content of proxy statements to shareholders. Our annual reports and other information so filed can be inspected and copied at the public reference facility maintained by the SEC at 100 F. Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. You can request copies of these documents upon payment of a duplicating fee by writing to the SEC. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information on the operation of the public reference facility. Our SEC filings will also be available to the public on the SEC's Internet Web site at http://www.sec.gov.

I. SUBSIDIARY INFORMATION

Not applicable.

ITEM 11. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Interest Rate Risk

Our exposure to interest rate risk primarily relates to interest expenses incurred by our short-term bank borrowings and Senior Notes, and interest income generated by excess cash invested in demand deposits and liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less. All of our short-term bank borrowings and convertible notes accrue interest at fixed rates. Interest-earning instruments carry a degree of interest rate risk. Although we have not historically used and do not expect to use in the future, any derivative financial instruments to manage our interest risk exposure, we believe we do not have significant exposure to fluctuations in interest rates.

Foreign Exchange Risk

Our financial statements are expressed in Renminbi, which is our reporting and functional currency. Substantially all of our revenues and a significant portion of our expenses are denominated in Renminbi. The Renminbi prices of some of our equipment that is imported may be affected by fluctuations in the value of Renminbi against foreign currencies. In addition, we are exposed to the foreign exchange risks in relation to our repayment of the Senior Notes upon their maturity. To the extent that we need to convert U.S. dollars we have received from our initial public offering and our follow-on offering into RMB for our operations, fluctuation in the exchange rate between the RMB and USD would affect the RMB amount we receive from the conversion. In this particular regard, for the year ended December 31, 2008, we incurred foreign exchange loss totaling RMB 127.4 million (US\$18.7 million).

Fluctuations in currency exchange rates, particularly between USD and RMB, may continue to have a significant effect on our net profit margins and would result in foreign currency exchange gains and losses on our USD denominated assets and liabilities. Any appreciation of RMB against USD could result in a change to our statement of operations. On the other hand, any depreciation of RMB to USD could reduce the RMB equivalent amounts of our financial results, the value of your investment in our company and the dividends we may pay in the future, if any, all of which may have a material adverse effect on the prices of our ADSs. We intend to make hedging arrangements against our exposures to U.S. dollar and Euro as our business further expands into international markets.

Credit Risk

96

We are generally required to make prepayments to silicon wafer suppliers in advance of shipments. We do not require collateral or other security against our prepayments to our suppliers for raw materials and have made a provision of RMB 18.6 million for potential losses against these prepayments. In the event of a failure by our suppliers to fulfill their contractual obligations and to the extent that we are not able to recover our prepayments, we would suffer losses. See "Item 3. Key Information — D. Risk Factors — Risks Related to Our Supply Chain — Limited competition among suppliers has required us in some instances to enter into long-term, firm commitment supply agreements, including prepayment provisions that could result in excess or insufficient inventory and financial loss placing us at a competitive disadvantage."

In addition, as a result of the current global economic crisis, we are increasingly exposed to credit risk in relation to our bank deposits. Since the fourth quarter of 2008, banks and other financial institutions, possibly including ones we engage in business with, have come under strain during the current global liquidity and credit crisis. It is possible that these banks and other financial institutions may be unable to weather the current economic storm, resulting in a loss of our deposits which will have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and liquidity. For example, in the fall of 2008, the Lehman Entities entered into insolvency proceedings in various countries. As a result, we were unable to collect the amounts due on the Lehman Note even though the Lehman Note matured in October 2008. We have made a full impairment amounting to RMB 686,320,000 against the Lehman Note.

In line with its effects on banks, the current economic crisis has also affected our customers. The negative impact of the current economy on our clients may affect their ability to pay us for our products and services that we have delivered and/or completed based on our extension of credit to our clients. If our clients fail to pay us for our products and services, our financial condition, results of operations and liquidity may be adversely affected.

ITEM 12. DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES OTHER THAN EQUITY SECURITIES

Not applicable.

PART II

ITEM 13. DEFAULTS, DIVIDEND ARREARAGES AND DELINQUENCIES

None.

ITEM 14. MATERIAL MODIFICATIONS TO THE RIGHTS OF SECURITY HOLDERS AND USE OF PROCEEDS

A. MATERIAL MODIFICATIONS TO THE RIGHTS OF SECURITIES HOLDERS

On February 7, 2008, our Board of Directors approved a change in the ratio of 1 ADS to 3 ordinary shares of the company to 1 ADS to 1 ordinary share of the company. Each shareholder of record at the close of business on February 6, 2008 received two additional ADSs for every ADS held on the record date. There was no change to the rights and preferences of the underlying ordinary shares. No action was required on the part of any ADS holder to effect the ratio change.

Upon the conversion of any of the Senior Notes into ADSs, there may be a dilutive effect caused by the conversion of the Senior Notes. Although a Capped Call was entered into to mitigate these dilutive effects, the Capped Call is currently under dispute and may not be enforced. Additional information on the potential dilutive effects of the conversion of the Senior Notes is incorporated into this annual report by reference to the Form F-3ASR initially filed with the SEC on May 12, 2008, the Prospectus Supplement for the Senior Notes initially filed with the SEC on May

15, 2008, the Prospectus Supplement for the 13,125,520 ADSs previously loaned by us to LBIE and Credit Suisse International in connection with the 2008 initially filed with the SEC on May 15, 2008, and the materials attached to the Form 6-K initially filed with the SEC on May 20, 2008.

As of the date of this annual report, of the 167,982,020 issued and outstanding ordinary shares, 125,168,020 were held by 13 registered holders of ADRs evidencing 125,168,020 ADSs, 12 of which holders of record are in the United States. The depositary of our ADSs is Bank of New York.

B. USE OF PROCEEDS

In February 2007, we completed our initial public offering of 17,250,000 ADSs (including over-allotment option), representing 51,750,000 ordinary shares, at US\$15 per ADS. The aggregate price of the offering amount (including over-allotment option) was US\$258,750,000 and, after deducting the underwriting discount and others offering expenses totaling US\$20,875,086, the net proceeds from the offering amounted to US\$237,874,914. The effective date of our registration statement on Form F-1 (Registration No. 333-140002) was February 6, 2007. CIBC World Markets, Piper Jaffray, Needham & Company, LLC, and RBC Capital Markets were the underwriters for the initial public offering of our ADSs.

The net proceeds from our initial public offering have been expended as follows:

- approximately US\$171 million as prepayment for raw materials from our various suppliers;
- approximately US\$37.8 million as capital expenditure for manufacturing equipment to expand the capacity of our Ningjin manufacturing center;
 - approximately US\$15.5 million for the purchase of our offices in Zhabei, Shanghai; and
 - the remaining amount expended for working capital and other general corporate purposes.

In October 2007, we completed our follow-on offering of 4,949,500 ADSs (including over-allotment option), representing 14,848,500 ordinary shares, at US\$42 per ADS. The aggregate price of the offering amount (including over-allotment option) amounted to US\$207,879,000 and, after deducting the underwriting discount and others offering expenses totaling US\$9,527,332.5, the net proceeds from the offering were US\$ 198,351,667.5. The effective date of our registration statement on Form F-1 (Registration No. 333-146210) was October 10, 2007.

The net proceeds from our follow-on public offering have been expended as follows:

- approximately US\$119.0 million as prepayments for raw materials from our various suppliers;
- approximately US\$10.0 million as capital expenditure for the construction of our Yangzhou manufacturing center and related solar cell manufacturing lines;

- approximately US\$26.0 million for investment; and
- with the remaining amount expended for working capital and other general corporate purposes.

In May 2008, we closed public offerings of the Senior Notes. In connection with the 2008 Offering, we entered into the Capped Call and loaned 13,125,520 ADSs to LBIE and Credit Suisse International pursuant to certain ADS lending agreements to help mitigate the possible dilutive effects of the conversion of the Senior Notes. The net proceeds from the 2008 Offering were RMB 2,709.5 million (US\$ 397.1 million). See also "Item 9. The Offer and Listing – A. Offer and Listing Details".

The net proceeds from our 2008 Offering have been expended as follows:

- US\$100 million was used to purchase the Lehman Note;
- US\$32.40 million was used to purchase the Capped Call;
- US\$70.2 million for the purchase and construction of manufacturing equipment and facilities;
 - US\$70.48 million for the purchase and prepayment of raw materials;
 - US\$26.6 million for the repurchase of Senior Notes;

with the remaining amount to be expended for working capital and other general corporate purposes.

See also "Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects — B. Liquidity and Capital Resources — Capital Expenditures."

ITEM 15. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of December 31, 2008, the end of the period covered by this annual report on Form 20-F, management performed, under the supervision and with the participation of our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act. Disclosure controls and procedures are those controls and procedures designed to provide reasonable assurance that the information required to be disclosed in our Exchange Act filings is (1) recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC's rules and forms, and (2) accumulated and communicated to management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Based on that evaluation, our chief executive officer and chief financial officer concluded that, as of December 31, 2008, the material weakness in internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007 as previously identified and described in our 2007 annual report on Form 20-F has been remedied and our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at a reasonable assurance level as of December 31, 2008.

Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act). Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in

reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and or our Board of Directors; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the interim or annual consolidated financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Under the supervision of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, management conducted an assessment of the effectiveness of the company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008, using the criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the company's annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.

In connection with management's assessment, as of December 31, 2008, the management has determined that the material weakness in internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007 as previously identified and described in our 2007 annual report on Form 20-F has been remedied and our internal control over financial reporting and procedures were effective at a reasonable assurance level as of December 31, 2008.

The report of PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian CPAs Limited Company, our independent registered public accounting firm, on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting appears on page F-1 in this annual report.

Remediation of Fiscal Year 2007 Material Weakness

We have previously disclosed in our Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2007 that we had identified the following material weakness in internal control over financial reporting:

• We did not have a sufficient number of finance personnel with an appropriate level of knowledge, experience and training in the application of U.S. GAAP and in internal control over financial reporting commensurate with our reporting requirements.

A number of actions were taken by the company, including:

- •The company hired a chief financial officer with "Big Four" background and knowledge and experience in solar industry, U.S. GAAP and internal controls over financial reporting.
- •The company hired a financial director, treasury manager, and other financial and accounting personnel. These individuals have a mix of industry and "Big Four" experience including U.S. GAAP and internal control over financial reporting.
- •The company has increased the accounting, internal control, and SEC reporting acumen and accountability of its finance organization employees through training programs designed to enhance their competency with respect to U.S. GAAP and internal control over financial reporting.

- •The company has strengthened its monitoring control over financial reporting to include additional review by our chief financial officer and senior finance staff over the application of U.S. GAAP accounting knowledge, the selection and evaluation of U.S. GAAP accounting policies, critical accounting judgments and estimates, reporting and disclosures.
- ·Subsequent to year end, the company hired a director of internal audit with 15 years of experience and expanded our internal audit department to consist of professionals from both the "Big Four" accounting firms and the solar industry.

As of December 31, 2008, we have concluded that the material weakness stated in Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2007 has been remediated.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We maintain a system of internal control over financial reporting that is designed to provide reasonable assurance that our books and records accurately reflect our transactions and that our established policies and procedures are followed. The discussion above under "Remediation of Fiscal Year 2007 Material Weakness" includes descriptions of the material actual changes to the company's internal control over financial reporting in the year ended December 31, 2008 that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the company's internal control over financial reporting.

Additionally, in the first quarter of fiscal 2009, we implemented a new enterprise resource planning ("ERP") system, which resulted in a material update to our system of internal control over financial reporting. Issues encountered subsequent to implementation caused us to further revise our internal control process and procedures in order to correct and supplement our processing capabilities within the new system in that quarter. Throughout the ERP system stabilization period we will continue to improve and enhance our system of internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 16. RESERVED

ITEM 16A. AUDIT COMMITTEE FINANCIAL EXPERT

Our Board of Directors has determined that Mr. Nai-Yu Pai qualifies as an audit committee financial expert in accordance with the terms of Item 16A of Form 20-F. Mr. Pai satisfies the "independence" requirements of the NASDAQ Marketplace Rules and meets the criteria for "independence" under Rule 10A-3 under the Exchange Act. For Mr. Pai's biographical information, see "Item 6. Directors, Senior Management and Employees – A. Directors and Senior Management. – Directors and Executive Officers".

ITEM 16B. CODE OF ETHICS

We have adopted a code of ethics for chief executive and senior financial officers, which we filed with the SEC as an exhibit to our annual report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2006. This home country practice of ours was established by us by reference to similarly situated issuers and differs from the Nasdaq Marketplace Rules that require listed companies to adopt one or more codes of conduct applicable to all directors, officers and employees and make those codes of conduct publicly available. There are, however, no specific requirements under Cayman Islands law requiring the adoption of codes of conduct.

ITEM 16C. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The following table sets forth the aggregate audit fees, audit-related fees, tax fees of our principal accountants and all other fees billed for products and services provided by our principal accountants for each of the fiscal years 2006, 2007 and 2008:

		Audit-Related
	Audit Fees(1)	Fees(2)
2006	RMB 8.24	RMB 0.88
	million	million
2007	RMB 11.4	RMB 3.98
	million	million
101		

2008 RMB 7.3 million RMB 2.1 million

- (1) "Audit fees" means the aggregate fees billed by our principal auditor for professional services rendered for the audit of our financial statements.
- (2) "Audit-related fees" means the aggregate fees billed by our principal auditor for assurance and related services that are reasonably related to the performance of the audit of our financial statements and are not reported under "Audit fees". Services comprising the fees disclosed under the category of "Audit-related fees" involve principally the performance of services relating to our initial and follow-on public offerings, convertible note offering, issuance of comfort letters and rendering of listing advice.

Before our principal accountants were engaged by our company or our subsidiaries to render audit or non-audit services, the engagement has been approved by our audit committee. Our audit committee will review and approve our independent auditor's annual engagement letter, including the proposed fees, as well as all audit and permitted non-audit engagements and relationships between the company and such independent auditors.

ITEM 16D. EXEMPTIONS FROM THE LISTING STANDARDS FOR AUDIT COMMITTEES

Not applicable.

ITEM 16E. PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES BY THE ISSUER AND AFFILIATED PURCHASERS

In November and December 2008, we conducted open market repurchases of our Senior Notes and we re-purchased \$78.526 million aggregate principal amount of the Senior Notes for a total consideration of \$26.6 million. In 2009, we further repurchased \$24.95 million aggregate principal amount of the Senior Notes for a total consideration of approximately \$15.0 million in open market repurchases. We may from time to time seek to make additional repurchases of our Senior Notes. Such repurchases, if any, will depend on prevailing market conditions, our liquidity requirements and other factors.

Affiliated Purchaser Purchases of Equity Securities

Period	(a) Total	(b) Average	(c) Total	(d) Maximum
	Number of	Price Paid	Number of	Number (or
	Shares	Per Share	Shares	Approximate
	Purchased		Purchased as	Dollar Value) of
			Part of Publicly	Shares that May
			Announced	Yet Be Purchased
			Plans or	Under the Plans or
			Programs	Programs

January - -

1-31

February 1-29

March 1-31 -

Period	(a) Total Number of Shares Purchased	(b) Average Price Paid Per Share	(c) Total Number of Shares Purchased as Part of Publicly Announced Plans or Programs	(d) Maximum Number (or Approximate Dollar Value) of Shares that May Yet Be Purchased Under the Plans or Programs
April 1-30	-	-		
May 1-31	-	-		
June 1-30	-	-		
July 1-31	-	-		
August 1-31	-	-		
September 1-30	-	-		
October 1-31	-	-		
November 1-30	6,614,725	2.76		
December 1-31	-	-		
Total	6,614,725	2.76		

ITEM 16F. CHANGE IN REGISTRANT'S CERTIFYING ACCOUNTANT

Not applicable.

ITEM 16G. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Nasdaq Marketplace Rules provide that foreign private issuers may follow home country practice in lieu of the corporate governance requirements of The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC, subject to certain exceptions and requirements to the extent that such exemptions would be contrary to U.S. federal securities laws and regulations. The significant differences between our corporate governance practices and those followed by U.S. companies under the Nasdaq Marketplace Rules are summarized as follows:

- We follow home country practice that permits our Board of Directors to have less than a majority of independent directors.
- We follow home country practice that does not restrict a company's transactions with directors, requiring only that directors exercise a duty of care and owe a fiduciary duty to the companies for which they serve. Under our memorandum and articles of association, subject to any separate requirement for audit committee approval under the applicable rules of the Nasdaq Marketplace Rules or unless disqualified by the chairman of the relevant board meeting, so long as a director discloses the nature of his interest in any contract or arrangement in which he is interested, such a director may vote in respect of any contract or proposed contract or arrangement in which such director is interested and may be counted in the quorum at such meeting.
- We follow home country practice which does not require us to have a three member audit committee or to fill all three seats on the audit committee.
- We follow home country practice which does not specifically require us to have one or more codes of conduct applicable to all directors, officers and employees and make those codes of conduct publicly available. There are no specific requirements under Cayman Islands law requiring the adoption of codes of conduct.

PART III

Not applicable.

ITEM 18. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008

See F-pages following Item 19	
	Page
Report of the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm	F-1
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2007 and 2008	F-2
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2006, 200' and 2008	7F-4
Statements of Shareholders' Equity and Comprehensive Income/(Loss) for the years	F-6

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2006, F-8 2007 and 2008

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

F-10

ITEM 19. EXHIBITS

- 1.1** Second Amended and Restated Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 from our registration statement on Form F-1 (File No. 333-140002), as amended, initially filed with the Security and Exchange Commission on January 16, 2007.)
- 2.1** Form of Indenture (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 from our registration statement on Form F-3ASR, initially filed with the SEC on May 12, 2008.)

- 2.2** Form of First Supplemental Indenture between The Bank of New York as trustee and JA Solar (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 on Form 6-K initially filed with the SEC on May 20, 2008).
- 4.1** Long-Term Wafer Supplying and Prepayment Agreement between JingAo Solar Co., Ltd. and Jiangsu Shunda Semiconductor Develop Co., Ltd. dated as of August 1, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 from our registration statement on Form F-1 (File No. 333-146210), as amended, initially filed with the Security and Exchange Commission on September 20, 2007.)
- 4.2** Polysilicon Supply Agreement between JingAo Solar Co., Ltd. and M.SETEK Co., Ltd. dated as of January 14, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.12 from our Form 20-F, initially filed with the Security and Exchange Commission on May 9, 2008.)
- 4.3** Silicon Wafer Supply Agreement between JingAo Solar Co., Ltd. and Jiangsu Zhongneng Polysilicon Technology Development Co., Ltd. dated as of April 7, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.14 from our Form 20-F, initially filed with the Security and Exchange Commission on May 9, 2008.)
- 4.4** Supplemental Agreement for Silicon Wafer Supply Contract between Jiangsu Shunda Semiconductor Development Co., Ltd. and JA Solar Co., Ltd. dated April 29, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.15 from our Form 20-F, initially filed with the Security and Exchange Commission on May 9, 2008.)
- 4.5** Amendment of M.SETEK and JA Solar Contract between M.SETEK Co, Ltd. and JA Solar Holdings Co., Ltd., relating to the Long-term Wafer Supplying and Prepayment Agreement dated October 9, 2006 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 from our registration statement on Form F-1 (File No. 333-146210), as amended, initially filed with the Security and Exchange Commission on September 20, 2007) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.16 from our Form 20-F, initially filed with the Security and Exchange Commission on May 9, 2008.)
- 4.6** Silicon Wafer Supply Agreement between JingAo Solar Co., Ltd. and Zhejiang Yuhui Solar Energy Source Co. Ltd dated as of December 13, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.17 from our Form 20-F, initially filed with the Security and Exchange Commission on May 9, 2008.)
- 4.7* The Polysilicon Supply Agreement between the JingAo Solar Co, Ltd. and M.SETEK Co., Ltd., dated May 14, 2009 (*Confidential treatment has been requested for certain portions omitted from this exhibit pursuant to Rule 24b-2 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Confidential portions of this Exhibit have been separately filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.)
- 4.8* Supplemental Agreement I between Zhejiang Yuhui Solar Energy Source Co., Ltd and JingAo Solar Co., Ltd., relating to the Silicon Wafer Supply Agreement dated August 10, 2007 and the Silicon Wafer Supply Agreement dated December 13, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.17 from our Form 20-F, initially filed with the Security and Exchange Commission on May 9, 2008) (collectively, the "Yuhui

- Contracts"), dated July 11, 2008 (*Confidential treatment has been requested for certain portions omitted from this exhibit pursuant to Rule 24b-2 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Confidential portions of this Exhibit have been separately filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.)
- 4.9* Supplemental Agreement II of Yuhui Contracts between Zhejiang Yuhui Solar Energy Source Co., Ltd and JingAo Solar Co., Ltd., dated August 8, 2008 (*Confidential treatment has been requested for certain portions omitted from this exhibit pursuant to Rule 24b-2 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Confidential portions of this Exhibit have been separately filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.)
- 4.10* Supplemental Agreement III of Yuhui Contracts between Zhejiang Yuhui Solar Energy Source Co., Ltd and JingAo Solar Co., Ltd., dated December 4, 2008 (*Confidential treatment has been requested for certain portions omitted from this exhibit pursuant to Rule 24b-2 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Confidential portions of this Exhibit have been separately filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.)
- 4.11* Supplemental Agreement IV of Yuhui Contracts between Zhejiang Yuhui Solar Energy Source Co., Ltd and JingAo Solar Co., Ltd., dated January 23, 2009 (*Confidential treatment has been requested for certain portions omitted from this exhibit pursuant to Rule 24b-2 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Confidential portions of this Exhibit have been separately filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.)
- 4.12* Supplemental Agreement V of Yuhui Contracts between Zhejiang Yuhui Solar Energy Source Co., Ltd and JingAo Solar Co., Ltd., dated March 31, 2009 (*Confidential treatment has been requested for certain portions omitted from this exhibit pursuant to Rule 24b-2 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Confidential portions of this Exhibit have been separately filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.)

- 4.13* Supplemental Agreement VI of Yuhui Contracts between Zhejiang Yuhui Solar Energy Source Co., Ltd and JingAo Solar Co., Ltd., dated March 20, 2009 (*Confidential treatment has been requested for certain portions omitted from this exhibit pursuant to Rule 24b-2 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Confidential portions of this Exhibit have been separately filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.)
- 4.14* The Polysilicon Supply Contract between JA Solar Technology Yangzhou Co., Ltd. and Jiangsu Zhongneng Polysilicon Technology Development Co., Ltd., dated August 17, 2008 (*Confidential treatment has been requested for certain portions omitted from this exhibit pursuant to Rule 24b-2 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Confidential portions of this Exhibit have been separately filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.)
- 4.15* Supplemental Agreement I of Exhibit 4.3 between JingAo Solar Co., Ltd. and Jiangsu Zhongneng Polysilicon Technology Development Co., Ltd., dated August 17, 2008 (*Confidential treatment has been requested for certain portions omitted from this exhibit pursuant to Rule 24b-2 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Confidential portions of this Exhibit have been separately filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.)
- 4.16* Supplemental Agreement II of Exhibit 4.3 and Exhibit 4.14 among Jiangsu Zhongneng Polysilicon Technology Development Co., Ltd., JingAo Solar Co., Ltd. and JA Solar Technology Yangzhou Co., Ltd., dated April 28, 2009 (*Confidential treatment has been requested for certain portions omitted from this exhibit pursuant to Rule 24b-2 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Confidential portions of this Exhibit have been separately filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.)
- 4.17* Supplemental Agreement III of Exhibit 4.3 and Exhibit 4.14 among Jiangsu Zhongneng Polysilicon Technology Development Co., Ltd., JingAo Solar Co., Ltd. and JA Solar Technology Yangzhou Co., Ltd., dated June 18, 2009 (*Confidential treatment has been requested for certain portions omitted from this exhibit pursuant to Rule 24b-2 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Confidential portions of this Exhibit have been separately filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.)
- 4.18* Price Memo between JA Solar Technology Yangzhou Co., Ltd. and Jiangsu Zhongneng Polysilicon Technology Development Co., Ltd., dated March 6, 2009 (*Confidential treatment has been requested for certain portions omitted from this exhibit pursuant to Rule 24b-2 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Confidential portions of this Exhibit have been separately filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.)
- 4.19* Purchasing Contract between Jinglong Group and JingAo Solar Co., Ltd. dated February 6, 2009 (*Confidential treatment has been requested for certain portions omitted from this exhibit pursuant to Rule 24b-2 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Confidential portions of this Exhibit have been separately filed

with the Securities and Exchange Commission.)

- 4.20* The Repayment Agreement between JingAo Solar Co., Ltd. and Jiangsu Shunda Semiconductor Development Co., Ltd., dated May 9, 2009 (*Confidential treatment has been requested for certain portions omitted from this exhibit pursuant to Rule 24b-2 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Confidential portions of this Exhibit have been separately filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.)
- 8.1* List of Subsidiaries
- 11.1**Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 11.1 from our 2006 annual report on Form 20-F (File No. 001-33290) initially filed with the Security and Exchange Commission on June 1, 2007.)
- 12.1* Certification by the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) of the Act and Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
- 12.2* Certification by the Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) of the Act and Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
- 13.1* Certification by the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b)/15d-14(b) of the Act, Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of the United States Code and Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
- 13.2* Certification by the Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b)/15d-14(b) of the Act, Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of the United States Code and Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
- 16.1* Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

* Filed as part of this annual report

**Incorporated by reference

SIGNATURE

The registrant hereby certifies that it meets all of the requirements for filing on Form 20-F and that it has duly caused and authorized the undersigned to sign this annual report on its behalf.

JA Solar Holdings Co., Ltd.

By: /s/ Huaijin Yang Name: Huaijin Yang

Title: Chief Executive Officer

Date: June 25, 2009

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of JA Solar Holdings Co., Ltd.:

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of operations, of shareholders' equity and of cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of JA Solar Holdings Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2008 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company's management is responsible for these financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements and on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audits (which were integrated audits in 2008 and 2007). We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audits of the financial statements included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian CPAs Limited Company

Shanghai, People's Republic of China June 25, 2009

JA SOLAR HOLDINGS CO., LTD. CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

ACCETC	1	Note	December 31, 2007 RMB	December 31, 2008 RMB
ASSETS Current assets:				
Cash and cash equivalents	3		735,975	1,542,784
Restricted cash	3		409,058	33,061
Short term investments	3	5	803,121	421,865
Accounts receivable from third party customers, net		4	28,820	332,042
Accounts receivable from related party customers, net		21 (b)	24,731	23,009
Inventories, net		6	157,334	591,989
Advances to related party suppliers, net		21 (b)	389,872	415,950
Advances to third party suppliers, net		7	898,723	264,497
Other current assets		8	42,315	191,081
Deferred tax assets		11	1,214	14,146
Total current assets			3,491,163	3,830,424
Property and equipment, net		9	532,012	1,369,807
Intangible asset, net		10	6,688	11,805
Deferred tax asset		11	4,355	14,400
Advances to suppliers, net		21 (b)	536,332	1,944,912
Prepayment for land use rights		12	-	44,399
Derivative asset-capped call options		14	-	4,485
Deferred issuance cost			-	58,952
Total assets			4,570,550	7,279,184
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY				
Current liabilities:				
Short-term bank borrowings		13	200,000	490,000
Accounts payable to third parties			10,119	117,982
Tax payables			342	5,168
Advances from third party customers			70,286	65,051
Other payables to third parties		15	16,842	132,792
Payroll and welfare payable			6,364	14,199

Edgar Filing: JA Solar Holdings Co., Ltd. - Form 20-F

Accrued expenses	16	15,280	22,766
Interest payable		-	13,458
Amounts due to related parties	21 (a)	113,890	9,407
Total current liabilities		433,123	870,823
Accrued warranty cost	17	929	5,185
Convertible notes	14	-	1,532,600
F-2			

Edgar Filing: JA Solar Holdings Co., Ltd. - Form 20-F

Embedded derivatives		-	115,676
Total liabilities		434,052	2,524,284
Commitments and Contingencies	22	-	-
Shareholders' equity:			
Ordinary shares (US\$0.0001 par value; 493,480,000 shares authorized, 154,058,500 and 167,982,020shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2008)	27	123	133
	21		
Additional paid-in capital	10	3,655,194	3,787,262
Statutory reserves	19	71,619	169,576
Retained earnings		417,203	798,312
Accumulated other comprehensive income		(7,641)	(383)
Total shareholders' equity		4,136,498	4,754,900
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity		4,570,550	7,279,184

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

F-3

JA SOLAR HOLDINGS CO., LTD.

Consolidated Statements of operations (In thousands, except share and per share data)

		For the year ended	For the year ended	For the year ended
	Note	December 31, 2006	December 31, 2007	December 31, 2008
		RMB	RMB	RMB
Net revenues				
Solar products		565,327	2,532,417	4,794,041
Solar products to related parties		131,131	62,206	508,010
Solar cells processing		-	99,077	156,259
Total revenues		696,458	2,693,700	5,458,310
Cost of revenues				
Solar products		(524,163)	(2,066,560)	(4,414,189)
Solar cells processing		-	(26,232)	(52,086)
Total cost of revenues		(524,163)	(2,092,792)	(4,466,275)
Gross profit		172,295	600,908	992,035
Selling, general and administrative expenses		(39,656)	(150,319)	(271,494)
Research and development expenses		(1,358)	(4,200)	(28,509)
Total operating expenses		(41,014)	(154,519)	(300,003)
Income from operations		131,281	446,389	692,032
Impairment on available-for-sale securities	5	-	-	(686,320)
Change in fair value of derivatives	14/24	-	-	564,006
Convertible notes buyback gain	14	-	-	203,514
Interest expense		(5,055)	(6,595)	(160,542)
Interest income		824	62,580	42,648
Foreign exchange gain/(loss)		1,300	(112,800)	(127,356)
Investment loss	5	-	-	(28,594)
Other income		64	5,225	3,560
Income before income taxes		128,414	394,799	502,948
Income tax benefit/ (expense)	11	-	5,569	(23,882)
Net income		128,414	400,368	479,066
Preferred shares accretion		(1,603)	(515)	_
		(34,732)	-	-

Preferred shares beneficial conversion charge

Allocation of net income to participating			
preferred shareholders	(5,683)	(1,648)	-

F-4

Edgar Filing: JA Solar Holdings Co., Ltd. - Form 20-F

Net income available to ordinary shareholders		86,396	398,205	479,066
Net income/(loss) per share:				
Basic	20	1.08	2.96	3.06
Diluted	20	1.08	2.93	(2.31)
Weighted average number of shares outstanding:				
Basic	20	80,000,000	134,525,226	156,380,060
Diluted	20	80,166,178	136,721,772	168,785,243

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

F-5

JA SOLAR HOLDINGS CO., LTD.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) (In thousands, except share and per share data)

Ordinary shares

Shares	Amount RMB	Additional paid-in capital RMB	Statutory reserves RMB	Retained earnings/ (accumulated deficit) RMB	Accumulated Other comprehensive income RMB	Total shareholders' equity RMB
80,000,000	66	59,633	-	(3,110)	-	56,589
-	-	59,901	-	-	-	59,901
-	-	(119,508)	-	-	-	(119,508)
		52.550				52 77 0
-	-	53,779	-	-	-	53,779
-	-	18,179	-	-	-	18,179
-	-	-	-	(1,603)	-	(1,603)
- -	-	34,732	- -	(34,732)	- -	34,732 (34,732)

-	-	-	14,588	(14,588)	-	-
-	-	-	-	128,414	-	128,414
20,000,000	66	106 716	11500	74 201		105 751
80,000,000	66	106,716	14,588	74,381	-	195,751
F-6						

Issuance of ordinary shares pursuant to initial public offerings	51,750,000	40	1,850,337	_	-	_	1,850,377
Accretion of preferred shares	-	_	-	-	(515)	-	(515)
Conversion of preferred shares into ordinary shares upon the completion of initial public offering	6,520,000	5	109,900	_	_	_	109,905
Issuance of ordinary shares pursuant to follow on offerings	14,848,500	11	1,481,696	_	_	_	1,481,707
Shares based	11,010,500	11	1,101,000				1,101,707
compensation	-	-	91,637	-	-	-	91,637
Exercise of stock options	940,000	1	14,908	-	-	-	14,909
Statutory reserves	-	-	-	57,031	(57,031)	-	-
Net Income	-	-	-	-	400,368	-	400,368
Other comprehensive income for available-for-sale securities	_	-	-	-	_	(7,641)	(7,641)
Balance at							
December 31, 2007	154,058,500	123	3,655,194	71,619	417,203	(7,641)	4,136,498
Shares based compensation	-	-	113,192	_	-	-	113,192
Exercise of stock	702 000	1	10 076				10 077
options Issuance of ordinary shares pursuant to ADS Lending Agreement (Note	798,000	1	18,876	-	-	-	18,877
14)	13,125,520	9		-	-	-	9

Statutory reserve	-	-	-	97,957	(97,957)	-	-
Net Income	-	-	-	-	479,066	-	479,066
Other comprehensive income for foreign currency translation adjustment	-	-	-	_	_	(383)	(383)
Other comprehensive loss for available-for-sale securities	-	-	-	-	_	7,641	7,641
Balance at December 31, 2008	167,982,020	133	3,787,262	169,576	798,312	(383)	4,754,900

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

JA SOLAR HOLDINGS CO., LTD.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (In thousands)

	For the year ended December 31, 2006	For the year ended December 31, 2007	For the year ended December 31, 2008
	RMB	RMB	RMB
Cash flows from operating activities:			
Net income	128,414	400,368	479,066
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash used in operating activities:			
Share based compensation expense	18,179	91,637	113,192
Depreciation and amortization	11,203	34,115	88,191
Allowance for doubtful accounts	-	-	24,708
Inventory provisions	-	-	77,980
Allowance for advance to third party suppliers	-	-	18,592
Amortization of deferred issuance cost and increase in accretion of convertible notes	-	-	88,389
Change in fair value of derivatives	-	-	(564,006)
Exchange (gain)/ loss	(1,627)	90,672	57,161
Investment loss from short term securities	-	-	39,043
Loss from disposal of fixed assets	-	-	362
Increase in deferred tax asset	-	(5,570)	(22,977)
Gain from convertible notes buyback	-	-	(203,514)
Impairment on available-for-sale securities	-	-	686,320
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:			
Acquisition of trading security	-	-	(353,588)
Increase in inventories	(154,675)	(2,659)	(512,635)
(Increase)/decrease in accounts receivables from third party customers	(47,720)	18,900	(327,930)
(Increase)/decrease in accounts receivables from related party customers	_	(24,731)	1,722
Increase in advance to related party suppliers	(39,832)	(350,040)	(41,133)

Edgar Filing: JA Solar Holdings Co., Ltd. - Form 20-F

Increase in advance to third party suppliers	(1,154)	(1,433,446)	(777,891)
Increase in prepayment for land use rights	-	-	(44,399)
Increase in other current assets	(6,674)	(41,371)	(148,766)
Increase in accounts payable	1,153	8,967	107,863
Increase/(decrease) in tax payable	3,640	(3,298)	4,826
Increase/(decrease) in other payables	(7)	5,194	(3,040)
Increase in payroll and welfare payable	2,563	3,688	7,834
Increase in accrued expenses	3,903	11,347	7,486
Increase in accrued warranty cost	-	929	4,256
Decrease in amounts due to related parties	(503)	(38)	(104,483)
Increase in interest payables	-	-	13,458

Increase/(decrease) in advance from third party customers	21,330	48,956	(5,235)
Net cash used in operating activities	(61,807)	(1,146,380)	(1,289,148)
Cash flows from investing activities:			
Purchase of property and equipment	(107,511)	(421,233)	(806,058)
Cash received from disposal of property and equipment	-	-	46
Purchase of intangible assets	(108)	(616)	(6,462)
Acquisition of short term investments	-	(810,762)	(2,156,187)
(Increase)/decrease in restricted cash	-	(409,058)	375,997
Proceeds from sale of short term investments	_	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	2,173,241
Net cash used in investing activities	(107,619)	(1,641,669)	(419,423)
Cash flows from financing activities:			
Pro-rata capital contribution from ordinary shareholders	59,900	-	-
Net proceeds from issuance of preferred shares	110,669	-	_
Pro-rata return of capital to ordinary shareholders pursuant to the Recapitalization (Note 1)	(119,508)	-	-
Pro-rata capital contribution from ordinary shareholders pursuant to the Recapitalization (Note 1)	53,779	-	-
Proceeds from public offerings of shares	-	3,341,002	-
Net proceeds from convertible notes offerings	-	-	2,709,538
Proceeds from short-term bank borrowings	200,000	250,000	490,000
Payment of capped call up-front premiums	-	-	(226,087)
Repurchase of convertible notes	-	-	(182,019)
Repayment of short-term borrowings	(50,000)	(200,000)	(200,000)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options	-	128,583	18,876
Net cash provided by financing			
activities	254,840	3,519,585	2,610,308
	(627)	(91,319)	(94,928)

Edgar Filing: JA Solar Holdings Co., Ltd. - Form 20-F

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents			
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents	84,787	640,217	806,809
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period	10,971	95,758	735,975
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period	95,758	735,975	1,542,784
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:			
Cash paid for interest (net of amounts capitalized)	6,307	10,207	59,669
Cash paid for income tax	-	-	41,696
Supplemental schedule of non-cash investing and financing activities:			
Purchases of property and equipment included in other payables	2,438	8,129	127,120

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Edgar Filing: JA Solar Holdings Co., Ltd. - Form 20-F JA SOLAR HOLDINGS CO., LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

1. ORGANIZATION AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of JA Solar Holdings Co., Ltd. (the "Company"), and its subsidiaries, collectively referred to as the "Group".

JA Solar Holdings Co., Ltd. was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on July 6, 2006. In February 2007, the Company's ADS became listed on the NASDAQ Global Market in the United States. The Group is primarily engaged in the development, production and marketing of high-performance photovoltaic ("PV") solar cells, which convert sunlight into electricity, in the PRC.

Substantially all of the Group's business is conducted through the operating subsidiaries established in the PRC, JingAo Solar Co., Ltd. ("JA Hebei"), Shanghai JA Solar PV Technology Co., Ltd. ("JA Zhabei") and JA Solar Technology Yangzhou Co., Ltd. ("JA Yangzhou"), in which the Company indirectly holds a 100% interest. As further described below, in contemplation of its initial public offering, the Company, through its subsidiary, JA Development Co., Ltd. ("JA BVI"), acquired 100% of the voting interest in JA Hebei through a series of planned transactions that was completed on August 30, 2006.

In July 2006, the equity holders of JA Hebei transferred their shareholdings in JA Hebei to JA BVI and in return received shares in JA BVI in proportion to their shareholdings in JA Hebei. On August 30, 2006, pursuant to a share swap agreement, all the then existing shareholders of JA BVI exchanged their respective shares of JA BVI for equivalent classes of shares of the Company on a 1 for 8,000 basis resulting in 80 million shares issued in the aggregate. As a result, JA BVI and JA Hebei became wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company, thereby completing the recapitalization. As part of the recapitalization, a net return of capital of RMB 65,729 to the equity holders of JA Hebei was completed to satisfy PRC legal requirements and, for accounting purposes, is recorded as a distribution to shareholders with a charge to additional paid-in-capital.

These transactions have been accounted for as a legal reorganization of entities under common control, in a manner similar to a pooling-of-interest because the recapitalization did not result in a change in control of JA Hebei's business since JA Hebei continued to be controlled and managed by Hebei Jinglong Industry and Commerce Group Co., Ltd. Accordingly, the accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared as if the current corporate structure had been in existence throughout the periods presented.

As of December 31, 2008, the Company's subsidiaries include the following entities:

	Date of Incorporation	Place of Incorporation	Percentage of Ownership
JingAo Solar Co., Ltd. ("JA Hebei")	May 18, 2005	PRC	100%
JA Development Co., Ltd. ("JA BVI")	July 6, 2006	BVI	100%
Shanghai JA Solar Technology Co., Ltd. ("JA Fengxian")	November 16, 2006	PRC	100%
JA Solar USA Inc. ("JA USA")	April 13, 2007	USA	100%
Shanghai JA Solar PV Technology Co., Ltd.("JA Zhabei")	June 22, 2007	PRC	100%
JA Solar Technology Yangzhou Co., Ltd. ("JA Yangzhou")	November 19, 2007	PRC	100%
JA Solar Hong Kong Limited ("JA Hong Kong")	December 10, 2007	Hong Kong	100%
	October 11, 2008	PRC	100%

Jing Hai Yang Semiconductor Materials (Donghai) Co., Ltd ("JA Lianyungang")

JA SOLAR HOLDINGS CO., LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

a) Basis of presentation and consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United Stated of America ("U.S. GAAP"). The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries (collectively, the "Group" or the "Company"). All inter-company transactions and balances among the Company and its subsidiaries have been eliminated upon consolidation.

The Group commenced its principal operations from April 2006 and prior to this date was in the development stage.

b) Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from those estimates. The Group bases its estimates on historical experience and various other factors believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Significant accounting estimates reflected in the Company's consolidated financial statements include allowance for doubtful receivables, provision for inventories and advances to suppliers, the economic useful lives of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, asset impairments, certain accrued liabilities including accruals for warranty costs, accounting for share-based compensation, fair value measurements, legal contingencies, and income taxes and related tax valuation allowance.

c) Fair Value of Financial Instruments

On January 1, 2008, the Company adopted the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 157, "Fair Value Measurements" ("SFAS 157"), that were not deferred by Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") Staff Position FAS No. 157-2, "Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 157" ("FSP 157-2"). SFAS 157 defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date (also referred to as an exit price). SFAS 157 establishes a hierarchy for inputs used in measuring fair value that gives the highest priority to observable inputs and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs. Valuation techniques used to measure fair value shall maximize the use of observable inputs.

When available, the Company measures the fair value of financial instruments based on quoted market prices in active markets, valuation techniques that use observable market-based inputs or unobservable inputs that are corroborated by market data. Pricing information the Company obtains from third parties is internally validated for reasonableness prior to use in the consolidated financial statements. When observable market prices are not readily available, the Company generally estimates the fair value using valuation techniques that rely on alternate market data or inputs that are generally less readily observable from objective sources and are estimated based on pertinent information available at the time of the applicable reporting periods. In certain cases, fair values are not subject to precise quantification or verification and may fluctuate as economic and market factors vary and the Company's evaluation of

those factors changes. Although the Company uses its best judgment in estimating the fair value of these financial instruments, there are inherent limitations in any estimation technique. In these cases, a minor change in an assumption could result in a significant change in its estimate of fair value, thereby increasing or decreasing the amounts of the Company's consolidated assets, liabilities, stockholders' equity (deficit) and net income or loss. See Note 24, "Fair Value Measurements", for further details.

JA SOLAR HOLDINGS CO., LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

d) Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash

The Group considers all cash on hand and demand deposits as cash and considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less as cash equivalents. Restricted cash represents amounts held by banks, which are not available for the Company's use, as securities for issuance of letters of credit.

e) Short term investments

The Company accounts for short-term investments in accordance with SFAS No. 115, Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities. The Company classifies the short-term investments in debt and equity securities as "held-to-maturity", "trading" or "available-for-sale", whose classification determines the respective accounting methods stipulated by the accounting standard for financial instruments. Investments that are bought and held principally for the purpose of selling them in the near term are classified as trading securities. Trading securities are reported at fair value with unrealized gains and losses included in investment income. The Company does not have investments classified as held-to-maturity.

Investments designated as available-for-sale are reported at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in shareholders' equity. Realized gains or losses are charged to income during the period in which the gain or loss is realized. If the Group determines a decline in fair value is other-than-temporary, the cost basis of the individual security is written down to fair value as a new cost basis and the amount of the write-down is accounted for as a realized loss. The new cost basis will not be changed for subsequent recoveries in fair value. Determination of whether declines in value are other-than-temporary requires significant judgment. Subsequent increases and decreases in the fair value of available-for-sale securities will be included in comprehensive income through a credit or charge to shareholders' equity except for an other-than-temporary impairment, which will be charged to income. The group's available-for-sale investments include:

HARP index investment The Company acquires these Hybrid Absolute Return Portfolio Index Investments for cash management purpose. The issuing bank has guaranteed the return of the principal if the Company held the investment for six months. In addition, the investment has a daily liquidity feature subject to a penalty. The realized gains or losses on the sale of HARP index investment are recorded in investment income.

Commodity related investment The Company acquires these Commodity index related investment for cash management purpose. The issuing bank has guaranteed the return of the principal if the Company held the investment for three months. The realized gains or losses on the sale of commodity related investment are recorded in investment income.

Ÿ Marketable debt securities These debt securities are held to generate short-term interest returns. The interest income and realized gains and losses on the sale of these securities are recorded in interest income.

Marketable equity securities when the investments are considered strategic in nature at the time of original classification. The Company acquires these equity investments for strategic objectives. The realized gains or losses on the sale or exchange of marketable equity securities are recorded in investment income.

Unrency accrual bill The Company acquires these investments for cash management purpose. The investment does not have a fixed maturity date and rolls over every six months. The issuing bank has guaranteed the return of the principal if the Company held the investment for six months. In addition, the investment was puttable to the issuing bank, callable by the issuing bank and provided a daily liquidity feature. If the investment is liquidated within 6 months before maturity, realized gains or losses are absorbed by the Company. The realized gains or losses on the

sale of currency accrual bill are recorded in investment income.

f) Allowance for doubtful accounts

Provisions are made against accounts receivable for estimated losses resulting from the inability of our customers to make payments. Accounts receivable in the balance sheets are stated net of such provision, if any.

JA SOLAR HOLDINGS CO., LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

g)Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market value. Cost of inventories is determined by the weighted-average method. Provisions are made for excess, slow moving and obsolete inventory as well as inventory whose carrying value is in excess of net realizable value. Certain factors could impact the realizable value of inventory, so the Group continually evaluates the recoverability based on assumptions about customer demand and market conditions. The evaluation may take into consideration historical usage, expected demand, anticipated sales price, new product development schedules, the effect new products might have on the sale of existing products, product obsolescence, customer concentrations, and other factors. The reserve or write-down is equal to the difference between the cost of inventory and the estimated market value based upon assumptions about future demand and market conditions. If actual market conditions are less favorable than those projected by management, additional inventory reserves or write-downs may be required that could negatively impact our gross margin and operating results. If actual market conditions are more favorable, the Group may have higher gross margin when products that have been previously reserved or written down are eventually sold.

The Group outsources the assembly of solar modules, whereby related or third party manufacturers assemble solar cells produced by the Group into modules according to the requirements of the Group's customers. Upon receipt of the assembled solar modules, the Group pays processing fee to the manufacturers and includes such fee in the production cost of the finished goods.

h) Short-Term and Long-Term Advances to Suppliers

The Group provides short-term and long-term advances to secure its raw material needs, which are then offset against future purchases. The Group does not require collateral or other security against its advances to related or third party suppliers. We continually assess the credit quality of our suppliers and the factors that affect the credit risk. If there is deterioration in the creditworthiness of our suppliers, we will provide for such losses on these advances. The Group classified short-term and long-term advances to suppliers based on management's best estimate of the expected purchase in the next twelve-months as of the balance sheet date. Future balances are recorded in long-term advances to suppliers.

i) Prepayment for land use rights

Land use rights are carried at cost less accumulated amortization and impairment losses. Amortization is provided to write off the prepayment for land use rights on a straight-line basis over the respective periods of the rights.

j)Property and equipment, net

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization are provided on a straight-line basis over the following estimated useful lives:

Buildings 20 years

Leasehold improvements Shorter of the lease term or useful lives

Machinery and equipment 5-10 years

Furniture and fixtures 5 years Motor vehicles 5 years

Construction in progress primarily represents the construction of new production lines. Costs incurred in the construction are capitalized and transferred to property and equipment upon completion, at which time depreciation commences. Interest expense incurred for qualifying assets are capitalized in accordance with SFAS No. 34, Capitalization of Interest Cost.

JA SOLAR HOLDINGS CO., LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

Expenditures for repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred. The gain or loss on disposal of property and equipment, if any, is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the disposed assets, and is recognized in the consolidated statement of operations upon disposal.

k)Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets remain with the leasing company are accounted for as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases are charged to the consolidated statements of operations on a straight line basis over the lease periods.

1) Intangible asset, net

Intangible assets comprised of technical know-how contributed by one of the Group's shareholders upon formation of JA Hebei and purchased accounting and operational softwares.

Technical know-how is carried at cost, less accumulated amortization. The technical know-how consists of one component relating to the commercial production process of photovoltaic solar cells. Amortization is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the technical know-how of eight years.

Purchased software with a finite useful life is being amortized on a straight line basis over its estimated useful life of five years.

m)Impairment of long-lived assets

The Group evaluates its long-lived assets and finite-lived intangible asset for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Factors considered important that could result in an impairment review include significant underperformance relative to expected historical or projected future operating results, significant changes in the manner of use of acquired assets and significant negative industry or economic trends. Impairments are recognized based on the difference between the fair value of the asset and its carrying value. Fair value is generally measured based on either quoted market prices, if available, or discounted cash flow analyses. No impairment charge was recognized for any of the periods covered by these consolidated financial statements.

n)Income taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statements carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax assets bases and operating loss and tax credit carry forwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. A valuation allowance is provided to reduce the carrying amount of deferred tax assets if it is considered more likely than not that some portion, or all, of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.

o)Revenue recognition

(i) Revenue recognition for solar cells and modules (hereafter "solar products")

The Group, generally, recognizes revenue from the sale of solar products at the time of shipment, at which point title and risk of loss transfer. The Group sells its solar products at agreed upon prices to its customers, which reflect prevailing market prices.

The Group's considerations for recognizing revenue are based on the following:

- Ÿ Persuasive evidence that an arrangement (sales contract) exists between a willing customer and the Group that outlines the terms of the sale (including customer information, product specification, quantity of goods, purchase price and payment terms). Customers do not have a right of return. The Group does provide a warranty on its solar module products.
- Ÿ Generally shipping terms are FOB shipping point from the Group's premises. At this point the customer takes title to the goods and is responsible for all risks and rewards of ownership. Some shipping terms are CIF destination point. At this point, once the acceptance from the customer is received, the customer takes title to the goods and is responsible for all risks and rewards of ownership. Some

JA SOLAR HOLDINGS CO., LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

shipping terms are EXW, at which point the Group delivers goods at its own place of business and all other transportation costs and risks are assumed by the customer

The Group's price to the customer is fixed and determinable as specifically outlined in the sales contract.

For customers to whom credit terms are extended, the Group assesses a number of factors to determine whether collection from the customers is probable, including past transaction history with these customers and their credit-worthiness. All credit extended to customers is pre-approved by management. If the Group determines that collection is not reasonably assured, it defers the recognition of revenue until collection becomes reasonably assured, which is generally upon receipt of payment.

(ii) Revenue recognition for solar cells processing

The Group provides solar cell processing service to customers with their own wafer supplies. Under certain of these solar cell processing service arrangements, the Group purchases raw materials from a customer and agrees to sell a specified quantity of solar cells produced from such materials back to the same customer. The Group records revenue from these processing transactions on a net basis, recording revenue based on the amount received for solar cells sold less the amount paid for the raw materials purchased from the customer. The revenue recognized is recorded as solar cell processing revenue and the production costs incurred related to providing the processing services are recorded as solar cell processing costs within cost of revenue.

p)Cost of revenue

Cost of revenue includes production and indirect costs, as well as shipping (freight in) and handling costs for products sold, provision for inventories and capacity underutilization charges.

q) Share based compensation

In accordance with SFAS 123(R), the Group measures the cost of employee services received in exchange for share-based compensation at the grant date fair value of the award.

The Group recognizes the share-based compensation costs, net of a forfeiture rate, on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period for each separately vesting portion of the award as if the award was, in-substance, multiple awards. In December 2007, the Securities & Exchange Commission ("SEC") issued Staff Accounting Bulletin ("SAB") No. 110 ("SAB 110") relating to SFAS 123R, which was an amendment of the previously issued SAB 107. The Group has applied the provisions of SAB 110 in its adoption of SFAS 123R.

SFAS 123R requires forfeitures to be estimated at the time of grant and revised in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. For the stock options granted in the year ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008 the Group determined the forfeiture rate to be 0%.

Cost of goods acquired or services received from non-employees is measured based on the fair value of the awards issued on the measurement date as defined in EITF No. 96-18. Awards granted to non-employees are remeasured at each reporting date using the fair value as at each period end. Changes in fair values between the interim reporting dates are attributed consistent with the method used in recognizing the original share -based compensation costs.

r)Research and development

Research and development costs are expensed when incurred.

JA SOLAR HOLDINGS CO., LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

s) Advertising expenses

Advertising expenses are charged to the consolidated statement of operations in the period incurred. Advertising expenses are not significant during any of the periods covered by these consolidated financial statements..

t) Warranty cost

Solar modules produced by the Group are typically sold with either a two-year or five-year guarantee for defects in materials and workmanship and a 10-year and 25-year warranty against declines of more than 10.0% and 20.0%, respectively, of the initial minimum power generation capacity at the time of delivery. The Group therefore maintains warranty reserves (recorded as accrued warranty costs) to cover potential liabilities that could arise from these guarantees and warranties. The potential liability is generally in the form of product replacement or repair. The Group accrues 1.0% of its net revenues as warranty costs at the time revenues are recognized and include that amount in its cost of revenues. Due to zero warranty claims to date, the Group accrues the estimated costs of warranties based primarily on an assessment of its competitors' accrual history. Through its relationships with, and its management's experience working at, other solar power companies and on the basis of publicly available information regarding other solar power companies' accrued warranty costs, the Group believes that accruing 1.0% of its net revenues attributable to module sales as warranty costs is within the range of industry practice and is consistent with industry-standard accelerated testing, which assists the Group in estimating the long-term reliability of solar modules, estimates of failure rates from our quality review and other assumptions that it believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. However, although the Group conducts quality testing and inspection of its solar module products, these products have not been and cannot be tested in an environment simulating the up to 25-year warranty periods. The Group has not experienced any material warranty claims to date in connection with declines of the power generation capacity of its solar modules. Actual warranty costs are accumulated and charged against the accrued warranty liability. To the extent that the actual warranty costs differ from the estimates, the Group will prospectively revise its accrual rate.

u) Start-up costs

In accordance with Statement of Position No. 98-5, Reporting on the Costs of Start-up Activities, the Group expensed all costs incurred in connection with start-up activities.

v) Foreign currencies translation

The functional and reporting currency of the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries is Renminbi ("RMB"). Transactions denominated in other currencies are translated into RMB at the rates of exchange prevailing when the transactions occur. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in other currencies are translated into RMB at rates of exchange in effect at the balance sheet dates. All exchanges gains and losses are included in the Consolidated Statements of Operations as a separate line item after income from operations.

For our subsidiaries whose functional currency is not the RMB, the asset and liability accounts are translated into our reporting currency using exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet dates and income and expense items are translated using average exchange rates.

w)Segment reporting

The Group has adopted SFAS No. 131, Disclosures about Segment of an Enterprise and Related Information, for its segment reporting. The Group operates and manages its business as a single segment.

JA SOLAR HOLDINGS CO., LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

x) Net income/ (loss) per share

In accordance with SFAS No. 128, "Computation of Earnings Per Share" ("SFAS No. 128") and EITF No. 03-6, "Participating Securities and the Two-Class Method under FASB Statement No. 128" ("EITF No. 03-6"), basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year using the two-class method. Under the two class method, net income is allocated between ordinary shares and other participating securities based on their respective participating rights. The Group's Series A redeemable convertible preferred shares are participating securities. Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing net income attributable to ordinary shareholders as adjusted for the effect of dilutive ordinary equivalent shares, if any, by the weighted average number of ordinary and dilutive ordinary equivalent shares outstanding during the year. Ordinary equivalent shares consist of the ordinary shares issuable upon the conversion of the convertible preferred shares (using the if-converted method) and ordinary shares issuable upon the exercise of outstanding share options (using the treasury stock method).

y)Comprehensive Income

The Group has adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 130, Reporting Comprehensive Income ("SFAS No. 130"). SFAS No. 130 establishes standards for the reporting and display of comprehensive income, its components and accumulated balances. SFAS No. 130 defines comprehensive income (loss) to include all changes in equity, including adjustments to minimum pension liabilities, accumulated foreign currency translation, and unrealized gains or losses on available-for-sale marketable securities, except those resulting from investments by owners and distributions to owners.

z) Reclassifications

Certain prior period balances have been reclassified to conform to the current period presentation in the Company's Consolidated Financial Statements and the accompanying notes. Such reclassification had no effect on previously reported results of operations or retained earnings (deficit).

aa) Recent accounting pronouncements

In February 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position ("FSP") No. FAS 157-2 "Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 157" ("FSP 157-2"). FSP 157-2 deferred the effective date of SFAS No. 157 "Fair Value Measurements" ("SFAS No. 157") for nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities, except for items that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on a recurring basis, until fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2008. With the exception of investments and foreign currency derivatives held, this deferral makes SFAS No. 157 effective for the Company beginning in the first quarter of fiscal 2009. The Company is currently evaluating the potential impact, if any, of the adoption of SFAS No. 157 on measurement of fair value of its nonfinancial assets, including goodwill, and nonfinancial liabilities.

In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 161 "Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities — an amendment of SFAS No. 133" ("SFAS No. 161"), which expands the disclosure requirements for derivative instruments and hedging activities. SFAS No. 161 specifically requires entities to provide enhanced disclosures addressing the following: (a) how and why an entity uses derivative instruments; (b) how derivative instruments and related hedged items are accounted for under SFAS No. 133 "Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities" ("SFAS

No. 133") and its related interpretations; and (c) how derivative instruments and related hedged items affect an entity's financial position, financial performance, and cash flows. SFAS No. 161 is effective for fiscal years and interim periods beginning after November 15, 2008. The Company does not believe SFAS No. 161 will have a material effect on our financial statements and related disclosures.

JA SOLAR HOLDINGS CO., LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

In April 2008, the FASB issued FSP SFAS No. 142-3 "Determination of Useful Life of Intangible Assets" ("FSP 142-3"), which amends the factors that should be considered in developing the renewal or extension assumptions used to determine the useful life of a recognized intangible asset under SFAS No. 142. FSP 142-3 also requires expanded disclosure related to the determination of intangible asset useful lives. FSP 142-3 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008. The Company does not believe FSP 142-3 will have a material effect on our financial statements and related disclosures.

In May 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 162 "The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles" ("SFAS No. 162"), which identifies the sources of accounting principles to be used in the preparation of financial statements of nongovernmental entities that are presented in conformity with U.S. GAAP. This Statement is effective 60 days following the SEC's approval of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board amendments to AU Section 411 "The Meaning of Present Fairly in Conformity with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles." The Company currently adheres to the hierarchy of U.S. GAAP as presented in SFAS No. 162 and the adoption of SFAS No. 162 during the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2008 did not have a material impact on its financial position, results of operations and disclosures.

In May 2008, the FASB issued FSP APB 14-1 "Accounting for Convertible Debt Instruments That May Be Settled in Cash upon Conversion (Including Partial Cash Settlement)" ("FSP APB 14-1"), which clarifies the accounting for convertible debt instruments that may be settled in cash upon conversion, including partial cash settlement. FSP APB 14-1 significantly impacts the accounting for instruments commonly referred to as Instruments B, Instruments C and Instruments X from EITF Issue No. 90-19 "Convertible Bonds with Issuer Option to Settle for Cash upon Conversion" ("EITF 90-19"), and any other convertible debt instruments that allow settlement in any combination of cash and shares at the issuer's option. The new guidance requires the issuer to separately account for the liability and equity components of the instrument in a manner that reflects interest expense equal to the issuer's non-convertible debt borrowing rate. FSP APB 14-1 is effective for fiscal years and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2008, and retrospective application will be required for all periods presented. The Company does not believe FSP APB 14-1will have a material effect on our financial statements and related disclosures.

In June 2008, the FASB issued FSP EITF 03-6-1 "Determining Whether Instruments Granted in Share-Based Payment Transactions Are Participating Securities" ("FSP EITF 03-6-1"), which clarified that all outstanding unvested share-based payment awards that contain rights to nonforteitable dividends participate in undistributed earnings with common shareholders. Awards of this nature are considered participating securities and the two-class method of computing basic and diluted earnings per share must be applied. FSP EITF 03-6-1 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008. The Company does not believe FSP EITF 03-6-1 will have a material effect on our financial statements and related disclosures.

In April 2009, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. 115-2 and 124-2, "Recognition and Presentation of Other-Than-Temporary Impairments" ("FSP FAS 115-2 and FAS 124-2"). The FSP amends the other-than-temporary impairment guidance in U.S. GAAP for debt securities to make the guidance more operational and to improve the presentation and disclosure of other-than-temporary impairments on debt and equity securities in the financial statements. This FSP does not amend existing recognition and measurement guidance related to other-than-temporary impairments of equity securities. The FSP shall be effective for interim and annual reporting periods ending after June 15, 2009, with early adoption permitted for periods ending after March 15, 2009. Earlier adoption for periods ending before March 15, 2009, is not permitted. The Company does not believe FSP FAS 115-2 and FAS 124-2 will have a material effect on our financial statements and related disclosures.

JA SOLAR HOLDINGS CO., LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

3. Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash

Cash and cash equivalents consisted of the following:

	As of December	As of
	31,	December 31,
	2007(1)	2008
	RMB	RMB
Cash	705,971	1,470,961
Cash equivalents	30,004	71,823
Total cash and cash equivalents	735,975	1,542,784
Destricted Cook	400.050	22.061

Restricted Cash 409,058 33,061

(1) Revision to 2007: The Company revised the 2007 cash and cash equivalent balance because of a contractual requirement to maintain a compensating balance on deposit with a bank to support letters of credit that were outstanding at December 31, 2007. Additionally, the Company revised the 2007 cashflow to include the restricted cash as an investing activity. As a result, net cash used in investing activities increased from RMB 1,232,611 to RMB 1,641,669. Such revision had no effect on previously reported results of operations or retained earnings (deficit).

4. Accounts Receivables

As of December 31, 2007 and 2008, the allowance for doubtful accounts recorded by the Group were nil and RMB 24,708 respectively.

5. Short term investments

Trading securities

During the year, the Company acquired an investment in a currency fund at a cost of RMB 343,140. The fair value of this investment at December 31, 2008 was RMB 353,588. The unrealized gain of RMB 10,448 on this investment was recorded in investment income. The Group has liquidated this investment subsequent to December 31, 2008.

Available-for-sale securities

Available-for-sale securities consisted of the following:

As of December 31, 2007:

	Unrealized	Unrealized	Estimated fair
Initial Cost	gains	losses	value
RMB	RMB	RMB	RMB

Edgar Filing: JA Solar Holdings Co., Ltd. - Form 20-F

Currency accrual bills	517,881	-	(10,255)	507,626
Municipal bonds	86,933	-	(1,286)	85,647
Corporate bonds	12,048	-	(178)	11,870
Equity investments	193,900	4,078	-	197,978
Total	810,762	4,078	(11,719)	803,121

As of December 31, 2008:

	Initial Cost RMB	Unrealized gains RMB	Unrealized losses RMB	Impairment losses RMB	Estimated fair value RMB
HARP index investment	68,649	-	(372)	-	68,277
Commodity related investment	686,320	-	-	(686,320)	-
Total	754,969	-	(372)	(686,320)	68,277

Estimated fair values were determined for each individual security in the investment portfolio. The changes in value of these investments are related to indexes. See Note 2 for the Group's policy on available-for sale securities. Realized gains on short-term investments were immaterial and RMB 1,316 for the year ended December 31, 2007 and 2008, respectively. Realized losses on short-term investments were immaterial and RMB 40,358 for year ended December 31, 2007 and 2008, respectively.

All the securities have contractual maturities of less than one year. The Group has liquidated the HARP index investment subsequent to December 31, 2008.

The Company has approximately US\$100,000 worth of USD 3-Month LCMNER Index-Linked Note (the "Note"), issued by Lehman Brothers Treasury Co. B.V. ("Lehman Treasury") incorporated in the Netherlands, guaranteed by Lehman. Lehman Europe is the dealer of the Note. This note is linked to an index of Lehman Brothers Commodity Alpha Trading Strategies I Excess Return (LCMNER). The maturity date of the Note was October 9th, 2008, with 100% principal protection guranteed by Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc. The Note and the guarantee rank equally with all unsecured obligations of the issuer and guarantor. On September 19, 2008 the Amsterdam District Court granted Lehman Treasury a provisional suspension of payments and subsequently declared Lehman Treasury bankrupt on October 8, 2008. The Note was not repaid by Lehman Treasury and the Company has made a full impairment amounted to RMB 686,320 against it. The Company has filed a claim with the administrators of Lehman Treasury for recovery of the US\$100,000 and is working with lawyers to monitor the status of the bankruptcy. Any portion of its investment that the Company is able to recover in the future will be recorded as Other Income.

JA SOLAR HOLDINGS CO., LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

6. Inventories

Inventories consisted of the following:

	As of	As of
	December 31,	December 31,
	2007	2008
	RMB	RMB
Raw materials	51,490	221,817
Work-in-progress	27,024	16,749
Finished goods	78,820	353,423
Total	157,334	591,989

As of December 31, 2007 and 2008, the provision for inventories recorded by the Group in cost of revenue were nil and RMB 77,980 respectively.

7. Advances to suppliers

In order to better manage our unit costs and to secure adequate and timely supply of polysilicon and silicon wafers during the recent periods of shortages of polysilicon and silicon wafer supplies, the Company entered into a number of multi-year supply agreements from 2006 through 2008 in amounts that were expected to meet our anticipated production needs. As a condition to our receiving the raw materials under those agreements, and in line with industry practice, we were required to, and have made advances to suppliers for all, or a portion, of the total contract price to our suppliers, which are then offset against future purchases. Typically, our supply agreements are subject to price negotiations with our suppliers based on market prices. We have made advances to suppliers where we have committed to purchase minimum quantities under some of our supply agreements.

In the fourth quarter of 2008, the global solar power industry experienced a precipitous decline in demand. During the same period, the global supply of solar products exceeded the global demand due to excess production capacity and the global economic downturn. We expect we will need less raw materials and are currently in discussions with our various suppliers in connection with re-adjusting the price and terms of our existing supply agreements. Advances to suppliers to be offset against future purchases of which the Group expects to take delivery of the inventory after the next twelve months are classified as non-current assets in the Group's consolidated balance sheet as at year end dates.

The Group does not require collateral or other security against its advances to related or third party suppliers. As a result, the Group's claims for such prepayments would rank only as an unsecured claim, which exposes the Group to the credit risks of the suppliers. Also, the Group may not be able to recover all unutilized advances to suppliers if the Group does not purchase the minimum quantities or is unable to negotiate or renegotiate acceptable prepayment quantities, prices and delivery terms with these suppliers.

As of December 31, 2007 and 2008, outstanding prepayments made to individual suppliers in excess of 10% of total prepayments to suppliers, net are as follows:

JA SOLAR HOLDINGS CO., LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

	As of December 31, 2007 RMB	As of December 31, 2008 RMB
Supplier A (third party)	-	952,671
Supplier B (third party)	725,858	640,999
Supplier C (related party)	389,872	431,005
Supplier D (third party)	380,176	244,040

As of December 31, 2007 and 2008, the provision for potential losses against supplier advances recorded by the Group in selling, general and administrative expenses were nil and RMB 18,592 respectively.

8. Other current assets

Other current assets consisted of the following:

	As of	As of
	December 31,	December 31,
	2007	2008
	RMB	RMB
Input value-added tax recoverable	-	116,061
Value-added tax refund from export sales	40,848	61,471
Prepaid expenses	980	6,652
Others	487	6,897
	42,315	191,081

9. Property and equipment, net

Property and equipment consisted of the following:

As of	As of
December 31,	December 31,
2007	2008
RMB	RMB
Buildings 127,135	235,106
Furniture and fixtures 9,596	17,339
Motor vehicles 5,232	7,303
Machinery and equipment 274,669	928,709
Leasehold improvements 12,006	25,694
Total 428,638	1,214,151

Less: accumulated depreciation	(43,084)	(129,931)
Subtotal	385,554	1,084,220
Construction-in-progress	146,458	285,587
Property and equipment, net	-532,012	-1,369,807

As of December 31, 2008, the Group pledged its building with the net book value of RMB 128,482 to secure a short term bank loan of RMB 90,000.

For the years ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008, total interest capitalized was RMB 1,532, RMB 3,735 and RMB 4,630, respectively.

Depreciation expense was RMB 10,070, RMB 32,962 and RMB 86,847 for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively.

JA SOLAR HOLDINGS CO., LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

10.

Intangibles assets, net

Upon the formation of JA Hebei, the Group's operating subsidiary in the PRC, certain shareholders agreed to contribute approximately RMB 50,700 for an 85% interest while the other shareholders agreed to contribute unpatented technical know-how for a 15% interest. The implied fair value of the technical know-how was RMB 9,000.

Intangible assets consisted of the following:

		Accumulated	
	Gross	Amortization	Net
	RMB	RMB	RMB
As of December 31, 2007			
Technical know-how	9,000	(3,000)	6,000
Purchased software	724	(36)	688
	9,724	(3,036)	6,688
As of December 31, 2008			
Technical know-how	9,000	(4,125)	4,875
Purchased software	7,185	(255)	6,930
	16,185	(4,380)	11,805

Amortization expense was RMB 1,133, RMB 1,153 and RMB 1,344 for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively, and is recorded in manufacturing overhead and selling, general and administrative expenses.

Amortization expense of the existing technical know-how and purchased software for each of the next five years will be approximately RMB 1,729.

11. Income taxes

The Company is a tax exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands. Under the laws of Cayman Islands, the Company is not subject to tax on income or capital gain. The Company's subsidiary established in the British Virgin Islands is tax exempt under the laws of British Virgin Islands, and accordingly, is not subject to tax on income or capital gain.

The Group's operating subsidiaries, JA Hebei, JA Fengxian, JA Zhabei and JA Yangzhou, are wholly foreign-owned enterprises incorporated in the PRC and subject to PRC Foreign Enterprise Income Tax ("FEIT") Law. Pursuant to FEIT Law, foreign-invested enterprise ("FIEs") are subject to FEIT at a state tax rate of 30% plus a local tax rate of 3% on PRC taxable income. FIEs are also entitled to be exempted from FEIT for a 2-year period starting from their first profit-making year followed by a 50% reduction of FEIT payable for the subsequent three years, if they fall into the category of production-oriented enterprises with an operational period of more than 10 years in China. Specifically, with respect to income generated by assets acquired by JA Hebei through capital injection made during the fiscal years 2005 and 2006, JA Hebei has received approval from the relevant tax authorities for a two-year enterprise income tax exemption for 2006 and 2007, as well as a 50% enterprise income tax reduction for 2008, 2009 and 2010. With respect to income generated by assets newly acquired by JA Hebei through capital injection made during

2007, JA Hebei has received approval from the relevant tax authorities for a separate two-year enterprise income tax exemption for 2007 and 2008, as well as a 50% enterprise income tax reduction for 2009, 2010 and 2011. No tax holiday was granted with respect to the income generated by assets newly acquired by JA Hebei through capital injection made during 2008. JA Fengxian and JA Yangzhou all have cumulative losses as of December 31, 2008 and their tax holidays will be deemed to commence in 2008 and can be utilized until expiry pursuant to the new CIT law (refer to below). JA Zhabei, which is not a production-oriented enterprise, and JA Lianyungang, which was established in 2008, are not entitled to the tax holiday.

JA SOLAR HOLDINGS CO., LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

On March 16, 2007, the National People's Congress of China enacted a new Corporate Income Tax ("CIT") law, under which FIEs and domestic companies would be subject to CIT at a uniform rate of 25%. The new CIT law has become effective on January 1, 2008. The grandfathering treatments for unutilized tax holiday are provided for certain qualified FIEs. For those FIEs which have already commenced their qualified tax holidays before 2008, they can continue to enjoy the remaining unutilized tax holidays until expiry. For those qualified old FIEs which have not commenced their tax holidays before 2008 due to cumulative losses, their tax holidays will be deemed to commence in 2008 and can be utilized until expiry. Currently, we do not believe the new CIT law will affect the preferential tax treatments (i.e. the unutilized tax holiday) enjoyed by us. The CIT law and the Transition Period Implementation Rules did not clearly address the application of the transitional preferential policies to assets acquired through new capital injection made to a qualified entity after March 16, 2007, the date of enactment of the new CIT law. If future guidance is issued by the State Taxation of Administration to clarify this issue and it is determined that capital injection made after March 16, 2007 does not qualify for a separate "two plus three" tax holiday, the tax rate of JA Hebei as well as the income tax liability of JA Hebei for 2008 could increase.

On February 22, 2008, the Ministry of Finance ("MOF") and the State Administration of Taxation ("SAT") jointly issued Cai Shui [2008] Circular 1 ("Circular 1"). According to Article 4 of Circular 1, distributions of accumulated profits earned by a FIE prior to January 1, 2008 to foreign investor(s) in 2008 or after will be exempt from withholding tax ("WHT") while distribution of the profit earned by an FIE after January 1,2008 to its foreign investor(s) shall be subject to WHT. Since we intend to indefinitely reinvest our earnings to further expand our businesses in mainland China, our foreign invested enterprises do not intend to declare dividends to their immediate foreign holding companies in the foreseeable future. As a result, if any dividends are declared out of the cumulative retained earnings as of December 31, 2007, they should be exempt from WHT. Unrecognized deferred tax liability related to undistributed earnings considered to be indefinitely invested was nil and RMB 69,561 as of December 31, 2007 and 2008, respectively. No dividend was declared out of the cumulative retained earnings as of December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008.

The tax (expense) benefit comprises:

	For the year	For the year	For the year
	ended	ended	ended
	December 31,	December 31,	December 31,
	2006	2007	2008
Current Tax	-	-	(46,859)
Deferred Tax	-	5,569	22,977
	-	5,569	(23,882)

Components of deferred tax assets consisted of the following:

	As of	As of
	December 31,	December 31,
	2007	2008
Deferred tax assets:	RMB	RMB
Temporary differences:		
Pre-operating expenses	2,462	5,508
Amortization of intangible assets	98	300
Accrued warranty cost	232	1,296

Edgar Filing: JA Solar Holdings Co., Ltd. - Form 20-F

Accrued expenses	1,146	892
Net loss carried forward	406	3,997
Depreciation of property and equipment	4,189	11,465
Inventory provision and idle capacity charges	-	11,218
Impairment provision for doubtful debtors	-	6,177
Impairment provision for prepayments	-	2,324
Capitalized interest	(836)	(1,214)
Deferred tax assets	7,697	41,963
Less: valuation allowance	(2,128)	(13,417)
Deferred tax assets-net	5,569	28,546

Deferred tax assets are analyzed as:

JA SOLAR HOLDINGS CO., LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

Current	1,282	14,269
Non-Current	5,123	15,491
	6,405	29,760
Deferred tax liability are analyzed as:		
Current	68	123
Non-Current	768	1,091
	836	1,214
	5,569	28,546

The Group has made some portion of valuation allowance against its net deferred tax assets. The Group evaluates a variety of factors in determining the amount of the valuation allowance, including that the Group exited the development stage, its limited earnings history, the tax holiday period, the existence of taxable temporary differences, and near-term earnings expectations. Future reversal of the valuation allowance will be recognized either when the benefit is realized or when it has been determined that it is more likely than not that the benefit will be realized through future earnings.

Reconciliation between the provision for income tax computed by applying the statutory FEIT and the Group's effective tax rate:

	For the year ended December 31, 2006	For the year ended December 31, 2007	For the year ended December 31, 2008
PRC enterprise income tax	33%	33%	25%
Effect of permanent differences:			
Share based compensation	5%	6%	5.6%
	(20)	(20)	
Effect of tax holiday	(38)%	(39)%	` ,
Effect of tax rate change	(1)%	(1.5)%	3.5%
Valuation allowance	1%	0.4%	1.9%
	-	(1.1)%	4.7%

The aggregate amount and per share effect of the tax holiday are as follows:

	For the year	For the year	For the year
	ended	ended	ended
	December 31,	December 31,	December 31,
	2006	2007	2008
The aggregate dollar effect	51,705	193,055	209,844
Per share effect-basic	0.65	1.44	1.34
Per share effect-diluted	0.64	1.41	1.24

The Group adopted the provisions of FASB Interpretation No. 48 ("FIN 48"), accounting for uncertainty in income taxes. The Group has performed assessment on its tax positions related to FIN 48, and concluded that the adoption of FIN 48 did not have any material impact on the Group's financial position as of December 31, 2008.

12. Prepayment for land use rights

The prepayment for land use rights of the Group represented prepaid operating lease payments in obtaining land use rights in the PRC for a period of 50 years.

JA SOLAR HOLDINGS CO., LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

	As of December 31,	As of December 31,
	2007	2008
	RMB	RMB
Cost	-	45,853
Less: accumulated amortization	-	(537)
Net book value	-	45,316
Current portion of prepayment for land use rights (recorded in other current assets)	-	917
Non-current portion of prepayment for land use rights	-	44,399

13. Bank borrowings

Lender	Date of Borrowing	Due Date	Principal Amount (in RMB)	Interest rate	Interest Payment Periods
As of December 31, 2007 Bank of China	January 2007	January 2008	50,000	6.12%	
Agriculture Bank of China	November 2007	November 2008	150,000	6.78%	Monthly
Total bank borrowings		2	200,000		
As of December 31, 2008					
Shanghai Rural commercial Bank	December 2008	December 2009	90,000	5.58%	Quarterly
Bank of China	December 2008	December 2009	150,000	5.58%	Quarterly
Agriculture Bank of China	December 2008	December 2009	100,000	5.31%	_
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China	December 2008	June 2009	40,000	5.04%	Monthly
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China	December 2008	June 2009	35,000	4.86%	Monthly
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China	December 2008	December 2009	75,000	5.31%	Monthly
Total bank borrowings			490,000		

The short-term bank borrowings outstanding as of December 31, 2007 and 2008 bore an average interest rate of 6.62% and 5.39% per annum, respectively. These loans are borrowed from various financial institutions. The borrowings have six to twelve months terms and expire at various times throughout the year. The unused lines of credit were RMB 300,000 as of December 31, 2008. These facilities contain no specific renewal terms and require no collateral.

The short-term bank borrowings of RMB 150,000 as of December 31, 2007 were guaranteed by a letter of credit opened with Credit Suisse. In March 2008, the Group repaid the RMB 150,000 short-term loan obtained from Agricultural Bank of China in November 2007 which was guaranteed by a letter of credit opened with Credit Suisse. The total amount of letters of credit opened as of December 31, 2007 was USD 56,000. The Company has cancelled letters of credit in the amounts of USD 24,000 and USD 32,000 in March and April 2008, respectively. For the period the letters of credit were legally outstanding, the Company was required to maintain compensating collateral balances at least equal in value on deposit with Credit Suisse.

The short-term bank borrowings outstanding as of December 31, 2007 and 2008 bore an average interest rate of 6.62% and 5.39% per annum, respectively. These loans are borrowed from various financial institutions. The borrowings have six to twelve months terms and expire at various times throughout the year. The unused lines of credit were RMB 300,000 as of December 31, 2008. These facilities contain no specific renewal terms and require no collateral. The short-term bank borrowings of RMB 150,000 as of December 31, 2007 were guaranteed by a letter of credit opened with Credit Swiss. The short-term bank borrowings of RMB 250,000 as of December 31, 2008 were guaranteed by Jinglong Group, who is the Group's principal silicon wafer supplier and its shareholders are the majority shareholders of the Group. The short-term bank borrowings of RMB 90,000 as of December 31, 2008 were pledged by the building of the Group with the net book value of RMB 128,482.

JA SOLAR HOLDINGS CO., LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

Interest incurred for the year ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008 amounted to RMB 6,587, RMB 10, 330 and RMB 3,082 respectively, of which RMB 1,532, RMB 3,735 and RMB 1,404 was capitalized in the cost of property and equipment.

14. Senior Convertible Notes

On May 13, 2008, the Company entered into an underwriting agreement for the sale by the Company to the public of \$350,000 aggregate principal amount of 4.5% Senior Convertible Notes due 2013 (the "Senior Notes"). The Company granted to the underwriters a 30-day option to purchase up to an additional \$50,000 aggregate principal amount of Senior Notes. On May 19, 2008, the Company completed its public offering of \$400,000 aggregate principal amount of its Senior Notes which includes the underwriter's exercise of their option. Net proceeds to the Company from the offering were approximately RMB 2,709,538. The Company's financing costs associated with the Senior Notes are amortized through interest expense over the life of the Senior Notes from May 2008 to the first put date, or May 2013 using the effective interest rate method. The amount amortized to interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2008 was RMB 4,900.

The Senior Notes bear interest at the rate of 4.5% per year, payable semi-annually in arrears on May 15 and November 15 of each year, beginning on November 15, 2008. The Senior Notes will mature on May 15, 2013 unless previously repurchased by the Company or converted in accordance with their terms prior to such date. The Senior Notes will not be redeemable at the Company's option prior to the stated maturity date. If certain fundamental changes occur at any time prior to maturity, holders of the Senior Notes may require the Company to repurchase their Senior Notes in whole or in part for cash equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Senior Notes to be repurchased, plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the date of repurchase. The interest expense recognized for interest payable to the Senior Notes holders was RMB 75,381 for the year ended December 31, 2008.

Each \$1,000 principal amount of the Senior Notes will initially be convertible into 32.8138 American Depository Shares, or ADSs, par value \$.0001 per share at a conversion price of \$30.475, subject to adjustment. The Senior Notes are convertible at maturity and upon certain other events, including when the trading price of the Company's ADS exceeds 130% of the then effective conversion price for at least 20 trading days during the period of the 30 consecutive trading days ending on the last trading day of the previous fiscal quarter.

The Company used the proceeds from the issuance of the convertible notes for the purchase and construction of manufacturing equipment and facilities, the purchase and prepayment of raw materials, working capital and other general corporate purposes.

The Company's functional currency is different from the denomination of the Senior Notes and the Company's early redemption option is contingent upon its ADS price. Therefore, in accordance with SFAS No. 133, "Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities", the Company accounted for the conversion feature, early redemption option and conversion rate adjustment feature (together, "Embedded Derivatives") as a freestanding instrument separately in the balance sheet. The Notes were recorded with a discount equal to the value of the Embedded Derivatives at the transaction date and will be accreted to the redemption value of the Notes over the life of the Notes. The change in fair value of the Embedded Derivatives of RMB 785,608 was recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2008. The interest expense recognized for accretion to the redemption value of the Senior Notes was RMB 81,808 for the year ended December 31, 2008.

During the period of November 25 through December 16, 2008, the Company bought back US\$78,526 (par value) of the Notes at prices ranging from 28.19% to 40.46%. The gain from convertible notes buyback was RMB 203,514. As of December 31, 2008, the notional outstanding amount of the Senior Notes was RMB 2,197,146 (US\$321,474). The estimated fair value of the Senior Notes as of December 31, 2008 was RMB 900,828 (US\$131,804).

Capped Call

Concurrent with our issuance of the Senior Notes on May 12, 2008, we entered into capped call option transactions with two financial institutions (the "counterparties") that are affiliates of two of the underwriters of the Senior Notes. The capped call transactions was designed to reduce the dilution that would otherwise occur as a result of new common stock issuances upon conversion of the Senior Notes, and effectively increase the conversion price of the Senior Notes for the Company to \$37.375 per ADS from the actual conversion price to the Senior Notes holders of \$30.475 per ADS. The total premium paid by the Company for the capped call transactions was RMB 226,087.

JA SOLAR HOLDINGS CO., LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

The Company's functional currency is different from the denomination of the capped call. Therefore, in accordance with SFAS No. 133, "Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities", the Company accounted for the capped call transactions as freestanding derivative assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. The derivative is marked to market each reporting period utilizing the Black-Scholes option pricing model.

On September 15, 2008 and October 3, 2008, respectively, one of the underwriters and its affiliate filed for protection under Chapter 11 of the federal Bankruptcy Code, an event of default under the agreement. As a result of the default, the counterparty is not expected to perform its obligations if such obligations were to be triggered. The Company has written down the fair value of the derivative in relation to this counterparty to nil given the counterparty is in bankruptcy and lacks the ability and intent to settle the contract as of period end. The fair value of the derivative asset purchased from the other counterparty was RMB 4,485 as of December 31, 2008. The loss recorded in the income statement for the change in fair value of this derivative was RMB 221,602 for the year ended December 31, 2008.

ADS Lending Agreement

Concurrent with the offering and sale of the Senior Notes on May 12, 2008, the Company entered into a share lending agreement (the "ADS Lending Agreement") with certain financial institutions (the "ADS Borrower (s)"), pursuant to which the Company loaned 13,125,520 shares of its common stock (the "Borrowed Shares") to the ADS Borrowers. The ADS Borrowers will receive all of the proceeds from the sale of the borrowed ADSs. We will not receive any proceeds from the sale of the borrowed ADSs pursuant to the ADS Lending Agreement, but we will receive from the ADS Borrowers a nominal lending fee of \$0.0001 per ADS for each ADS that we loan pursuant to the ADS Lending Agreements. The nominal lending fee is reported as increases to additional paid in capital. These borrowed shares must be returned to us no later than May 15, 2013, or sooner if certain conditions are met.

These shares were considered issued and outstanding for corporate law purposes at the time they were loaned; however, at the time of the loan they were not considered outstanding for the purpose of computing and reporting earnings per share because these shares were to be returned to the Company no later than May 15, 2013, the maturity date of the Senior Notes. On September 15, 2008, one of the ADS borrowers, who loaned 6,562,760 shares of our common stock, filed for protection under Chapter 11 of the federal Bankruptcy Code and was placed into administration proceeding in the United Kingdom.

As a result of the bankruptcy filing and the administration proceeding, the ADS Lending Agreement automatically terminated and the ADS Borrower was contractually required to return the shares to the Company. The Company has since demanded the immediate return of all outstanding borrowed shares, however, the shares have not yet been returned. Also under the agreement, the ADS borrower was suppose to transfer collateral to an affiliate equal to the fair value of the shares loaned after it received a credit downgrade on September 15, 2008. Such collateral was to be held in a collateral account for the Company. No collateral transfer was made and the Company is not aware of any collateral account existing. While the Company believes it is exercising all of its legal remedies, it has included these shares in its per share calculation on a weighted average basis due to the uncertainty regarding the recovery of the borrowed shares.

JA SOLAR HOLDINGS CO., LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

15. Other payables to third parties

Other payables consisted of the following:

	As of	As of
	December 31,	December 31,
	2007	2008
	RMB	RMB
Purchases of property and equipment	8,129	127,086
Professional service fees	7,851	1,599
Miscellaneous tax payables	507	1,485
Others	355	2,624
Total other payables	16,842	132,794

16. Accrued expenses

Accrued expenses consisted of the following:

	As of	As of
	December 31,	December 31,
	2007	2008
	RMB	RMB
Outsource production fee	7,869	4,824
Professional service fees	6,335	13,286
Interest expenses	404	688
Traveling expenses	264	164
Rental	118	673
Others	290	3,131
Total accrued expenses	15,280	22,766

17. Accrued warranty cost

The movement of Group's accrued warranty costs for solar module is summarized below:

	As of	As of
	December 31,	December 31,
	2007	2008
	RMB	RMB
Beginning balance	-	929
Warranty provision	929	4,256
Warranty cost incurred	-	-
Ending balance	929	5,185

18. Share-based compensation

As of December 31, 2008, the Company had one share-based compensation plan, which is described below.

On August 18, 2006, the shareholders of the Company approved the 2006 Stock Incentive Plan (the "Plan"), which permits the grant of share options and shares to its eligible recipients for up to 8,656,000 ordinary shares plus a number of ordinary shares equal to 10% of any additional share capital of the Company issued following the effective date of the Plan. The Group believes that such awards better align the interests of its employees with those of its shareholders.

a) Options

During the year ended December 31, 2008, the Company granted 6,112,000 ordinary share options to certain of its directors and employees 20,000 ordinary share options to a consultant. The exercise price of these options varies from \$2.38 to \$21.31 per option.

JA SOLAR HOLDINGS CO., LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

All the batches of options granted in year 2008 were granted with the exercise price equal to the market price of the equity stock at the date of grant and have 10-year contractual terms. The Company has various vesting schedules but generally in the range of 2 to 4 years.

Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted the fair value recognition provision of SFAS 123R. SFAS 123R requires that compensation cost relating to share-based payment transactions be recognized in the Group's statement of operations over the service period (generally the vesting period). That cost is measured based upon the fair value of the option issued as calculated under the Black Scholes option pricing model. The Group's share-based compensation cost is measured at the grant date, based on the fair value of the award, and is recognized as an expense in correlation with the vesting percentages. Options granted to non-employees of the Group are remeasured each period end in accordance with EITF No. 96-18.

As a result of the adoption of SFAS 123(R) and EITF No. 96-18, the Group recognized a pre-tax charge of RMB 18,179, RMB 62,828 and RMB 93,432 (included in selling, general, and administrative expenses and manufacturing overhead, of which nil, RMB 2,850 and RMB 4,694 was capitalized in the cost of inventory as of December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively), for the year ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008 associated with the expensing of stock options, respectively.

The weighted-average grant-date fair value of options granted during the year ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008 were US\$1.662, US\$5.955 and US\$5.149, respectively. The compensation that has been charged against income for the plan, net of the amounts reversed for options forgeited, was RMB 18,179, RMB 59,978 and RMB 88,738 for the year ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively. The amounts reserved associated with options forfeited were nil, 4,799 and 59,586 for the year ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008 respectively. The total income tax benefit recognized in the income statement for share-based compensation arrangements was nil for the periods.

As of December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008, there was RMB 5,488, RMB 240,543 and RMB 447,602 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested share-based employees arrangements granted under the Plan, respectively. The cost is expected to be recognized over a remaining weighted-average period of 15 months.

The Company expects to issue new shares to satisfy share option exercises.

These options will become fully vested upon a change in control or on any date at the discretion of the plan administrator. The fair value of ordinary shares granted prior to IPO was determined retrospectively to the time at grant and at each reporting date. The fair value of option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes-Merton model with the following assumptions for options granted to employees and non-employees during the year ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008 respectively:

	For the year	For the year	For the year
	ended	ended	ended
	December 31,	December 31,	December 31,
	2006	2007	2008
Average risk-free rate	4.77-4.91%	4.06-4.58%	1.99-3.82%
Weighted average expected option life	4.34-5.2 years	6.25 years	5.75-6.33 years
Volatility rate	55-65%	55%	55-75%

Dividend - - -

The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield for a term consistent with the expected life of (1) the awards in effect at the time of grant.

The Company ultilizes the simplified method under the provision of Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 110, which is
(2) an amendment of SAB 107 for estimating expected term. The expected life of stock options granted under the
Plan is based on the average between the vesting period and the contractual term for each grant, taking into
account assumptions used by comparable companies.

The Company has no history or expectation of paying dividends on its ordinary shares.

(3)

JA SOLAR HOLDINGS CO., LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

Because of the limited stock price history, the Company does not believe that historical volatility would be
(4) representative of the expected volatility for its equity awards. Accordingly, the Company has chosen to use the historical volatility and implied volatility of a basket of comparable publicly-traded companies for a period equal to the expected term preceding the grant date.

The following table summarizes information with respect to share options outstanding on December 31, 2008:

			Weighted	
		Weighted	Average	
		Average	Remaining	Intrinsic
		Exercise	Contractual	Value (US\$,
	Shares	Price (US\$)	Life	in thousands)
Outstanding at January 1, 2006	-	-	-	-
Granted	1,728,000	2.147	-	-
Outstanding at December 31, 2006	1,728,000	2.147	-	-
Granted	6,909,000	10.37	-	-
Forfeited	(172,000)	3.59	-	-
Exercised	(940,000)	2.147	-	-
Outstanding at December 31, 2007	7,525,000	9.67	9.48	102,351
Granted	6,132,000	8.18	-	-
Forfeited	(3,309,000)	11.22	-	-
Exercised	(798,000)	3.39	-	-
Outstanding at December 31, 2008	9,550,000	8.7	9.26	(41,378)
Exercisable at December 31, 2008	877,750	9.33	8.43	(4,351)

The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2006, 2007, and 2008, was nil, \$15,406 and \$7,948 respectively.

b) Restricted share units ("RSU")

RSUs are commitments made to issue ordinary shares at the time that each underlying RSU vests. The RSUs are not legally issued ordinary shares nor do they comprise outstanding ordinary shares and therefore, do not give their holders voting or dividend rights.

On September 10, 2007, the Company granted 450,000 restricted share units to a certain employee, which was vested in 6 months. On September 17, 2007, the Company granted 60,000 restricted share units to certain employees, of which half will vest in a year and the remaining half will vest in two years.

Upon vesting, the shares will not be issued by the Company. Instead, the shares will be issued by Improve Forever Investments Limited, a shareholder and a company controlled by Mr. Huaijin Yang, our chief executive officer.

No restricted share units were granted for the year ended December 31, 2008. The following table summarizes information with respect to RSUs outstanding on December 31, 2008:

Shares

		Weighted
		Average Grant
		Date Fair
		Value (US\$)
Outstanding at December 31, 2006	-	-
Granted	510,000	13.28
Vested	-	-
Forfeited	-	-
Nonvested at December 31, 2007	510,000	13.28
Granted	-	-
Vested	495,000	13.31
Forfeited	-	-
Nonvested at December 31, 2008	15,000	12.41
F-30		

JA SOLAR HOLDINGS CO., LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

For RSUs, the Company recognized a pre-tax charge of nil, RMB 28,809 and RMB 19,760 (included in selling, general, and administrative expenses) for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively. Unrecognized compensation expense related to the RSUs for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008 were nil, RMB 21,206 and RMB 905. The cost is expected to be recognized over a remaining period of 9 months. The fair value of shares vested during the year ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008 was nil, nil and RMB 43,057, respectively.

- 19. Mainland China contribution plan and profit appropriation
- a) China contribution plan

Full-time employees of the Group in the PRC participate in a government-mandated multi-employer defined contribution plan pursuant to which certain pension benefits, medical care, unemployment insurance, employee housing fund and other welfare benefits are provided to employees. PRC labor regulations require the Group to accrue for these benefits based on certain percentage of the employees' salaries. The total contribution for such employee benefits was RMB 1,310, RMB 5,849 and RMB 16,203 for the year ended December, 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively.

b) Statutory reserves

Pursuant to laws applicable to entities incorporated in the PRC, the subsidiaries in the PRC should make appropriations from after-tax profit to non-distributable reserve funds. These reserve funds include the following: (i) a general reserve, (ii) an enterprise expansion fund and (iii) a staff bonus and welfare fund. The subsidiaries in the PRC are required to transfer at least 10% of their profit after taxation (as determined under accounting principles generally accepted in the PRC at each year-end) to the general reserve fund until the reserve balance reaches 50% of their respective registered capital. The appropriations to other funds are at the PRC subsidiaries' discretion. These reserve funds can only be used for specific purposes of enterprises expansion, staff bonus, and welfare and not distributable as cash dividends.

JA Hebei made RMB 14,588, RMB 57,031 and RMB 97,957 for the general Statutory Reserves in the year ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively.

c)Restricted capital

The following paid-in-capital amounts are unavailable for distribution as nominal dividends to the Company:

Legal Entity	Paid-in Capital restricted
JingAo Solar Co., Ltd (Note 1)	RMB 1,000,000
Shanghai JA Solar Technology Co., Ltd	US\$ 7,400
Shanghai JA Solar PV Technology Co., Ltd	US\$ 20,000
JA Solar Technology Yangzhou Co., Ltd	US\$ 132,000
Jing Hai Yang Semiconductor Materials (Donghai) Co., Ltd	US\$ 20,000

20. Net income/ (loss) per share

Basic and diluted net income/(loss) per share for the year ended December 31, 2006,2007 and 2008 are calculated as follows:

JA SOLAR HOLDINGS CO., LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

	December 31, 2006	December 31, 2007	December 31, 2008
Numerator			
Net income	128,414	400,368	479,066
Preferred shares accretion Preferred shares beneficial conversion	(1,603)	(515)	-
charge	(34,732)	-	-
Allocation of net income to participating preference shareholders	(5,683)	(1,648)	_
Numerator for basic earnings per share	86,396	398,205	479,066
Dilutive effect of: Series A preferred shares**	-	-	_
Change in fair value of embedded			
derivatives underlying convertible notes	-	-	(785,608)
Gain on buyback of convertible notes Foreign exchange gain on convertible	-	-	(203,514)
notes	-	-	(39,115)
Accretion of non-cash interest charge on			01.000
convertible notes Amortization of deferred issuance cost	-	-	81,808
in relation to convertible notes	-	-	4,900
Interest expense of convertible notes	-	-	72,137
Numerator for diluted earnings (loss) per	0.5.40.5		(200.200)
share	86,396	398,205	(390,326)
Denominator:			
Denominator for basic earnings per			
share - weighted average ordinary shares outstanding*	80,000,000	134,525,226	156,380,060
Dilutive effect of Series A preferred	80,000,000	134,323,220	130,380,000
shares**	-	-	-
Dilutive effect of share options	166,178	2,196,546	1,347,053
Dilutive effect of convertible notes	-	-	11,058,130
Denominator for diluted earnings per share	80,166,178	136,721,772	168,785,243
Simic	00,100,170	130,721,772	100,705,245
Basic earnings per share	1.08	2.96	3.06
Diluted earnings (loss) per share	1.08	2.93	(2.31)

Net income for the period has been allocated to the common share and preference share based on their respective rights to share in dividends.

21. Related party transactions

a) Amounts due to related parties consisted of the following:

	As of	As of
	December 31,	December 31,
	2007	2008
	RMB	RMB
Payables to optionees	112,397	-
Payables to Ningjin Sun New Energy Co., Ltd.	-	6,000
Others	1,493	3,407
Total amounts due to related parties	113,890	9,407
b) Amounts due from related parties consisted of the following:		
,		

	As of	As of
	December 31,	December 31,
	2007	2008
	RMB	RMB
Receivables from Ningjin Sun New Energy Co., Ltd.	24,731	23,009
Advances to the Jinglong Group-short term	389,872	415,950
Advances to the Jinglong Group-long term	-	15,055
Total amounts due from related parties	414,603	454,014

^{* 6,562,760} shares loaned pursuant to the ADS Lending Agreement that were to be returned to us have been included in the per share calculation on a weighted average basis due to the uncertainty regarding the recovery of the borrowed shares (see Note 14).

^{**} These potentially dilutive securities were not include in the calculation of dilutive earnings per share because of there anti-dilutive effect.

JA SOLAR HOLDINGS CO., LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

c) Transactions with the Jinglong Group

Supply

The Jinglong Group is the Group's principal silicon wafer supplier and its shareholders are the majority shareholders of the Group.

On July 1, 2006, the Group entered into a long-term silicon wafer supply contract with the Jinglong Group, which provides for the following:

- A right to purchase silicon wafers from the Jinglong Group on a long-term basis and the Jinglong Group will take all necessary actions to meet the Group's silicon wafer requirements, including securing sufficient raw materials for wafer production. The Group, however, is not committed to any minimum purchase requirements;
- Silicon wafers purchased from the Jinglong Group shall be at the market price that the Group may obtain from third-party suppliers for similar products, with a reasonable commercial discount based on the Group's long-term demand and the payment arrangement;
- At the Group's request, the Jinglong Group shall use its best efforts in securing additional procurement of silicon wafers, including outsourcing the production to other silicon wafer producers;
- The Group is required to provide the Jinglong Group a monthly deposit equal to 30% of the next month's forecasted purchases of the Group; and
- The contract will be effective until December 31, 2010 and will be automatically renewed for three additional years upon expiration.

In August 2007, the Group revised the monthly prepayment terms under the existing contract with Jinglong Group and made a prepayment of RMB 300,000 to Jinglong Group in August 2007 for wafers to be delivered after January 1, 2008. Jinglong Group will credit from future invoices a portion of the price of each wafer purchased against the prepayment for the wafers deliver to us after January 1, 2008.

On September 24, 2008, the Group entered into a long-term silicon wafer supply contract with the Solar Silicon Valley Electronic Science and Technology Co., Ltd ("Silicon Valley"), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Jinglong Group. Pursuant to the contract, the Group made a prepayment of RMB 200,000 to Silicon Valley in September 2008 for wafers to be delivered in 2009. Silicon Valley will credit from future invoices a portion of the price of each wafer purchased against the prepayment for the wafers deliver to us in 2009.

Also in February 2009, the Group revised the terms under the original July 2006 contract with Jinglong Group and agreed a delivery schedule for wafers to be purchased in 2009. The unutilized prepayment from the RMB 300,000 prepayment previously made in August 2007 would be treated as prepayment for 2009 wafer purchases. Jinglong Group will credit from future invoices a portion of the price of each wafer purchased against the prepayment for wafers delivered in 2009.

Also in February 2009, the Group revised the terms under the original September 2008 contract with Silicon Valley and agreed a delivery schedule for wafers to be purchased in 2009. The unutilized prepayment from the RMB 200,000 prepayment previously made in September 2008 would be treated as prepayment for 2009 wafer purchases. Silicon Valley will credit from future invoices a portion of the price of each wafer purchased against the prepayment for wafers delivered in 2009.

JA SOLAR HOLDINGS CO., LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

The Group reviewed the contracts under FAS 133 and FIN 46 and determined that it doesn't contain an embedded derivative nor would the supplier contract cause the supplier to be a variable interest entity.

The Group purchased RMB 600,061, RMB 1,208,890 and RMB 1,448,150 of silicon wafers from the Jinglong Group for the year ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008 respectively. Outstanding supplier advances to the Jinglong Group for purchases of silicon wafers amounted to RMB 35,632, RMB 389,872 and RMB 431,005 as of December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively, and were recorded in advances to related party supplier in the consolidated balance sheet.

Sales

The Group sold solar cells and provided solar cells processing services to the Jinglong Group amounted to RMB 9,305, RMB 3,682 and RMB 5,168 for the year ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008 respectively.

Outsourcing service

The Group outsourced wafer processing services to Jinglong and Silicon Valley, where they helped the Group to turn polysilicon into wafers. The outsourcing service fee was nil, nil and RMB3,198 for Jinglong, nil, nil and RMB5,412 for Silicon Valley for the year ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008 respectively.

Management fees and leasing

In January 2008, the Group renewed an agreement with the Jinglong Group to pay management fees of RMB 20 per month for facilities maintenance and security services provided by the Jinglong Group. The term of this agreement is from January 2008 to December 2008. Outstanding accrual for the management fees was RMB 20, 40, and 40 as of December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008, and was recorded in amounts due to related parties in the consolidated balance sheet. The Group leases properties from Jinglong Group and a related party under operating lease agreements. The Group incurred rental expenses under operating lease agreements to Jinglong Group in the amounts of RMB 1,374. RMB 2,531 and RMB 8,754 for the year ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008 respectively.

d) Transactions with other related parties

The Group sold solar cells to a related company. Its chairman is also the chairman of the Group. The Group sold solar cells to the related company amounted to RMB 43,494, RMB 58,523 and RMB 506,498 for the year ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively.

The Group provided solar cell processing service to a related company. Its chairman is also the chairman of the Group. The solar cell processing service fee amounted to nil, RMB 304 and RMB 9,521 for the year ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008 respectively.

The Group outsourced wafer processing services to two related companies where they helped the Group to turn polysilicon into wafers. The chairman of the two companies are also the chairman of the Group. The outsourcing service fee was nil, nil and RMB80,314 for the year ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008 respectively

The Group outsourced module processing service to a related company. Its chairman is also the chairman of the Group. The module processing service fee amounted to nil, nil and RMB 28,952 for the year ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008 respectively.

The Group purchased nil, nil and RMB 60,851 of silicon wafers from two related companies for the year ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008 respectively. Their chairman are also the chairman of the Group.

JA SOLAR HOLDINGS CO., LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

The Company has granted a number of stock options under its 2006 stock incentive plan to attract and retain key personnel. The Company has engaged Citigroup Global Markets Inc. ("Citigroup") to provide automated stock option cashless exercise services to its options holders. During 2008, certain option holders exercised their already vested stock options 798,000 shares. As at December 31, 2007 and 2008, the proceeds from the sales of ADSs remain in the Company's Citigroup corporate account amounting to RMB 112,397 and nil, respectively.

The Group acquired certain property, equipment, raw materials and intangible assets from related companies in 2008. The chairman of these companies is also the chairman of our company. The transactions were completed at the aggregate amount of RMB 42,056, which is the fair value of the acquired assets as of the acquisition dates as assessed by an independent valuer.

22. Contingencies and Commitments

a) Contingencies

In December 2008 we learned we were named as defendant in two putative securities class actions filed in the Unite States District Court for the Southern District of New York: Ellenburg v. JA Solar Holdings Co., Ltd., et al., Civil Action No. 08 CV 10475 (filed on December 3, 2008) and Zhang v. JA Solar Holdings Co., Ltd., et al., Civil Action No. 08 CV 11366 (filed on December 31, 2008. The complaints in the two actions, which are substantially identical, also name as defendants Mr. Huaijin Yang, our chief executive officer and Mr. Daniel Lui, our former chief financial officer and current chief strategy officer and allege that the defendants committed securities fraud in violation of Section 10(b) of the United States Securities and Exchange Act. On April 17, 2009, the court consolidated the two cases, appointed a lead plaintiff, and ordered the lead plaintiff to file a consolidated complaint. The lead plaintiff filed the consolidated complaint on June 1, 2009. We intend to file a motion to dismiss the consolidated complaint. Although we cannot predict the outcome of the litigation, we will defend ourselves vigorously in this litigation.

b) Supplier contract

In order to better manage our unit costs and to secure adequate and timely supply of polysilicon and silicon wafers during the recent periods of shortages of polysilicon and silicon wafer supplies, the Company entered into a number of multi-year supply agreements from 2006 through 2008 in amounts that were expected to meet our anticipated production needs. As a condition to our receiving the raw materials under those agreements, and in line with industry practice, we were required to, and have made advances to suppliers for all, or a portion, of the total contract price to our suppliers, which are then offset against future purchases. As of December 31, 2008, the Group has completed re-negotiating certain of our supplier arrangements and is obligated to make an additional RMB 1,479,190 of advances to certain suppliers over the next twelve months. Out of this total, RMB 176,742 was paid in January 2009. The Group has completed re-negotiating certain of our supplier arrangements and is currently in the process of re-negotiating the remaining prepayment obligations with our suppliers.

Set out below are our fixed obligations under these multi-year contracts including "take or pay" arrangements.

Obligations under Multi-year Supply Agreements, including "Take or Pay" Supply Agreements

The Company's multi-year supply agreements with some suppliers are structured as fixed price and quantity "take or pay" arrangements which allow the supplier to invoice the Company for the full stated purchase price of polysilicon or

silicon wafers the Company is obligated to purchase each year, whether or not the Company actually purchases the contractual volume. In addition to the "take or pay" supply agreements, the Company has also entered into other multi-year supply agreements to purchase fixed volumes of polysilicon or silicon wafers from certain suppliers. Under these agreements, the purchase price is to be periodically adjusted based on relevant energy price index. Purchases made under these agreements amounted to nil, RMB 358,482and RMB 1,025,894 for the year ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008 respectively. Our future obligations under multi-year supply agreements, including "take or pay" supply agreements are as follows:

JA SOLAR HOLDINGS CO., LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

	"Take or pay" supply agreements	Other Multi-year supply agreements*	Total
Twelve Months Ending December 31	(in RMB)	(in RMB)	(in RMB)
2009	6,191,780	18,352	6,210,132
2010	13,504,766	-	13,504,766
2011	12,790,049	18,352	12,808,401
2012	10,642,572	36,704	10,679,276
2013	9,518,317	36,704	9,555,021
Thereafter	14,814,776	146,817	14,961,593
Total	67,462,260	256,929	67,719,189

^{*} include only purchase commitments with fixed or minimum price provisions. In addition, the Company has also entered into other supply agreements with variable price provisions, under which the purchase price is based on market prices with price adjustment terms.

Outstanding supplier advances related to the above "take or pay" arrangements amounted to nil and RMB 946,001 as of December 31, 2007 and 2008, respectively.

Impact of amendments subsequent to December 31, 2008

Subsequent to December 31, 2008, the Group has amended various multi-year supply agreements, including "take or pay" contracts, for deliveries from 2009 to 2016, with the following suppliers: Jiangsu Zhongneng Polysilicon Technology Development Co., Ltd., M. Setek Co., Ltd., Zhejiang Yuhui Solar Energy Source Co., Ltd., Jiangsu Shunda Semiconductor Developing Co., Ltd., and Solar Silicon Valley Electronic Science and Technology Co., Ltd. The amendments reduce the Company's fixed obligations substantially by revising the contractual price, from fixed to market based variable price on a majority of the contracts, and in certain instances also the contractual quantity and delivery schedule and prepayment deduction schedule to more favorable terms. However, majority of quantities that the Company is required to purchase under the amended multi-year supply agreements, including "take or pay" supply agreements, remain substantially the same.

If we fail to meet our obligations, including purchase quantity commitments, under the amended agreements and are unable to further renegotiate the terms of our multi-year supply agreements, we may be forced to forfeit certain prepayment amounts and be subject to claims or other disputes which could materially and adversely affect our results of operations, and financial position.

JA SOLAR HOLDINGS CO., LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

c)Operating lease commitments

For the periods covered by these consolidated financial statements, the Group leased certain assets, including offices, dormitory and production facilities, from the Jinglong Group, under a non-cancelable operating lease expiring in June 30, 2006, with an option to renew. During the same time, the Group also leased a piece of land under a non-cancelable operating lease from a third party expiring on May 31, 2019.

On July 1, 2006, the Group renewed its operating lease with the Jinglong Group. The renewed operating lease with the Jinglong Group covers the previously leased assets from the Jinglong Group, as well as the land initially leased from the third party, the rights of which was subsequently acquired by the Jinglong Group. The new non-cancelable operating lease with the Jinglong Group expires in June 2010 with an annual rental of RMB 1,800, which approximates market rents. The Group executed a lease termination agreement for the land with the third party on June 30, 2006. The Group also holds an operating lease with the Jinglong Group for an automobile. This non-cancelable operating lease expired in December 2007 and was renewed until December 2010.

In June 2007, the Group entered into another operating lease with the Jinglong Group to expand its facilities to host new manuafacturing lines installed. The new non-canceelable operating lease with the Jinglong Group expires in December 2011 with an annual rental of RMB 1,200, which approximates market rents.

In July 2008, the Group entered into its operating lease with the Jinglong Group. The renewed operating lease with the Jinglong Group replaced the two aforementioned operating leases an has an annual rental of RMB 12,000. This non-cancelable operating lease expires in June 2012.

In November 2008, the Group entered into another operating lease with the Jinglong Group. The new non-cancelable operating lease with the Jinglong Group expires in December 2012 with an annual rental of RMB 3,780.

In December 2008, the Group entered into an operating lease with a related party. The new non-cancelable operating lease with the related party expires in December 2012 with an annual rental of RMB 840.

Future minimum obligations for operating leases are as follows:

	(in RMB)
2009	17,112
2010	16,982
2011	16,620
2012	10,620
2013	-
Thereafter	-
Total	61,334

Rent expense under all operating leases was RMB 1,553, RMB 2,893, and RMB 9,865, for the year ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively.

d) Capital expenditure As of December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008, the Group had contracted for capital expenditure on machinery and equipment of RMB 82,698, RMB 423,240, and RMB 233,250 respectively.

JA SOLAR HOLDINGS CO., LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

24. Fair value measurements

Effective January 1, 2008, we adopted the provisions of FAS No. 157 "Fair Value Measurements," or FAS No. 157, which defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Relative to FAS 157, the FASB issued FASB Staff Positions (FSP) 157-1 and 157-2. FSP 157-1 amends FAS 157 to exclude FAS No. 13, "Accounting for Leases," and its related interpretive accounting pronouncements that address leasing transactions, while FSP 157-2 delays the effective date of the application of FAS 157 to fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2008 for all nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on a nonrecurring basis. Our adoption of SFAS No. 157 was limited to our financial assets and financial liabilities, as permitted by FSP 157-2. We do not have any nonfinancial assets or nonfinancial liabilities that we recognize or disclose at fair value in our financial statements on a recurring basis. The implementation of the fair value measurement guidance of SFAS No. 157 did not result in any material changes to the carrying values of our financial instruments on our opening balance sheet on January 1, 2008.

In October 2008, the FASB issued FSP 157-3 "Determining Fair Value of a Financial Asset in a Market That Is Not Active" (FSP 157-3). FSP 157-3 clarified the application of FAS No. 157 in an inactive market. It demonstrated how the fair value of a financial asset is determined when the market for that financial asset is inactive. FSP 157-3 was effective upon issuance, including prior periods for which financial statements had not been issued. The implementation of this standard did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial position and results of operations.

FAS No. 157 establishes a hierarchy for inputs used in measuring fair value that maximizes the use of observable inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs by requiring that the observable inputs be used when available. Observable inputs are inputs that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability developed based on market data obtained from sources independent of us. Unobservable inputs are inputs that reflect our assumptions about the assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability developed based on the best information available in the circumstances. As such, fair value is a market-based measure considered from the perspective of a market participant who holds the asset or owes the liability rather than an entity-specific measure. The hierarchy is broken down into three levels based on the reliability of inputs as follows:

- Level 1—Valuations based on quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that we have the ability to access.
- Level 2— Valuations based on quoted prices in markets that are not active or for which all significant inputs are observable, directly or indirectly.
- Level 3—Valuations based on inputs that are unobservable and significant to the overall fair value measurement.

When available, we use quoted market prices to determine the fair value of an asset or liability. If quoted market prices are not available, we will measure fair value using valuation techniques that use, when possible, current market-based or independently sourced market parameters, such as interest rates and currency rates. Following is a description of the valuation techniques that we use to measure the fair value of assets and liabilities that we measure and report on our balance sheet at fair value on a recurring basis.

Cash Equivalents. As of December 31, 2008, our cash equivalents consisted of call deposits and money market funds. We value our cash equivalents using observable inputs that reflect quoted prices for securities with identical characteristics, and accordingly, we classify the valuation techniques that use these inputs as Level 1.

Short Term Investments. As of December 31, 2008, our trading and available-for-sale securities consisted of a currency fund, HARP index investment and commodity related investment. We value our available-for-sale securities using quoted prices for securities with similar characteristics and other observable inputs (such as interest

JA SOLAR HOLDINGS CO., LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

rates that are observable at commonly quoted intervals), and accordingly, we classify the valuation techniques that use these inputs as Level 2. We also consider the effect of our counterparties' credit standings in these fair value measurements.

Derivative assets and liabilities. Our derivative assets and liabilities consist of embedded foreign currency derivatives in our sales and purchase contracts denominated in currencies other than Renminbi or the functional currency of the counterparty, the capped call transactions denominated in USD and embedded derivatives underlying convertible notes. Since our capped call transactions and embedded derivatives underlying convertible notes are not traded on an exchange, they are valued using valuation models. Management is responsible for determining these fair values and considered a number of factors including valuations. The capped call transactions are valued using the Black Scholes Option Pricing Model. The embedded derivatives underlying convertible notes are bifurcated using the "with or without" approach. As there are interrelationships among the embedded derivatives, they are valued using a Monte Carlo stimulation. Interest rate yield curves, foreign exchange rates, stock price, volatility, expected term, risk-free rate and fundamental change event probabilities are the significant inputs into these valuation models. The inputs used in the valuation of the capped call transactions are observable in active markets over the terms of the instruments we hold, and accordingly, we classify these valuation techniques as Level 2 in the hierarchy. In regards to the embedded derivatives underlying convertible notes, fair value was determined using a "with and without" approach which was based on both Level 2 and Level 3 inputs. We determined that the Level 3 input, that is the fundamental change event probabilities, is significant to the overall fair value measurement. We consider the effect of our own credit standing and that of our counterparties in our valuations of our derivative financial instruments.

Recurring change in fair value

As of December 31, 2008, information about inputs into the fair value measurements of our assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis in periods subsequent to their initial recognition is as follows

	Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using			
		Quoted		
		Prices in		
		Active	Significant	
		Markets for	Other	Significant
	Balance as of	Identical	Observable	Unobservable
	31 December	Assets	Inputs	Inputs
Description	2008	(Level 1)	(Level 2)	(Level 3)
Assets:				
Cash equivalents	71,823	71,823	-	-
Capped call options	4,485	-	4,485	-
Short term investments	421,865	-	421,865	-
Liabilities:				
Embedded derivatives				
underlying convertible notes	(115,676)	-	-	(115,676)

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3 valuation)

A summary of changes in Level 3 embedded derivatives underlying convertible notes for the year ended December 31, 2008 was as follows:

JA SOLAR HOLDINGS CO., LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

At issuance of convertible notes	929,539
Realized gains included in Change in fair value of derivatives	(785,608)
Embedded derivatives underlying convertible notes repurchased	(28,255)
Balance at December 31, 2008	115,676

Change in fair value of derivatives

The Change in fair value of derivatives recognized in earnings was as follows:

	For the	For the	For the
	year ended	year ended	year ended
	December	December	December
	31, 2006	31, 2007	31, 2008
Embedded derivatives underlying convertible notes	-	-	785,608
Capped call options (see note 13)	-	-	(221,602)
	-	-	564,006

25. Segment information

The Group operates in a single business segment that includes the design, development, and manufacture of PV products. The following table summarizes the Group's net revenues generated from geographic locations:

	Y	Year Ended December 31,	
	2006	2007	2008
	RMB	RMB	RMB
China	685,338	2,310,472	4,162,037
Outside China			
Spain	1,457	154,812	613,483
Rest of World	9,663	228,416	682,790
Total outside China	11,120	383,228	1,296,273
Total net revenue	696,458	2,693,700	5,458,310

Substantially all the companies long-lived assets other than financial instruments are located in the PRC.

26. Certain risks and uncertainties

a) Major customers

Details of the customers accounting for 10% or more of total revenues were as follows:

	Year ended	Year ended	Year ended
	December	December	December
Major customers	31, 2006	31, 2007	31, 2008
Customer A (third party)	6.8%	18.9%	-
Customer B (former related party)*	19.6%	11.0%	9.2%
Customer C (former related party)*	13.5%	-	-
Customer D (third party)	0.6%	10.9%	13.4%
Customer E (third party)	7.1%	11.2%	9.0%

^{*}Since August 16, 2006, Customer B and C ceased to be related parties of the Group.

Accounts receivable from the 3 customers with the largest receivable balances represents 96% and 68% of the balance of accounts receivable at December 31, 2007 and 2008, respectively. The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers' financial condition whenever deemed necessary and generally does not require collateral. The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts based upon the expected collectability of all accounts receivable, which takes into consideration an analysis of historical bad debts, specific customer creditworthiness and current economic trends.

b) Concentrations of credit risk

JA SOLAR HOLDINGS CO., LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Group to significant concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalent, accounts receivables and advances to suppliers.

The Group places its cash and cash equivalents with high quality financial institutions in the PRC, US, Hong Kong and Singapore and limits the amount of credit risk from any one issuer.

c) Foreign currency risk

The RMB is not a freely convertible currency. The PRC State Administration for Foreign Exchange, under the authority of the People's Bank of China, controls the conversion of RMB into foreign currencies. The value of the RMB is subject to changes in central government policies and to international economic and political developments affecting supply and demand in the PRC foreign exchange trading system market.

27. Ordinary shares

The holders of ordinary shares in the Company are entitled to one vote per share and to receive ratably such dividends, if any, as may be declared by the board of directors of the Company. In the event of liquidation, the holders of ordinary shares are entitled to share ratably in all assets remaining after payment of liabilities. The ordinary shares have no preemptive, conversion, or other subscription rights.

28. Subsequent events

Other that the transactions occurring in 2009 already described above, the following events have taken place in 2009:

a) Advances to suppliers

In January 2009, pursuant to existing wafer supply agreements, the Company made an additional advance to Jiangsu Zhongneng Silicon Technology Development Co., Ltd, a subsidiary of GCL Silicon Technology Holdings Ltd of RMB 176,742 which will be offset against future wafer purchases.

b) New Sales Contract

In February 2009, the Group signed a sales agreement with BP Solar International, Inc., pursuant to the broader strategic cooperation agreement signed with BP Alternative Energy Holdings Limited. Under this new agreement, the Group will supply monocrystalline and multicrystalline solar cells in 2009, with an initial volume of 175 MW and with the potential to expand to 360 MW. The Group is already delivering product under its existing sales agreement with BP.

c) Stock Options

During January to June 15, 2009, the Comapny granted 1,013,000 ordinary share options to certain of its new employees. The exercise prices of these options varies from \$1.99 to \$4.53 per option, which are determined using the closing price of the Company's American Depositary Shares listed on the NASDAQ at the respective grant dates. During January to May, 2009, the 1,209,000 unvested options for employees and 20,000 unvested options for a consultant were forfeited. During January to May, 2009, there were 195,000 unvested options expired. Subsequently

on June 15, 2009, 1,710,000 share options previously granted to 3 executive officers were surrendered and cancelled. The Company will record compensation cost of RMB 53,854 in the second quarter of fiscal 2009 as a result of this cancellation.

d) Loan Borrowing and repayment

In March 2009, the Group borrowed short term loan of RMB 30,000 from a financial institution in the PRC. The borrowing has 6 months terms and was carried at annual interest rate of 4.37%.

In June 2009, the Group borrowed long term loan of RMB 200,000 from a financial institution in the PRC. The borrowing has 24 months terms and was carried at annual interest rate of 5.4%. In June 2009, the Group borrowed long term loan of RMB 100,000 from a financial institution in the PRC. The borrowing has 36 months terms and was carried at annual interest rate of 5.4%. These long-term bank borrowings are guaranteed by Jinglong Group, who is the Group's principal silicon wager supplier and its shareholders are the majority shareholders of the Group.

In June 2009, the Group repaid short term loan of RMB 390,000 to various financial institution in the PRC.

e) Senior Notes buyback

In 2009, the Group further repurchased \$24.95 million aggregate principal amount of the Senior Notes for a total consideration of approximately \$15.0 million in open market repurchases.

JA SOLAR HOLDINGS CO., LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

29 Restricted net assets

Relevant PRC laws and regulations permit PRC companies to pay dividends only out of their retained earnings, if any, as determined in accordance with PRC accounting standards and regulations. Additionally, the Company's VIE subsidiaries can only distribute dividends upon approval of the shareholders after they have met the PRC requirements for appropriation to statutory reserve. The statutory general reserve fund requires annual appropriations of 10% of net after-tax income should be set aside prior to payment of any dividends. As a result of these and other restrictions under PRC laws and regulations, the PRC subsidiaries and affiliates are restricted in their ability to transfer a portion of their net assets to the Company either in the form of dividends, loans or advances, which restricted portion amounted to approximately RMB 2,444,825 or 51.42% of the Company total consolidated net assets as of December 31, 2008. Even though the Company currently does not require any such dividends, loans or advances from the PRC subsidiaries and affiliates for working capital and other funding purposes, the Company may in the future require additional cash resources from our PRC subsidiaries and affiliates due to changes in business conditions, to fund future acquisitions and developments, or merely declare and pay dividends to or distributions to the Company shareholders.

30. Additional information—condensed financial statements of the Company

The separate condensed financial statements of JA Solar Holdings Co., Ltd. as presented below have been prepared in accordance with Securities and Exchange Commission Regulation S-X Rule 5-04 and Rule 12-04 and present the Company's investments in its subsidiaries under the equity method of accounting as prescribed in APB No. 18. Such investment is presented on the separate condensed balance sheets of the Company as "Investments in subsidiaries." The condensed financial information of JA Solar Holdings Co., Ltd. has been presented for the period from July 6, 2006 (the date of incorporation) to December 31, 2008.

The subsidiaries did not pay dividend to the Company for the period presented.

Except as disclosed in the consolidated financial statements as presented above, the Company did not have any significant contingency, commitment, long term obligation, or gurantee as of December 31, 2008.

	For the period from inception (July 6, 2006) to December 31, 2006 RMB	For the year ended December 31, 2007 RMB	For the year ended December 31, 2008 RMB
Net revenues	-	-	-
Total operating expenses	(2,377)	(30,929)	(35,315)
Loss from operations	(2,377)	(30,929)	(35,315)
Interest expense	-	-	(162,090)

-	52,972	31,510
-	-	564,006
104,790	510,976	767,682
-	-	203,514
2,113	(132,651)	(203,921)
-	-	(686,320)
104,526	400,368	479,066
-	-	-
104 526	400 368	479,066
*	,	- 77,000
(1,003)	(313)	_
	2,113	104,790 510,976 2,113 (132,651) - 104,526 400,368 - 104,526 400,368

JA SOLAR HOLDINGS CO., LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

Preferred shares beneficial conversion charge	(34,732)	-	-
Allocation of net income to participating preferred shareholders	(5,683)	(1,648)	-
Net income available to ordinary shareholders	62,508	398,205	479,066

JA SOLAR HOLDINGS CO., LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

	December 31, 2007 RMB	December 31, 2008 RMB
ASSETS		
Current assets:		
Cash and cash equivalents	357,126	112,949
Restricted cash	409,058	-
Short term investments	803,121	353,588
Other receivable from subsidiaries	292,742	273,942
Other current assets	233	1,457
Total current assets	1,862,280	741,936
Investments in subsidiaries	904,820	2,459,800
Derivative asset-capped call options	-	4,485
Deferred issuance cost	-	58,953
Amount due from subsidiaries	1,502,191	3,172,279
Total assets	4,269,291	6,437,453
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY		
Current liabilities:		
Other Payables to subsidiaries and employees	118,683	6,590
Accrued and other liabilities	14,111	14,230
Interest payable	-	13,458
Total current liabilities	132,794	34,278
Convertible notes	-	1,532,600
Embedded derivatives	-	115,676
Total liabilities	132,794	1,682,554
Commitments and contingencies	-	-
Shareholders' equity:		
Ordinary shares (US\$0.0001 par value; 493,480,000		
shares authorized, 154,058,500 and 167,982,020 shares		
issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2007 and		
December 31, 2008)	123	133
Additional paid-in capital	3,655,194	3,787,262
Retained earnings	488,821	967,887
Accumulated other comprehensive income	(7,641)	(383)
Total shareholders' equity	4,136,497	4,754,899
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity	4,269,291	6,437,453
F-44		

JA SOLAR HOLDINGS CO., LTD.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

	For the year ended December 31, 2006 RMB	For the year ended December 31, 2007 RMB	For the year ended December 31, 2008 RMB
Cash flows from operating activities:			
Net income	104,526	400,368	479,066
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash used in operating activities:			
Share based compensation expense	-	5,956	8,301
Share of income from subsidiaries	(104,790)	(510,976)	(767,682)
Amortization of deferred issuance cost and increase in accretion of			
convertible notes	-	-	88,389
Change in the value of embedded derivatives & capped call option	-	-	(564,006)
Exchange (gain)/ loss	(2,113)	90,672	25,889
Gain from senior convertible notes buyback	-	-	(203,514)
Impairment on available-for-sale securities	-	-	686,320
Investment loss from available-for-sale security	-	-	39,893
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:			
Acquisition of trading securities	-	-	(353,588)
Increase in receivables from subsidiaries	-	(292,742)	18,800
Increase in other current assets	-	(233)	(1,224)
Increase in payables to subsidiaries and employees	34	4,975	(112,093)
Increase in accrued and other liabilities	2,343	2,852	120
Increase in interest payable	-	-	13,458
Net cash used in operating activities	-	(299,128)	(641,871)
Cash flows from investing activities:			
Loans granted to subsidiaries -	(1.	,502,191)	(1,670,089)
Capital injection to subsidiaries -		-	(682,790)
Acquisition of short term investments	- ((810,762)	(1,060,836)
Proceeds from sale of short term investments	_	-	1,145,385
(Increase)/decrease in restricted cash	- ((409,058)	409,058
Net cash used in investing activities	- (2	,722,011)	(1,859,272)
Cash flows from financing activities:			
Proceeds from public offerings of shares	- 3	,341,002	-
Net proceeds from convertible notes offerings	-	-	2,709,538
Payment of capped call up-front premiums	-	-	(226,087)
Repurchase of senior convertible notes	-	-	(182,019)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options	-	128,583	18,876

Net cash provided by financing activities	-	3,469,585	2,320,308
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents	-	(91,320)	(63,342)
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents	-	357,126	(244,177)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period	-	-	357,126
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period	-	357,126	112,949